# THREE ESSAYS ON THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF LIVESTOCK SECTOR IN TURKEY

A Dissertation Presented

by

HASAN TEKGÜÇ

Submitted to the Graduate School of the University of Massachusetts Amherst in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

May 2010

Department of Economics



www.manaraa.com

UMI Number: 3409852

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3409852 Copyright 2010 by ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This edition of the work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346



© Copyright by Hasan Tekgüç 2010

All Rights Reserved



# TITLE OF THESIS OR DISSERTATION: THREE ESSAYS ON THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF LIVESTOCK SECTOR IN TURKEY

A Dissertation Presented

by

HASAN TEKGÜÇ

Approved as to style and content by:

James K. Boyce, Chair

Mwangi wa Gĩthĩnji, Member

Bernard J. Morzuch, Outside Member

Gerald Epstein, Department Head

Department of Economics



www.manaraa.com

# **DEDICATION**

To my loving parents, brother and all other relatives and friends for their unwavering support and patience



#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I used to look down on beggars. Partly, I thought they were lazy and partly, I was irritated by their poverty. I definitely did not understand what it means to be down on your luck. In the process of my research, On the one hand, I hope I gained a better understanding of causes of poverty. On the other hand, I surely learnt nothing about being down on your luck. On the contrary, in this moment of reflection I realize that I am a truly lucky person. I never really wanted to be anything but a scholar, and I am among the very few who are lucky enough to pursue their dream. I am blessed with a caring and loving family that has supported me in whatever pursuit I choose to. I was never hampered by any kind of financial, health or familial obligations in pursuing my dream.

I am also very lucky that back in the day some radicals put effort and time to create and sustain the UMass Amherst Economics Department. I don't think I would even have passed comprehensive exams in most other economics departments. I will forever be grateful to Burak Bener for helping me to find about and apply to UMass. Until then, I didn't even know that there were alternatives to what we were taught in the undergraduate. Once at UMass, I immediately feel at home – not the family home in Cyprus but the comradeship of fellow graduate students. The comradeship and the support system within Egso are peerless in the academia.

I really enjoyed most of my classes. I sure did my share of complaining but more like Napoleon's grumbling soldiers; I never really have any serious second thoughts about why I was here. In my second semester, I took the development economics class with Jim Boyce and I immediately knew my area of specialization and advisor. I always have a special interest in developments issues in general and agricultural and



www.manaraa.com

environment in particular; but from Jim I learn how to approach all the problems that bother us in a systematic way. Also, Jim has allowed me to pursue the topics I am most interested. From time-to-time, I did second guess the wisdom of letting graduate students to wander freely instead of giving them a clearly defined research project. At the end though, I am pleased with the result.

I am also very grateful that I met Bernie Morzuch at UMass. I surely benefited from his classes and advising but the most I cherish is his contagious enthusiasm for empirical research. I guess I always liked to look at tables and figures but his enthusiasm has encouraged me to delve into econometric research. Naturally, I am also very grateful to Mwangi wa Gĩthĩnji for his direction and counsel. He looked the other way when I used his research assistantship to write the first draft of my prospectus. My general attitude to agrarian questions is also shaped by his class on the political economy of agrarian change.

Sung-Ha Hwang and Değer Eryar have read and commented on the first drafts of Chapters 2 and 3. Moreover, they have acted as my informal advisors. Gül Ünal and Bengi Akbulut also commented on an early draft of Chapter 2. Emir Benli read and edited various sections at various stages. I am also very grateful to Dr. Cuma Akbay who has helped me to understand and then replicate their work on estimation of LA/AIDS model for Turkey. Finally, I want to thank Turkish Statistical Institute which allowed me to use 2003 Household Budget Survey and especially Özlem Sarıca who has patiently answered my questions about preparation of Household Budget Survey and calculation of the poverty line for Turkey.



vi

### THREE ESSAYS ON THE POLITICAL ECONOMY OF LIVESTOCK SECTOR IN TURKEY

#### MAY, 2010

HASAN TEKGÜÇ, B.A., BOGAZICI UNIVERSITY M.A., UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST Ph.D., UNIVERSITY OF MASSACHUSETTS AMHERST Directed by: Professor James K. Boyce

#### ABSTRACT

My dissertation consists of three empirical essays where I analyze animal products consumption and marketing. First using cross-sectional household data, I investigate the importance of consumption from home produce (self-provisioning) and conclude that studying food consumption decisions in isolation from production is not warranted for Turkey. I develop a testing procedure incorporated into linear approximation of the almost ideal demand system (LA/AIDS) model to formally test the relevance of food self-provisioning. Studying consumption in isolation from production leads significant overestimation of rural households' responsiveness to price and income signals especially for the dairy and egg products. Second I investigate the contribution of consumption from home produce to alleviate vulnerability to undernutrition in rural areas. I find that the level, depth and severity of food poverty to be least among rural households who engage in food self-provisioning and food self-provisioning reduce vulnerability to undernutrition. Moreover, food self-provisioning is concentrated in expensive calories from vegetables and dairy so self-provisioning rural households also have a more balanced diet. Finally I investigate whether milk processing firms abuse their oligopsony



vii

power to excessively profit themselves to the expense of milk farmers and final consumers. I look for evidence whether the speed of adjustment of processed milk price is same when farm-gate milk prices increase and decrease. I find no evidence that will point out any price gauging on the part of milk processors to benefit themselves. Actually I detect a long-term downward trend in processed milk prices coinciding with new major entries to milk processing industry.



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS		
ABSTRACTvii		
LIST OF TABLES		
LIST OF FIGURES		
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS		
CHAPTER		
1. INTRODUCTION		
2. TESTING SEPARATION OF CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION DECISIONS		
OF FOOD9		
2.1 Introduction		
2.2.1 Agricultural Household Models122.2.2 Test of Separability15		
2.3 Empirical Model		
2.3.1 Linearly Approximated Almost Ideal Demand System		
(LA/AIDS)		
2.3.2 Estimating a complete demand system with censored variable		
problems19		
2.4 Self-provisioning222.5 Empirical Results25		
2.5.1 Estimation of the Model.252.5.2 Testing Separability28		
2.6 Economic and Policy Significance		
2.6.1 Estimation in the Presence of Nonseparability		

# TABLE OF CONTENTS



2.6.2 Production Variables	33
2.6.3 Elasticity estimates	
2.7 Concluding Remarks	
3. THE IMPLICATIONS OF FOOD SELF-PROVISIONING FOR POVERTY	
MEASUREMENT IN TURKEY	42
3.1 Introduction, Motivation and Hypothesis Formulation	42
3.1.1 Background	43
3.1.2 Motivation and Hypothesis Formulation	43
3.1.3 Extension: Vulnerability to Poverty	45
3.2 Poverty Measures	48
3.2.1 Constructing the Basic Needs Poverty Line	50
3.2.2 Consumption Poverty in Turkey. 2003	
3.2.3 Non-welfare Food Poverty in Turkey, 2003	
3.2.4 Discussion of Results	61
3.3 Vulnerability to Poverty	63
3.3.1 Empirical Model	64
3.3.2 Data	
3.3.3 Vulnerability according to Basic Needs Approach	73
3.3.4 Vulnerability according to the non-welfare method	74
3.3.5 Discussion of Results	76
3.4 Concluding Remarks	77
4. OLIGOPOLY AND PRICE TRANSMISSION IN TURKEY'S FLUID MILK	
MARKET	81
4.1 Introduction	81
4.2 Dairy Sector in Turkey	
4.3 Asymmetric Price Transmission	91
4.3.1 Different Ways of Classifying APT	92
4.3.2 Modeling Asymmetric Price Transmission	94



4.4 Data		
4.4.1 Exploring the Data Set		
4.5 Cointegration Analysis		
4.5.1 Johansen Trace Test and Saikkonen-Lütkepohl Test 105		
4.5.2 Threshold Autoregressive and Moment Threshold		
Autoregressive Tests107		
4.6 Incorporating Error Correction Model to Asymmetric Price		
Transmission Tests113		
4.7 Concluding Remarks		
5. CONCLUSION		
APPENDICES		
1. CHAPTER 2 APPENDIX		
2. CHAPTER 3 APPENDIX		
3. CHAPTER 4 APPENDIX		
BIBLIOGRAPHY		



# LIST OF TABLES

Tab	le 2.1: Ratio of calorie intake and food liras of household food consumption	Page 23
	2.2: Percentage of non-zero purchases, mean food expenditure shares and monthly spending by food group	24
	2.3: Self-provisioning budget share, mean food expenditure shares and monthly spending by food group	25
	2.4: Comparison of our model to Akbay et al., (2008) without including the self-provisioning instrument	27
	2.5: Expenditure and own price elasticities for Rural and Urban Areas estimated including the self-provisioning instrument.	28
	2.6: Wald test whether all of the self-provisioning variables are jointly equal to zero	30
	2.7: OLS regressions for Share of Dairy and Egg Food Group in the Food Basket	36
	2.8: Comparison of elasticities calculated when production side variables excluded and included	38
	3.1: Representative food basket satisfying 2,100 calories per day	55
	3.2: Overall Basic Needs Poverty	56
	3.3: Non-welfare food poverty	61
	3.4: Probit estimates of being poor and OLS estimations of determinants of expenditure per capita and food consumption per capita	71
	3.5: Vulnerability to Income Poverty in Turkey, 2003	74
	3.6: Vulnerability to Non-welfare Food Poverty in Turkey, 2003	76
	4.1: Comparison of retail and farm-gate prices and ratios in England and Turkey	87
	4.2: Source of fluid milk consumed 1994 and 2003	90
	4.3: Formal sector capacity, production and utilization	90



4.4: Unit root tests for UHT and farm-gate milk prices and labor productivity index
4.5: Cointegration tests for farm-gate, UHT milk prices and labor productivity index
4.6: Results of TAR and M-TAR for inflation indexed UHT milk price112
4.7: Results of TAR and M-TAR for inflation indexed farm-gate milk price113
4.8: Long-term relationship for inflation-adjusted UHT milk price115
4.9: Error correction models with alternative specifications for UHT117
A1.1: Summary Statistics for variables used in LA/AIDS model132
A1.2: Summary Statistics for the Production Variables
A1.3: Likelihood Ratio Tests for Separability Test
A1.4: Estimated demand parameters of LA/AIDS model including self- provisioning variable
A1.5: Food Expenditure and uncompensated price elasticities for the demand system estimated including the self provisioning variable
A2.1: Monthly cost of the Hacettepe Basket for four-person family
A2.2: Food Poverty according to welfare method (Table 3.1 food bundle)140
A2.3: Vulnerability to undernutrition according to welfare method
A3.1: Annual inflation rates for selected years and indices141
A3.2: Log-nominal farm-gate and UHT milk price and log-nominal labor productivity index (Table 4.4)
A3.3: Cointegration tests for farm-gate, UHT milk prices and labor productivity index (Table 4.5)
A3.4: Results of TAR and M-TAR for log-nominal UHT milk price (Table 4.6)



# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure Page 2.1: Causal ordering in the separable household model	3
3.1: Poverty incidence curves for rural households	7
4.1: Different forms of positive APT, reproduced from Meyer and Von Cramon-Taubel (2004)	3
4.2: Farm-gate and UHT (wholesale) nominal milk prices, TL	3
4.3: Logarithm of farm-gate and UHT (wholesale) nominal milk prices	3
4.4: Inflation-adjusted farm-gate and UHT (wholesale) milk prices, YTL*	)
4.5: Indices of inflation-adjusted farm-gate, UHT prices and productivity index	)
4.6: Inflation-adjusted UHT milk price with shift dummy, break (1997.M10), 3 lags	3
4.7: Farm-gate real price with shift dummy, break (2000.M12), 1 lag104	1
4.8: Labor productivity index with shift dummy, break (1997.M10), 22 lags104	1
A3.1: Log-nominal UHT milk price with shift dummy, break (1997.M10), 1 lag 142	
A3.2: Log-nominal Farm-gate milk price with shift dummy, break (1994.M11), 0 lag142	2
A3.3: Log-nominal Productivity Index with shift dummy (1997.M3), 10 lags142	2



# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AHM	Agricultural Household Models
ADF	Augmented Dickey-Fuller test
AIDS	Almost Ideal Demand System
ARIP	Agricultural Reform Implementation Project
APT	Asymmetric Price Transmission
ARCH	Autoregressive Conditional Heteroscedasticity
CAP	Common Agricultural Policy
CBCA	Cattle Breeders Central Association
ECM	Error Correction Model
ECT	Error Correction Term
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations
FGLS	Feasible Generalized Least Squares
FPE	Final Prediction Error
HBS	Household Budget Survey
IR	Inverse size-yield relationship
IV	Instrumental Variable
KPSS	Kwiatkowski, Phillips, Schmidt, & Shin test
LA/AIDS	Linearly approximated Almost Ideal Demand System
MARA	Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs, Turkey
ML	Maximum Likelihood
M-TAR	Moment Threshold Autoregressive
OLS	Ordinary Least Squares
PDF	Probability Density Function
SEK	the publicly owned dairy company in Turkey
SIS	Turkish Statistical Institute
SUR	Seemingly Unrelated Regression
TAR	Threshold Autoregressive
TL	Turkish Lira
TZOB	Union of Turkish Chambers of Agriculture
UHT	Ultra High Temperature milk
VAR	Vector Autoregressive
WB	The World Bank



#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The recent literature on the animal husbandry sector in Turkey is motivated largely by the potential of EU accession. The general liberalization of international trade – symbolized by World Trade Organization and the latest Doha Round of negotiations that focus on agricultural products – provides an additional impetus to inquire into the likely effects of further integration of agricultural markets in Turkey into world markets.

Valuable and insightful works have been undertaken in recent years that address different aspects of the issue Eruygur & Çakmak (2008), Grethe (2007), and Çakmak (2004) try to answer the question, what will happen at the macro level as a result of liberalization of trade? by simulating the impact of market integration on agricultural prices, trade and redistribution between producers and consumers. These studies reveal that Turkey is already competitive in fruit and vegetable exports, sectors that are relatively open and already well-integrated into European markets. However, cereals production and livestock sector are not competitive at current EU and world prices. In a simulation study of market integration between Turkey and EU as of 2006, Grethe (2007) predicts that agricultural prices (especially grain and animal products) in Turkey will decline, and that as a result of lower prices, agricultural production will decline and consumption will increase. Producer surplus will decline roughly by  $\notin$ 1 billion per annum and consumer surplus will increase by  $\notin$ 1.5 billion per annum (Grethe, 2007: 451).

If market integration is a result of EU accession, and not merely an extension of current customs union, the producers in Turkey will be more than compensated by direct



transfer payments from the EU Common Agricultural Policy (CAP) budget. In a more recent study assuming integration by 2015, Eruygur & Çakmak (2008) predict an eight percent increase in consumer surplus if EU and Turkish markets are fully integrated by 2015 compared to non-integration, and a 13 percent decline in producer surplus (almost two-thirds of this decline due to losses from the livestock sector). Nevertheless, in absolute terms the gains in consumer surplus are more than the losses in producer surplus. Moreover, if the integration of markets results from EU membership with the accompanying CAP payments going to farmers, producers will be compensated for the losses. Furthermore, Grethe (2007) claims that if the margins between farm-gate and wholesale prices within Turkey are reduced by 10 percent due to increased efficiency in the marketing chain, the resultant dynamic welfare gains will be more than the static gains from market integration.

Çakmak, Dudu, & Ocal (2008) approach the issue from a microeconomic perspective and try to devise policy proposals on what should happen in rural Turkey to increase the effectiveness of agricultural production in order to compete in EU and world markets? Unlike the above-mentioned studies, they employ household level data<sup>1</sup> to answer this question. Applying the technical input-output efficiency approach to resource utilization, they utilize various versions of stochastic frontier production functions to find out whether the agricultural factors of production are used effectively. They calculate that the effectiveness of Turkish agriculture in utilizing the productive factors was between 33 and 45 percent during 2002 – 2004. They also find that land has the highest marginal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Quantitative Household Survey (QHS, 2002) is jointly administered by Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs (MARA) and the World Bank prior to the implementation of the Agricultural Reform Implementation Program (ARIP) which has been in effect since 2001.



contribution of all factors, and that the marginal contribution of labor is statistically insignificant at the margin. These findings are not surprising for a developing country with abundant labor and relatively scarce land resources. Since all potential arable land is already under cultivation in Turkey, they propose to increase the utilization of inputs that augment land productivity. They also argue that Turkish agriculture should shed labor in order to increase labor effectiveness in agricultural production. These twin goals can be achieved by modernizing and rationalizing production units (i.e., consolidation and land concentration). They conclude by arguing that the most important task for policymakers in Turkey is to implement productivity-increasing policies that will move Turkish agriculture closer to its technical potential, despite the fact that current economic units within the agricultural sector are likely to oppose such policies (Çakmak et al., 2008: executive summary).

Ünal (2008) works with the same data set as Çakmak et al., (2008) and within the same household microeconomic framework. Unlike Çakmak et al., (2008), she tries to answer the question, why households choose to devote a seemingly ineffective amount of labor into agricultural production? That is, Ünal (2008) tries to understand "overall land utilization of the available land resource and the related use of labor" (p. 7). She shows that the inverse size-yield relationship (IR) – the widely observed phenomenon in developing countries where yield per acre gets smaller as farms get larger,– holds for Turkey. Even though land heterogeneity and farmer skill (measured by educational attainment) are significant variables, the most important variable explaining land productivity is intensive labor input use.



The IR phenomenon can be viewed as a symptom of rural market imperfections. Unal argues that even though imperfections in land, labor, and credit markets are abundant in rural areas, labor takes the brunt of the adjustment to all factor market imperfections because it has the least bargaining power. In short, peasants compensate for imperfections in land and credit markets by working harder on their small plots, thereby obtaining higher yields per acre (Sen, 1981). Ünal's (2008) empirical findings parallel Çakmak et al., (2008) conclusion that the marginal contribution of labor is very low. But the policy implications she draws from this are vastly different:

Turkey faces the potential for major socioeconomic change with possible accession to the EU... Suggesting land consolidation and concentration as a solution to low productivity in agriculture seems to be an ill advised policy for Turkish agriculture... Given the inverse productivity-size relationship in agriculture, what is needed for increased productivity in agriculture and overall growth doesn't seem to be so called "market-friendly reforms," but land redistribution supported by technical and financial assistance for farmers. (p. 25)

We are sympathetic to this view. During most of the 2000s official unemployment rate was around 10 percent and the labor force participation ratio was below 50 percent despite sustained economic growth. By 2009, with the worldwide economic crisis, the unemployment rate increased to 14 percent (State Institute of Statistics (SIS), 2010). Rural households were engaging in low productivity activities not because they preferred backbreaking agricultural work over better paying non-agricultural work, but because such non-agricultural work is not available. We think that it is ill-advised to advocate rapid consolidation in agriculture under these macroeconomic conditions.

Many previous studies (an exception is Ünal (2008)) base their policy recommendations based on total social welfare. We want to contribute to this literature by bringing distributional concerns to the forefront. Even if total social welfare is expected



to increase, there are ethical, social and political reasons to be concerned if the increase in social welfare is accompanied by redistribution from poor to non-poor. These studies consider agriculture primarily as a site of production. In the second and third chapters of this dissertation, we focus instead on the consumption behavior of rural households, and use the Household Budget Survey from 2003 (SIS, 2003) to promote our arguments. In the fourth chapter, we study the milk marketing chain, taking our cue from Grethe (2005) and Grethe (2007) and use monthly farm-gate and wholesale milk price data to promote our arguments.

In chapters 2 and 3, we employ household-level data to investigate the importance of consumption from home produce ("self-provisioning" for brevity). Calories from food self-provisioning constitute 19 percent of all calories consumed by rural households in 2003. Moreover, self-provisioned calories come primarily from more expensive sources such as dairy products and green vegetables. In Chapter 2, in order to measure the influence of domestic production factors on food consumption, we employ the budget share of self-provisioned food as a proxy for productive factors. We construct an Almost Ideal Demand System (AIDS) and show that self-provisioning rural households have a statistically significantly different composition of the food basket from other households. Specifically, they consume more dairy products, more green vegetables, and more of certain cereal products (like bulgur) compared to other rural households and urban households. Our explanation is that the price differentials between the shadow prices of self-provisioned quickly perishable products and corresponding retail prices - i.e., a type of market imperfection – are such that many rural households choose to rely on their own production instead of markets.



www.manaraa.com

Eruygur & Çakmak (2008), Grethe (2007), and Çakmak (2004) all predict that prices for and production of animal products will decline in Turkey as a result of an eventual integration with the world market, and that consumers will benefit from this integration due to declining prices. On the production side, the overwhelming majority of farmers in Turkey engage in dairy production as a secondary activity to crop production. (FAO, 2007)<sup>2</sup> reports that more than one-third of dairy products are consumed by the producing households and another one-third are marketed through informal channels. The report concludes that the Turkish dairy sector needs modernization and consolidation of farms; substantially larger herd size; and shedding of part-time smallholders in order to successfully integrate to EU and world markets (p. 71). In other words, in the case of integration of Turkish and EU animal products markets, the likely losers will be smallscale farmers who engage in animal husbandry as a complementary activity to crop production.

Against this backdrop, in Chapter 3 we explore the implications of food selfprovisioning for poverty and vulnerability to poverty and undernutrition. We show that after correcting poverty line calculations for food self-provisioning, and even though poverty is more prevalent in rural areas than in urban areas, the self-provisioning rural households no longer are poorer than other rural households. Moreover, self-provisioning rural households are substantially less vulnerable to undernutrition. In the literature on animal husbandry in developing countries, it is well recognized that animals also serve as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This report is commissioned by Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs (MARA) to devise a plan in order to prepare the Turkish dairy sector, including dairy farmers and dairy processors, to EU Accession. Hence, the authors of the report primarily concern themselves with what needs to be done to reduce the discrepancy between EU and Turkish dairy sectors.



quasi financial assets in addition to being a source of income. Moreover, revenue from dairy products and other animal products eases the liquidity constraints of smallholders between annual harvests (Dercon, 1998; Fafchamps, Udry, & Czukas, 1998; Rosenzweig & Wolpin, 1993). In keeping with these insights, our findings in Chapter 3 also suggest that the majority of rural households in Turkey engage in food self-provisioning (of which dairy production constitutes a substantial part) in order to reduce their vulnerability to undernutrition by reducing their exposure to market price risk. Even if Grethe (2007), Çakmak (2004), and Eruygur & Çakmak (2008) assertion that integration to EU and world markets will increase the total consumer surplus by reducing animal product prices, our findings suggest that the distribution of these welfare gains will not be neutral. The chief beneficiaries of lower prices will be urban non-poor. On the other hand, the loss of a source of in-kind and cash income will make the current rural poor both poorer and more vulnerable to income poverty and undernutrition.

In Chapter 4, we investigate the fluid milk marketing chain in Turkey from farmgate to wholesale prices. Due to data limitations, we are not able to establish whether if dairy processing firms operate as a cartel and exercise oligopsony power vis-à-vis dairy farmers. Nevertheless, by employing Asymmetric Price Transmission (APT) models we show that, even if dairy processing firms are enjoying oligopsony powers vis-à-vis dairy farmers, they are passing all of these price concessions and more to their customers. The processing firms are able to reduce the real fluid milk prices and expand their business during the study period, 1994 – 2006 thanks to the increasing returns to scale they enjoy in the growing dairy products sector.



In the final chapter, we review the findings of chapters 2 to 4 in detail and draw policy conclusions.



#### **CHAPTER 2**

# TESTING SEPARATION OF CONSUMPTION AND PRODUCTION DECISIONS OF FOOD

#### **2.1 Introduction**

The phenomenon of peasants'/farmers' production of a great variety of food for home consumption violates some of the basic tenets of economics like specialization and gains from trade. Also, policy makers in developing countries with large peasantries are frustrated that peasants do not appear responsive to price incentives or opportunities to modernize (De Janvry, Fafchamps, & Sadoulet, 1991). Economists understand well that this unresponsiveness to prices is not because of the traditional mind-set of peasants but due to constraints that are not visible to outsiders yet are very real to peasants themselves. We discuss some of these constraints below in detail, but it is clear that ignoring the constraints facing peasants will lead to misguided policy advice and expectations.

A potential drawback of recent household food consumption and food demand studies pertaining to Turkey (Akbay Boz, & Chern, 2007; Sengul & Tuncer, 2005) is that they implicitly assume that households are mere price takers when it comes to food consumption. This assumption is implicit in the sense that the food production is not a part of empirically estimated models despite the fact that previous studies employ nationally representative surveys that cover rural areas. In developed countries, where the agricultural labor force is a very small part of the total labor force and the overwhelming majority of agricultural production takes place in specialized commercial farms, the assumption that all consumers are price takers is reasonable. Using 2003 household



budget survey data for Turkey, however, we observe that food consumption from home produce (self-provisioning for brevity) supplies almost 19 percent of calories for rural households (see Section 2.4). This suggests that self-provisioning is important for rural households in Turkey and should not be assumed away.

Our contribution in this chapter is to develop a formal procedure to test whether households are mere price takers or not. We are able to develop this procedure thanks to a newly available data on the breakdown of food consumption according to its source. We follow the literature on agricultural household models (AHM) which study the consumption and production decisions of peasant households. Starting with the observation that peasant households supply most of their food themselves and employ productive factors from within their own households, AHM advances models where households decide what to produce and consume simultaneously.

We test whether self-provisioning affects the food consumption decisions. We find that it does, and conclude that implicit an assumption of separation of consumption and production decisions of food is unwarranted. We then re-estimate demand for food, incorporating the productive factors into consumption decisions, and find that the expenditure and own-price elasticities estimated initially (by disregarding the production side) overstate the true elasticities, especially for the dairy and egg food group.

In addition to policy makers, the issue of self-provisioning is critical to political economists who are concerned with poverty reduction. Griffin, Khan, & Ickowitz, (2002) Griffin, Khan, & Ickowitz (2004) and Boyce, Rosset, & Stanton (2007) note that in many developing countries, countryside is characterized by market imperfections that go beyond transactions costs. According to Griffin et al., (2002) and Griffin et al., (2004) the



market failures do not just happen: they are by and large mechanisms of labor control, helping to ensure the dependence of peasants on the landlord class. Landlords can exert control of the local populace by strategically handing out employment in the form of wage labor or sharecropping. Deprived of employment opportunities other than self-employment, peasant households expend their energy to get the most from their small plots. Working with a data set collected in 2002<sup>3</sup>, Ünal (2008) finds overwhelming evidence for an inverse relationship between farm size and land productivity for Turkey. These findings lead us to suspect that incomplete markets in rural areas are still relevant in Turkey, even though De Janvry et al., (1991) and De Janvry, Sadoulet, Fafchamps, & Raki (1992) were referring to much poorer countries. Complementing Unal (2008) in this study, we look at the consumption side of rural household reality.

In the rest of the paper we first review the literature on AHM with a special emphasis on separable and nonseparable household models. Then, given the limitation of the current data set for constructing a proper AHM, we develop a procedure to test for the implicit assumption of separation. In the third section we flesh out the empirical model for estimation. Section 2.4 presents data on food consumption with a special emphasis on self-provisioning. Section 2.5 presents the econometric findings. In Section 2.6 we discuss the policy implications of our findings. Section 2.7 recaps and concludes the chapter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ministry of Agriculture and World Bank collected the data set before the start of the Agricultural Reform Implementation Project (ARIP) in 2002 (QHS 2002 hereafter).



# 2.2 Theoretical Framework and Hypothesis Testing Strategy

# 2.2.1 Agricultural Household Models

An agricultural household is one which engages in agricultural production as well as being a site of food consumption. Very often the major inputs - land and labor - are supplied by the household. If there were no transaction costs that lead to imperfect functioning of markets, we could assume that production and consumption decisions are made sequentially; first production is decided, and then consumption. Sadoulet and de Janvry (1995) put this as follows:

As is typical when all markets work and there are no transaction costs, it is immaterial to whether the household consumes its own products or sells them to buy what it needs to consume... Under these conditions, the household behaves *as if* production and consumption/work decisions were made sequentially. ..., there is separability whenever prices are exogenous and markets are used, even if sale and purchase prices are not identical. When a household model is separable it can be solved recursively in two steps (p. 145) (italics are added).

The following figure is taken from Sadoulet and de Janvry (1995) and depicts the sequential process of production and consumption decisions (p. 146). This does not necessarily mean that production and consumption decisions are always sequential; all it shows is that production and consumption decisions can be studied separately.



#### Figure 2.1: Causal ordering in the separable household model Production decisions:



In the above simplified figure, farmer produces commodity a, which is traded at price  $p_a$  taking into account market wage w, input prices  $p_x$  and the farm-firm characteristics  $z^q$  like fixed capital and farm size. Given exogenous prices, the farmer determines how much to produce  $q_a$ , how much input x to use and how much labor l to exert in order to maximize profits  $\pi^*$ . Profits are the *hinge* between production and consumption decisions because farm profits are a part of household income and hence affect the consumption decision via a budget constraint. Households maximize utility by allocating their full income among agricultural goods  $c_a$ , manufactured goods  $c_m$ , and leisure  $c_l$  given the household characteristics  $z^h$  like household size, age, and education, subject to total income and time constraints. Mathematically all of this can be expressed as:

First production problem is solved by the following rule:

Maximize 
$$\pi_{q_a,x,l} = p_a q_a - p_x x - wl \ s.t. : g(q_a,x,l;z^q) = 0$$
, production function. (2.1)



Second, the consumption/work problem is solved by maximizing utility, u, given the level of profit  $\pi^*$  achieved in production:

Maximize 
$$\underbrace{\mathcal{U}}_{c_a, c_m, c_l}(c_a, c_m, c_l; z^h)$$
, (2.2)  
 $s.t.: p_x x + p_m c_m + wc_l = \pi^* + wE$ , full income constraint;  $c_l + l^s = E$ , time constraint

Yet in practice, incomplete markets are generally the rule rather than the exception in rural areas in developing countries. We adopt the definition by Sadoulet & de Janvry (1995) for an incomplete market as: "a market may fail for a particular household when it faces wide price margins between the low price at which it could sell a commodity or the factor and the high price at which it could buy that product or factor" (p. 149). Complete self-sufficiency of the idealized peasant is one extreme of incomplete markets. In this case peasants produce all of the consumption needs of a household employing only the productive factors (land and labor) available within the household.

According to Sadoulet & de Janvry (1995) the most common reasons for incomplete markets are (i) transaction costs due to poor infrastructure, high marketing costs due to merchants' local monopoly power, and supervision costs of hired labor; (ii) shallow local markets because of a high covariation between household supply and prices<sup>4</sup>; (iii) due to price risks and risk aversion of farmers, sales prices are discounted negatively and purchase prices are revised upward to hedge against risk; (iv) and finally limited access to working capital means that the budget balance becomes a constraint, and this leads to self sufficiency because actions that require cash outlays like hiring outside labor or using fertilizer implicitly carry the cost of financing, while cash-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> During the harvest time prices are low because everybody is selling in the locale and during the low season prices are high because of low supply.



generating activities – even if seemingly unprofitable, like selling milk – become sought after to ease the cash constraint especially in the lean season. Under market imperfections, exogenous market prices no longer accurately reflect the full opportunity cost of goods and services. In the presence of imperfect markets, some goods become nontradeable (pp. 149-150). Their prices are determined internally by the household; and hence the decisions of production and consumption are no longer separate: they are decided jointly. This finding has direct relevance for the policy analysis. In their simulation study, de Janvry et al., (1991) show that when the impact of market price change on food consumption and production is strongest when market function properly imperfections. Whereas if market for food and labor are incomplete than the impact of market price changes will be muted. In other words, the food price elasticity is much lower when the markets are incomplete.

In empirical applications using production and consumption equations, an AHM should be estimated simultaneously rather than sequentially. However, such a model is complex and even the minimum data required are monumental. In the presently employed data set, we do not have enough information to construct the production-side AHM (more on this in Section 2.6.1). Instead we develop a procedure to test for separation of production and consumption decisions. Then we try to gauge the significance of ignoring nonseparation in empirical applications for Turkey.

#### 2.2.2 Test of Separability

Studying rural labor markets in Java, Benjamin (1992) uses household demographic attributes to identify nonseparation: "... identification of nonseparation relies on the observation of a correlation between demographic composition and observed



www.manaraa.com

farm employment" (p. 292). If the household exhibits Chayanovian characteristics – that is, if all or most of the labor is sourced within the family – then total labor exerted will depend on household characteristics like household size and the number of working age adults. However, if there is an active labor market then family size is not a binding constraint and laborers can be hired as needed<sup>5</sup>. To test this theory empirically, Benjamin (1992) estimates the impact of demographic variables on labor demand after taking into account wage, area harvested, inputs used, and controls for soil and climate conditions<sup>6</sup>.

We develop a similar procedure using the budget share of self-provisioned food as a means to identify nonseparation<sup>7</sup>. In doing so, we apply a logic akin to that of Hoddinott & Haddad (1995), who propose that if household members pool their income and spend it to maximize joint household utility, then who controls income within the household should not matter. When they estimate the determinants of household spending on food, clothing, etc. they include wives' share of cash income as an explanatory variable, in addition to total expenditure and a host of demographic characteristics. They find that when women have income independent of their husbands, the household's spending on food and children's needs increases significantly.

In our case, we hypothesize that if the households' consumption and production decisions are separable, then the budget share of self-provisioned food should not affect the amount of food consumed. In the empirical tests, the coefficient estimate for the budget share of self-provisioning should be statistically insignificant. In the case of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> James K. Boyce suggested this solution.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Alternatively family members are not limited by size of agricultural holding for employment and can find employment for excess labor.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> He finds that they are not statistically significant in rural Java; i.e., the labor market functions well in rural Java.

separable decisions, observed self-provisioning is merely a case where a household treats itself as another supermarket. However, if the production and consumption decisions are nonseparable, then the coefficient estimate for budget share of self-provisioning will be economically and statistically significant.

#### 2.3 Empirical Model

Studies on food demand in Turkey using micro household data are fairly rare. Recent examples are the studies by Akbay et al., (2007), Armagan & Akbay (2008), and Sengul & Tuncer (2005). The first two of these studies use data sets compiled by the State Institute of Statistics (SIS). Sengul and Tuncer (2005) use the 1994 Household Budget Survey (SIS 1994) and Akbay et al., (2007) use the survey from 2003 (SIS 2003). We also use the SIS 2003 data set. Unlike SIS 1994, the SIS 2003 data set allows us to identify the source of food: bought from the market or self-provisioned. Both Sengul and Tuncer (2005) and Akbay et al., (2007) use two-step estimating procedures, where in the first step they deal with censored data<sup>8</sup> issues. Sengul and Tuncer (2005) use the methodology developed by Heien & Wessells (1990), whereas Akbay et al., (2007) follow a consistent two-step procedure developed by Shonkwiler & Yen (1999), who show that Hein & Wessells (1990) methodology yields inconsistent and inefficient estimates.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Many households do not purchase various food items during the survey month. This can be either due to they cannot afford or preferences or they deplete their stocks. In other words, the survey observations are censored due to the existence of stocks. We want to distinguish between the households who cannot afford such food items from the ones who simply consume from purchases made prior to survey month. For example, in the SIS 2003 data set, one-third of households do not have any purchase in the "other food" category – which includes prepared meals, salt, spices, etc.



After taking care of censored data issues, in the second step both papers employ the linear approximation (LA) of the almost ideal demand (AID) system, i.e. LA/AIDS, developed by Deaton & Muellbauer (1980). We utilize the same data set as Akbay et al., (2007), and follow their strategy in estimating the benchmark demand system. The rest of this section explains the empirical methodology in detail, closely following the exposition in section two of Akbay et al., (2007).

#### 2.3.1 Linearly Approximated Almost Ideal Demand System (LA/AIDS)

Deaton & Muellbauer (1980) introduced the workhorse model for estimating demand systems:

$$w_{i} = \alpha_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{11} \gamma_{ij} \log p_{j} + \beta_{i} \log\left(\frac{x}{P^{*}}\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{25} \lambda_{ij} D_{j} + \rho_{i} S + e_{i}$$
(2.3)

where  $w_i$  denotes the budget share of food group i,  $p_j$  represents the price of the *jth* food group, x is the total expenditures on food,  $\alpha_i, \gamma_{ij}, \beta_i, \lambda_{ij}$  and  $\rho_i$  are parameters to be estimated,  $P^*$  is the price index approximated by Stone's index (Equation 2.4), and  $e_i$  is the disturbance term.  $D_j$  are the demographic variables, including household size, a dummy variable for households with young children (younger than 14), dummies for age, education, marital status and gender of household heads, and employment status of housewives and seasonal and regional dummy variables<sup>9</sup>. *S* is the budget share of self provisioning for each household and it is the only additional variable that we introduce

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Pollak & Wales (1981) test the alternative methods and conclude that using dummy variables to account for demographic variables (translating approach) fares better among alternatives.



apart from those used by Akbay et al., (2007), allowing us to extend their model in order to perform the separability test<sup>2</sup>

$$\log P^* = \sum_{i=1}^{11} w_i^0 \log p_i, \qquad (2.4)$$

where  $w_i^0$  represents the mean budget share for each food group.

#### 2.3.2 Estimating a complete demand system with censored variable problems

Estimating demand systems where a large number of zero purchases exist<sup>10</sup> will yield biased and inconsistent estimates of demand parameters because of large numbers of dependent variables valued at zero. One way to deal with latent variables of this nature is to employ a two step-procedure. In the first stage, a probit model is used to determine the probability of consumption of the good in question for a given household. In the second stage, the regressors are transformed using the information from the initial probit model. In this paper, we follow the two-step methodology developed by Shonkwiler & Yen (1999).

In the first step, the decision to consume is modeled as a dichotomous choice problem (Hein and Wessells, 1990) with a linear probit model (Equation 2.5):

$$w_{i}^{*} = f(x_{i}, \mu_{i}) + u_{i}, \qquad w_{i} = d_{i}w_{i}^{*}$$

$$d_{i} = \begin{cases} 1 \ if \ d^{*} > 0 \\ 0 \ if \ d^{*} \le 0 \end{cases} \qquad d_{i}^{*} = z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i} + v_{i} \qquad (2.5)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Table 2.2 shows that for this sample zero purchases are clustered in non-perishable food groups: for other food group (33 percent), for non-alcoholic beverage (28 percent), for tea and coffee (24 percent), and for vegetable oils (17 percent). The survey period is one month and it is very possible that many households continued to consume previously purchased goods from storage, like vegetable oils or tea, despite the fact they did not make any purchases during the survey month.



where *i* stands for food group,  $w_i$  and  $d_i$  are the observed dependent variables, and  $w_i^*$  and  $d_i^*$  are the corresponding unobserved (latent) variables. Following Akbay et al., (2007),  $z_i$  are the vectors of socio-economic and demographic factors such as age, education, gender and marital status of the head of household, and household size. Also we used total household spending (which is not used in the second stage), since Jackson (1984) showed that variety increases with total spending.  $\mu_i$  and  $\theta_i$  are the vectors of parameters to be estimated and  $u_i$  and  $v_i$  are the random errors.

Assuming that for each i, the error terms ( $u_i$  and  $v_i$ ) are distributed as bivariate normal with cov ( $u_i, v_i$ ) =  $\phi$ , Shonkwiler and Yen (1999) corrected for inconsistency in estimates by defining the second-stage regression:

$$w_i = \Phi(z_i \theta_i) f(x_i, \mu_i) + \delta_i \phi(z_i \theta_i) + e_i$$
(2.6)

where  $\phi(\)$  is the univariate standard normal probability density function (PDF) and  $\Phi(\)$  is the cumulative distribution function calculated by inserting  $\hat{\theta}_i$  in place of  $\theta_i$  which are obtained using Equation 2.5 in the first step and  $e_i$  is the error term. Shonkwiler and Yen (1999) suggest estimating the demand system in the second stage using either Maximum Likelihood (ML) or Seemingly Unrelated Regression (SUR)<sup>11</sup>. Equations 2.7 and 2.8 present Equation 2.6 in full detail:

$$w_{i} = \alpha_{i} \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{11} \gamma_{ij} \log p_{j} \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \beta_{i} \log\left(\frac{x}{P^{*}}\right) \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{25} \lambda_{ij} D_{j} \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \rho_{i} S \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \delta_{i} \phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + e_{i}$$

$$(2.7)$$

<sup>11</sup> Akbay et al., (2007) employ iterated SUR.

لألم للاستشارات
In the above model the error terms are defined as follows:

$$e_{i} = u_{i} + \left[\Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) - \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\hat{\theta}_{i})\right]f(x_{i}\mu_{i}) + \delta_{i}\left[\Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) - \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\hat{\theta}_{i})\right]$$
(2.8)

The LA/AIDS is the workhorse model of estimating demand systems, yet the issue of how to deal with censored variables is not settled. In a commentary on Akbay et al., (2007), Drichoutis, Klonaris, Lazaridis, & Nayga Jr. (2008) point out that error terms are heteroskedastic, as Equation 2.8 suggests, and therefore the second step SUR estimator will be inefficient (p.95). They suggest using Feasible Generalized Least Squares (FGLS), instead of currently popular ML or SUR procedures, after Tauchmann (2005). In their response to Drichoutis, et al., (2008), Akbay Boz, & Chern (2008) recalculate the own-price elasticities and food expenditure elasticities for whole sample with coefficient estimates obtained from the FGLS procedure in the second step. In this chapter, we also employ the FGLS approach for the second-stage estimation<sup>12</sup>. Any estimate by Akbay et al. in this chapter are to their most recent elasticity estimates with the FGLS results (Akbay et al., 2008), not to their original 2007 paper.

Demand theory requires the imposition of the following three constraints (addingup, symmetry and homogeneity) on the parameters of Equation 2.7:

Adding up: 
$$\sum_{i} \alpha_{i} = 1$$
,  $\sum_{i} \gamma_{ij} = \sum_{i} \beta_{i} = \sum_{i} \lambda_{ij} = \sum_{i} \delta_{i} = 0$ ,  
Symmetry:  $\gamma_{ij} = \gamma_{ji}$ ,  
Homogeneity:  $\sum_{i} \gamma_{ij} = 0$  (2.9)

المنسارات

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> We applied the 3SLS procedure in the STATA package to perform FGLS.

Marshallian own and cross-price elasticities and food expenditure elasticities are computed from the parameters of the LA/AIDS for the variables at sample means (see (Yen, Kan, & Su, 2002)):

Own-price:  $\varepsilon_{ii} = \frac{(\gamma_{ii} - \beta_i w_i^0) \Phi(z_i^{\prime} \theta_i)}{w_i^0} - 1, ,$ 

Cross-price:  $\varepsilon_{ii} = \frac{(\gamma_{ij} - \beta_i w_j^0) \Phi(z_i \theta_i)}{w_i^0}$ ,

Food expenditure: 
$$\varepsilon_i = 1 + \frac{\Phi(z_i'\theta_i)\beta_i}{w_i^0}$$
 (2.10)

# 2.4 Self-provisioning

For the first time, Turkey's Household Budget Survey for 2003 (SIS 2003) data set allows us to distinguish among the sources of food for the household. The SIS 2003 data set classifies the food available to households as shown in Table 2.1. The amounts in the last three categories are trivial, but self-provisioning accounts for 7 percent of total available food in Turkey as a whole, and roughly 19 percent of rural consumption (calculated in terms of calories).

The food produced and consumed within the household obviously has no market price. In this case, SIS researchers assigned production costs in order to calculate the amount spent on each food category<sup>13</sup>. Due to imputing production costs (instead of retail prices) to monetize all consumption, self-provisioned food has a lower share of total food spending vis-à-vis its share of calories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> There is no direct explanation for the pricing of self-provisioned food in the survey manual. But in explaining other instances of in-kind payments to individuals, the manual explains that they are valued at production cost. For example, see individual section manual, question 8.32d. Likewise we verified that wholesale prices are imputed for self-provisioned food with SIS officials.



	All san	nple	Urban		Rura	al
		food		food		food
Definition	calories	liras	calories	liras	calories	liras
1- Purchased	0.91	0.92	0.97	0.96	0.80	0.82
2- Self-provisioning <sup>14</sup>	0.07	0.05	0.01	0.01	0.19	0.15
3- Produced for market but						
consumed in the household	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.01
4- Payments in kind by employer	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
5- Purchased for the purpose of						
donation	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.02

 Table 2.1: Ratio of calorie intake and food liras of household food consumption

 All sample
 Urban

Two characteristics about self-provisioning stand out. First, self-provisioning is concentrated in several commodities. On the one hand, there is no self-provisioning of some highly processed products like sugar and vegetable oils. On the other hand, 60 percent of fluid milk, 76 percent of yogurt, 70 percent of butter, 40 percent of cheese, 27 percent of eggs, 36 percent of other grain products, and roughly 15 percent of fruits and vegetables consumed in rural areas are self-provisioned (again percentages are calculated in caloric terms). These initial observations suggest that for some rural households the production and consumption decisions may not be separable. Second, the retail and imputed price differentials vary depending on the product. For dairy products, the imputed price is roughly 74 percent of retail prices. For fruits and vegetables, the imputed prices are roughly 66 percent of retail prices. However, for highly industrialized products like, chicken and eggs, the retail prices are lower than imputed prices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> This category also includes the food donated to relatives etc. from household production. However, it is not possible to discern the actual consumption from donations from the survey data. So I assumed that all of it consumed in the household. At the very least, we can speculate that household members are choosing to donate some of their produce with their free will which would imply that donations are as valuable to them at the margin as personal consumption.



Table 2.2 shows the percentage of non-zero purchases and summary statistics for the food budget share of each food group (the third column presents summary statistics for the dependent variables in the demand system). Table 2.3 presents similar statistics for the self-provisioned products. In light of the concentration of self-provisioning in certain animal products, we grouped the food items slightly differently than did Akbay et al., (2007, 2008). In their papers butter belongs to fats and oils, and eggs are classified under other foods. In this chapter we classify dairy products, butter and eggs under one heading, while the rest are constructed exactly like Akbay et al., (2007). We believe that butter and eggs display more common characteristics with cheese and yogurt than with vegetable oils or highly processed food products (in the other food category) for rural households.

 

 Table 2.2: Percentage of non-zero purchases, mean food expenditure shares and monthly spending by food group

Food Groups	Households purchasing (%)	Mean exp. Share (%)	Mean exp. by all households (TL/month)	Mean exp by purchasing households (TL/month)
Bread*	94.9	15.8	27.6	29.1
Cereals*	94.8	9.1	18.4	19.4
Meat & meat products*	89.8	13.6	34.3	38.2
Vegetable oils	83.1	5.7	11.3	13.6
Vegetables*	99.7	16.9	32.0	32.1
Fruits*	97.7	9.1	17.8	18.2
Dairy products and egg	99.3	15.1	28.5	28.7
Sugar, confectionary and jams*	94.7	7.9	15.9	16.8
Tea and Coffee*	76.3	3.0	5.6	7.3
Non-alcoholic beverages*	72.1	2.7	5.3	7.3
Other food products	66.6	1.2	2.4	3.6

\*: same as Akbay et al., (2007), Table 3. TL: Turkish Lira



	entire sample					rural only				
Food Groups*	Self- prov. % of hhs	Mean exp. Share (%)	Mean exp. by all hhs (TL/ month)	Mean exp. by self- prov. hhs (TL/ month)	Self- prov. % of rural hhs	Mean exp. Share (%)	Mean exp. by all rural hhs (TL/ month)	Mean exp. by self- prov. rural hhs (TL/ month)		
Cereals**	8.2	5.6	2.0	24.4	27.0	18.5	6.6	24.6		
Meat	1.4	0.9	0.6	47.1	4.3	2.9	2.1	48.2		
Vegetables	9.0	3.1	1.3	14.8	26.3	9.2	4.0	15.3		
Fruits	3.9	2.1	0.5	13.2	11.3	6.1	1.4	12.5		
Dairy & egg	14.9	12.0	5.0	33.4	47.2	38.7	16.1	34.2		
Sugar	0.5	0.3	0.1	14.1	1.5	1.0	0.2	14.3		
Tea & Coffee	0.1	0.1	0.0	5.6	0.4	0.4	0.0	5.6		

Table 2.3: Self-provisioning budget share, mean food expenditure shares and<br/>monthly spending by food group

\*: There is no self-provisioning of bread, vegetable oils, non-alcoholic beverages and other food groups.

\*\*: Cereals includes other grain products which in turn include flour used for making bread at home.

# 2.5 Empirical Results

# 2.5.1 Estimation of the Model

The SIS 2003 survey is designed to be nationally representative and a stratified multi-stage systematic cluster sampling method is used. The survey covered a sample of 25,764<sup>15</sup> households from 12 regions without replacement (to minimize seasonal influences on consumption), and was conducted over 12 months from January 1 to December 31, 2003. The survey includes detailed demographic characteristics for each household that allow us to control for heterogeneity in preferences and some production-related variables (e.g., land owned and labor, more on these later). Table A1.1 in the Appendix presents the summary statistics for all of the variables in the two-step procedure.

As explained in the previous section, we constructed food groups especially relating to animal products differently than Akbay et al., (2007). This regrouping caused

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> There is no detail of food consumption for 17 households, so we conducted empirical tests with 25,747 observations.



some drop in the share of non-zero purchases for the fats and oils category (from 86.2 percent in Akbay et al., (2007) to 83.1 percent in our case); a significant drop in the share of non-zero purchases in the other food category (from 95.8 percent to 66.6 percent) and an increase in the share of non-zero purchases in dairy and egg category (from 97.7 percent to 99.3 percent). In other words, in our case the percentages of censored variables in these categories are different than Akbay et al., (2008)<sup>16</sup>. This change may affect the results. In order to gauge the effect of regrouping, we construct Table 2.4. Columns 2 and 4 are taken from Akbay et al., (2008) and columns 3 and 5 are calculated using the same regressors as Akbay et al. (2008).

The comparison in Table 2.4 shows that the calculated elasticities between the two studies are close. This gives us confidence that both Akbay et al.'s (2008) and our elasticity estimates are robust to alternative groupings of food. Moreover, where the difference is largest – the food expenditure elasticity of the "other food" category - the change is in the expected direction, since once purchases of eggs (a cheap and widely consumed perishable product) are removed from this category, the rest is composed of highly processed products like prepared meals or spices, so that the increase in the food expenditure elasticity is expected.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Since the content of these three food groups have changed so to the corresponding prices.



Food Expenditure elasticities own price elasticities										
All sample	Akbay 2008	Tekguc	Akbay 2008	Tekguc						
Bread	0.70	0.65	-0.87	-0.89						
Cereals	1.11	1.10	-0.90	-0.84						
Meat & meat products	1.66	1.76	-0.62	-0.75						
Vegetable oils	1.03	1.16	-0.89	-0.93						
Vegetables	0.93	0.87	-0.89	-0.78						
Fruits	0.90	0.82	-0.79	-0.80						
Dairy products and egg	0.82	0.82	-0.81	-0.74						
Sugar, confectionary and jams	0.99	1.08	-0.68	-0.70						
Tea and Coffee	0.67	0.77	-0.75	-0.90						
Non-alcoholic beverages	0.71	0.76	-0.96	-1.09						
Other food products*	0.40	0.92	-0.87	-0.80						

 Table 2.4: Comparison of our model to Akbay et al., (2008) without including the self-provisioning instrument

\*: Akbay et al. (2008) do not report the elasticities for other food products in 2008 paper so the elasticities for other foods are taken from the original 2007 paper.

Table 2.5 presents the uncompensated own-price, and food expenditure elasticities estimated from Equation 2.7 (including the share of self-provisioning for each household in every equation)<sup>17</sup>. All estimated own-price and food expenditure elasticities are consistent with demand theory. Uncompensated own-price elasticities are between -0.7 and -1 except for non-alcoholic beverages which is -1.09. The own-price elasticities are highest for tea and coffee and beverage groups, which is not surprising since their consumption is relatively discretionary. Nevertheless, own-price elasticities are slightly greater than unity for cereals<sup>18</sup>, vegetable oils, and sugar and confectionary. Moreover, according to our estimates a one-percent increase in total expenditure on food will increase the spending on meat by 1.75 percent. Elasticities calculated for rural and urban

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Cereals group is a relatively heterogeneous food group including home-made bread, cookies, and patisserie products.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Table A1.4 in Appendix presents the coefficient estimates for the whole demand system. Also see Table A1.5 in Appendix for cross price elasticities.

areas show considerable differences. In general, households residing in rural areas are more responsive to own-price changes than are urban households, and urban households are more responsive to changes in expenditure.

	Food 1	Expenditu	ire	Own-price			
Food Groups	All sample	Rural	Urban	All sample	Rural	Urban	
Bread	0.67	0.58	0.70	-0.86	-0.99	-0.80	
Cereals	1.09	1.14	1.08	-0.82	-1.02	-0.69	
Meat & meat products	1.75	1.88	1.68	-0.76	-0.74	-0.79	
Vegetable oils	1.17	1.04	1.20	-0.93	-1.21	-0.81	
Vegetables	0.88	0.85	0.90	-0.78	-0.80	-0.77	
Fruits	0.81	0.72	0.86	-0.80	-0.79	-0.80	
Dairy products and egg	0.81	0.87	0.80	-0.74	-0.76	-0.75	
Sugar, confectionary and jams	1.08	1.10	1.07	-0.71	-0.74	-0.69	
Tea and Coffee	0.77	0.59	0.87	-0.90	-0.84	-0.91	
Non-alcoholic beverages	0.76	0.71	0.76	-1.09	-1.07	-1.08	
Other food products	0.90	0.84	0.88	-0.80	-0.84	-0.79	

 Table 2.5: Expenditure and own price elasticities for Rural and Urban Areas estimated including the self-provisioning instrument.

# 2.5.2 Testing Separability

Inspection of Table A1.4 reveals that the budget share of self-provisioning is significant in nine out of eleven food groups at the 5 percent significance level or less (budget shares of self-provisioning are individually insignificant only for the fruits and other food groups). We also test whether addition of the food budget share of self-provisioning to the demand system is jointly significant. Table 2.6 presents Wald tests for various specifications. The null hypothesis is that all of the self-provisioning budget share coefficients are equal to zero in the demand system. The results of Wald tests invariably show that self-provisioning food budget share coefficients are significant in the demand system.

The first three rows in Table 2.6 employ the self-provisioned food budget share as defined above. The fourth row uses the self-provisioning budget share of each food group in the respective equation, instead of the average of self-provisioning. In four out of



eleven food groups there is no self-provisioning (i.e., bread, vegetable oils, non-alcoholic beverages and other foods). See Table 2.3 for details of remaining seven. In the fifth row, we broaden the content of self-provisioning and include the categories three and four as defined in Table 2.1. The inclusion of in-kind payments by employers; especially increased the number of households with non-zero self-provisioning by more than 1,000 observations (from 4,960 to 5,989 observations or roughly 4 percent of sample, with 882 of the new additions coming from urban areas). This broadened definition does not fit neatly with the theoretical discussion in the Section 2.2 for self-provisioning, but we want to double check our results with an alternative definition. The conclusion is still the same: the coefficients of self-provisioning are significant.

As an additional robustness test for the last row, we calculate the predicted values for self-provisioning. In the first stage, we estimate the budget share of self-provisioning with regressors including the food budget (negative coefficient), a host of productionrelated variables (land, labor, grazing areas in the region, (production-side variables discussed further in the next section)), and a host of demographic variables like age, education, household size that can influence production decisions. The purpose of this final exercise is to control for measurement errors. It is possible that many households are not reporting self-provisioning, especially if their primary income-generating activity is not farming and yet they engage in some amount of self-provisioning via kitchen gardens. We believe that women, especially, tend to under-report how long they work<sup>19</sup>, partly due to the fact that the SIS 2003 is designed to elicit the labor force participation as conventionally defined. There are 14,095 non-zero observations for the predicted self-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Personal communication with B. Akbulut who is doing field work in rural Central Turkey and G. Ünal.



provisioning category. The conclusion from the Wald test is still the same: the

coefficients of the predicted self-provisioning budget share are jointly significant in the

LA/AIDS<sup>20</sup>.

# Table 2.6: Wald test whether all of the self-provisioning variables are jointly equal to zero

				Critical	Prob
Wald Test	Sample	D.F.	Chi2	value (0.05)	>Chi2
Self-provisioning budget share	whole	11	5,324.8	19.68	0.00
Self-provisioning budget share	urban	11	505.9	19.68	0.00
Self-provisioning budget share	rural	11	3,261.3	19.68	0.00
food group self-provisioning*	whole	7	969.1	14.07	0.00
Self-provisioning alternative <sup>#</sup>	whole	11	2,969.1	19.68	0.00
Self-provisioning predicted variable^	whole	11	1,811.0	19.68	0.00

\*: We use the food budget share of corresponding food groups instead of an overall average. Please see Table 2.3 for food groups with non-zero self-provisioning.

#: We construct an alternative budget share of self-provision variable by combining rows 2, 3 and 4 from Table 2.1.

^: The R-Square of the first stage is 0.55. The result of the first stage is available upon request.

# **2.6 Economic and Policy Significance**

# 2.6.1 Estimation in the Presence of Nonseparability

In the previous section we showed that the implicit assumption of separation of previous studies on food consumption in Turkey is not warranted. However, statistical significance does not always translate into economic policy significance, and we may wonder whether it is worthwhile the effort to build a more complicated nonseparable model (Sadoulet and de Janvry, 1995; p. 159). In particular, we want to measure the potential effect of ignoring versus allowing nonseparation by incorporating production-side variables into consumption functions and recalculating the food expenditure and own-price elasticities.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  Table A1.3 in the Appendix presents results of a likelihood ratio test where we test and reject separation. We reach the same conclusion with Wald tests presented in Table 2.6 for every specification.



In case of nonseparation, Sadoulet and de Janvry (1995) suggest a reduced-form approach:

$$q = q(p, z^{q}, z^{h}, T, K)$$
for production,  
and  $c = c(p, z^{q}, z^{h}, T, K)$ for consumption (2.11)

where in Equation 2.11, p stand for prices,  $z^q$  represents the household's agricultural production-related assets;  $z^h$  represents household characteristics pertaining for consumption decisions; T stands for income transfers; and K stands for credit constraints, if any. The important feature of Equation 2.11 is that productive factors are included into the consumption equation (and vice versa), in addition to other household characteristics that affect consumption decisions.

Here we focus on estimating the reduced form of the consumption equations including productive factors like labor and land for the three food groups with most self-provisioning: dairy and egg, cereals and vegetables (we pay special attention to dairy and egg food group, and use the cereals and vegetables groups for comparison purposes). In order to construct even the simplest nonseparable agricultural household model both with production and consumption equations, one would need to have information on (for the production side): food crop, cash crop, the respective allocation of land, labor and other inputs separately for each productive activity. The available data do not provide this level of detail. Furthermore, we only have information on total agricultural income, not its breakdown across the activities generating this income.<sup>21</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Please refer to de Janvry, Fafchamps and Sadoulet (1991) or Taylor & Adelman (2003) for such agricultural household models. We are aware of only one data set which potentially has rich enough data on agricultural households' production and consumption from Turkey: QHS 2002. Constructing an AHM is beyond the scope of this chapter.



Given all these caveats, we solely focus on estimating the budget share of selected food groups while incorporating production-related variables into the demand equation. Our aim is to compare the elasticity estimates obtained from demand model with estimates obtained when production-related variables are explicitly included to consumption equation. We use Equation 2.12 as the empirical model:

$$w_{i} = \alpha_{i} \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{11} \gamma_{ij} \log p_{j} \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \beta_{i} \log\left(\frac{x}{P^{*}}\right) \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \sum_{j=1}^{25} \lambda_{ij} D_{j} \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \delta_{i} \phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + \sum_{k=1}^{7} \tau_{ik} F_{k} \Phi(z_{i}^{'}\theta_{i}) + e_{i}$$

$$(2.12)$$

This is similar to Equation 2.7 except for two changes: since we are no longer interested in testing separation, we drop the budget share of self-provisioning from the model, and we include seven production-related variables discussed below (represented by F in Equation 2.12). Since there is no justification for any specific restrictions in the reduced-form equations, we employ the most straightforward model, OLS. As Equation 2.12 shows, we still transform the explanatory variables by multiplying them by the cumulative distribution of the probit model from the first step. The sole purpose of this is to make the estimates as comparable as possible to those from the previous section<sup>22</sup>. Then we re-calculate the food expenditure and own-price elasticities in order to compare them to the elasticities obtained in the previous section. (We again use the elasticity formulas from Equation 2.10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Table 2 shows that censoring is not a great problem for cereals (95 percent non-zero budget shares); vegetables (99.7 percent); and dairy and egg (99.3 percent).



Moreover, QHS 2002 was administered only to rural households, which would not allow us to obtain estimates to urban areas.

#### 2.6.2 Production Variables

SIS 2003 is a household consumption data set and does not include detailed production/income generation-related information but it is possible to obtain farm labor (male and female labor separately) and land values from SIS 2003 as productive factors. We want to disaggregate labor according to gender because of the potential gendered division of labor as an aspect of incomplete markets. We expect to find female labor more crucial for the consumption of dairy and egg, other cereals, and vegetables food groups (i.e. positive and greater coefficient estimate than the male labor coefficient).

The values of agricultural land, orchards and greenhouses are the only agricultural assets in the SIS 2003 data set. We aggregate all of these land-related assets by value instead of acreage. We believe using land values will also incorporate the productivity differences of different plots. We also include the squared values of land assets into the consumption function, expecting a concave relationship between ownership of land and consumption (i.e. we expect to obtain positive coefficients for the land value and negative for the squared term). Our focus is especially on dairy and egg consumption, and hence it would have been much better to have information on animal ownership but such data are not available in SIS 2003. Moreover, in Turkey the petty production of dairy products is heavily dependent on public grazing lands, but SIS 2003 does not include public land available for farm households for grazing their animals. For these reasons, the value of farm land owned may be a poor proxy for productive assets employed in the dairy production. In an effort to address the latter problem, we obtained summary statistics<sup>23</sup> from the 2001 General Agricultural Census (SIS 2001) the closest available year, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Summary statistics for SIS 2001 is freely available on SIS website: www.tuik.gov.tr



calculated the average grazing area for each region of the country. In calculating this, we included unused and undeveloped land, permanent meadows, fallow land and pastures. Then we divided the total grazing area by the number of farm households in each region. The results range from 26 hectares in the Mediterranean region to 222 hectares in the northeast region.

The literature on peasant animal husbandry stresses the importance of animals as quasi-saving assets to be liquidated in times of hardship (Rosenzweig & Wolpin, 1993). To account for this insurance function of animal husbandry, we created a health insurance dummy for households to indicate if any member of the household has health insurance. We expect that households with access to formal health insurance will have less incentive to keep animals for insurance purposes.

Finally, literature on income, wealth, and power inequality Boyce (2002) suggests that in regions where poverty and inequality are prevalent, poor rural households will rely more on non-market sources of income like public lands to meet their basic needs like firewood or fodder for their animals, because they less access to both formal employment and public services. Since income inequality is a strong proxy for wealth and power gaps, Boyce (2002) uses the share of lowest quintile in total expenditure ("poor share" in the following tables) as a proxy for ill distribution of political power<sup>24</sup>. We expect a positive coefficient for this variable: as the share of the poorest quintile in total expenditure increases, so does the share of budget devoted to dairy and egg.

We took the logarithm of labor, land values and grazing area variables before using them in the regression analysis because all other continuous variables in the model

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> The share of each quintile in total regional spending is also available from SIS website: www.tuik.gov.tr



(prices and food budget) are already in log form. Health insurance is a dummy and poor share is in percentages. Table A1.2 presents the summary statistics for non-zero observations.

Table 2.7 presents the results of OLS regressions when the dependent variable is food budget share of dairy and egg food group for the whole sample, and for urban and rural areas<sup>25</sup>. The second, four and sixth columns contain only the variables traditionally associated with consumption. Columns three, five and seven also include the above-mentioned production-related variables.

First, most of the production-related variables are individually significant at a 5 percent significance level or less. Second, all of the variables except for value of land, significant or not, have the expected signs. Third, production variables are jointly significant in each specification<sup>26</sup>. Fourth, the coefficient estimate for female farm labor is greater than the coefficient estimate for male farm labor in each case, and the difference is statistically significant at 5 percent significance level for the whole sample. Collectively, these findings support our previous conclusion of nonseparation: consumption decisions rely not only on the conventional consumption-relevant household characteristics but also on productive factors available to the households.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> For cereals food group, the production variables are also jointly significant for all specifications and have the expected signs except for poor share and grazing area. However, in the case of vegetables they are jointly significant only for rural areas and the coefficients of field and field-squared have the opposite of expected signs.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> Similar tables for cereals and vegetables food groups are available from the author upon request.

	То	tal	Urban Rural		ral	
Constant	-0.1031**	-0.2511***	-0.2235***	-0.3178***	0.3523***	0.0032
Bread price	0.0077***	0.0056***	0.0031	0.0023	0.0109***	0.0091***
Cereal price	-0.0076***	-0.0056***	-0.0042***	-0.0039***	-0.0164***	-0.0113***
Meat price	-0.0045***	-0.0040***	-0.0030**	-0.0027**	-0.0087***	-0.0071***
Veg. oil pr.	0.0035*	0.0050***	0.0078***	0.0076***	-0.006	-0.0022
Vegetable pr.	-0.0018	-0.0001	0.0027	0.0036*	-0.0121***	-0.0096**
Fruit price	-0.0009	-0.0007	-0.0011	-0.0013	-0.001	0.0003
Dairy & egg p	0.0384***	0.0385***	0.0354***	0.0352***	0.0417***	0.0419***
Sugar pr	-0.0021**	-0.0012	-0.0022**	-0.0020*	-0.002	0.0001
Tea & coffee	-0.001	-0.0004	0.0003	0.0004	-0.0054*	-0.0044
beverage pr	-0.0027***	-0.0027***	-0.0021**	-0.0021**	-0.0047*	-0.0056**
Other food pr	-0.0002	-0.0002	-0.0007	-0.0005	0.0003	0.0006
Food expen.	-0.0336***	-0.0368***	-0.0348***	-0.0353***	-0.0321***	-0.0384***
Hh size	0.0022***	0.0008**	0.0001	0.0000	0.0047***	0.0024***
Child dummy	0.0103***	0.0113***	0.0146***	0.0148***	0.0037	0.0046
Male head	-0.001	-0.0016	-0.0017	-0.0013	-0.0027	-0.005
Married	-0.0048*	-0.0003	0.0000	0.0005	-0.0144***	-0.0028
Education 2	0.0006	0.0023**	0.0025**	0.0028**	-0.0063**	-0.0013
Education 3	0.0046***	0.0082***	0.0064***	0.0073***	-0.0026	0.0072
Age 2	-0.0054***	-0.0035*	-0.0035	-0.0035	-0.0062	-0.0015
Age 3	-0.0075***	-0.0065***	-0.0067***	-0.0069***	-0.0068	-0.0049
Age 4	0.0059***	0.0036*	0.0077***	0.0068***	-0.0008	-0.0034
Wife empl.	0.0276***	0.0028	0.0048***	0.0008	0.0432***	0.0068*
Urban	-0.0113***	0.0035**				
Quintile 2	-0.0041**	-0.0021	0.0083***	0.0085***	-0.0146***	-0.0123***
Quintile 3	-0.0049**	-0.0011	0.0121***	0.0127***	-0.0231***	-0.0190***
Quintile 4	-0.0033	0.0014	0.0135***	0.0141***	-0.0181***	-0.0128***
Quintile 5	-0.0051*	0.0012	0.0122***	0.0134***	-0.0251***	-0.0179***
Quarter 2	0.0086***	0.0090***	0.0055***	0.0057***	0.0163***	0.0163***
Quarter 3	0.0067***	0.0073***	0.0057***	0.0060***	0.0096***	0.0097***
Quarter 4	-0.0018	-0.0008	-0.0037**	-0.0034**	0.003	0.0044
Istanbul	0.0063***	0.0183***	0.0031	0.0182***	0.0255***	0.0528***
Marmara	-0.0065***	-0.0026	-0.0101***	-0.0078***	0.0153***	0.0250***
Aegean &						
West	-0.0037*	0.0028	-0.0039*	0.0061*	0.0042	0.0169**
Mediterranean	-0.0044*	0.0048	-0.0057**	0.0044	0.0100*	0.0303***
Cent. Anatolia	0.0024	-0.0026	-0.0088***	-0.0166***	0.0355***	0.0207**
Black Sea	-0.0078***	-0.0053*	-0.0169***	-0.0138***	0.0132**	0.0253***
NE & C East	-0.0025	-0.0066**	-0.0127***	-0.0145***	0.0275***	0.0098
PDF	0.0563	0.0583	0.2139**	0.2082**	0.0004	-0.0001
F. farm labor		0.0093***		0.0047***		0.0087***
M. farm labor		0.0062***		0.0012		0.0073***
Field		0.0017*		-0.0021		0.001
Field Squared		-0.0002*		0.0002		-0.0001
Health ins.		-0.0019*		-0.0016		-0.0003

Table 2.7: OLS regressions for Share of Dairy and Egg Food Group in the Food Basket

continued



Table 2.7, continued									
Total Urban Rural									
Average									
grazing area		0.0052***		0.0033		0.0175***			
Poor share		0.4382**		0.7153***		0.6541**			
F Production									
(7, n)^		73.08		6.53		36.08			
		0.00		0.00		0.00			
F (1, n)									
ffarm=mfarm		6.31		2.38		0.88			
		0.012		0.1226		0.3489			
Observations	25,747	25,747	18,267	18,267	7,480	7,480			
R-squared	0.80	0.81	0.83	0.83	0.77	0.78			

^: Joint F test for production variables. \* significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1% (evaluated with robust standard errors).

#### 2.6.3 Elasticity estimates

Finally, we want to evaluate the difference in the elasticity estimates calculated when the production-related variables are taken into account. Table 2.8 summarizes our findings for the three food groups in which self-provisioning plays a significant role. We should stress that the purpose here is not to pin down exact elasticity estimates when productive factors are taken into account. As explained in Section 2.2, once nonseparation is accepted, the production and consumption decisions take place simultaneously and should be estimated as such. In this section we were only able to extend the consumption function by adding production-related variables. Given these caveats, nevertheless we proceed with this following exercise:

Table 2.8 presents three alternative calculations of food expenditure and own price elasticities. The 'demand system' columns are obtained from estimation of demand systems after dropping self-provisioning from the demand system<sup>27</sup>. The 'OLS' columns are calculated using coefficient estimates from Table 2.7, columns two, four and six for

 $<sup>^{27}</sup>$  These estimates are almost identical to estimates in Tables 2.7. In calculating Tables 2.7, we obtained the coefficient estimates from a demand system which included the self-provisioning variable.



the dairy and egg food group to ensure that the differences between elasticity estimates are not due to employing OLS instead of FGLS estimation but rather due to the addition of new variables. A quick inspection of Table 2.8 reveals that elasticities calculated using the coefficient estimates from the demand system and single equation OLS regressions are close. Finally, the "OLS with production" columns are calculated from columns three, five and seven from Table 2.7. The comparison of columns 'demand system' and 'OLS with production' reveals that the elasticity estimates for cereals and vegetables are almost identical in both specifications. The situation is different for the dairy and egg food group, especially for rural areas. The food expenditure elasticity estimate without including the production-related variables is 0.80, whereas when the production-related variables are introduced the elasticity estimate is 0.76 for rural areas. We infer that demand system overestimates both the food expenditure and the own-price elasticities for the dairy and egg food group. The difference in estimates is greatest for expenditure elasticity in rural areas.

		Food ex	penditure	elasticity	own-price elasticity			
		Demand system	OLS	OLS with production	Demand system	OLS	OLS with production	
	Total	1.09	1.14	1.10	-0.82	-0.87	-0.84	
Cereal	Urban	1.08	1.10	1.09	-0.69	-0.71	-0.70	
	Rural	1.14	1.21	1.16	-1.02	-1.14	-1.10	
	Total	0.88	0.90	0.90	-0.78	-0.79	-0.79	
Vegetable	Urban	0.90	0.90	0.90	-0.77	-0.80	-0.79	
	Rural	0.85	0.89	0.89	-0.80	-0.80	-0.79	
Daimy P.	Total	0.81	0.78	0.76	-0.74	-0.71	-0.71	
Dairy &	Urban	0.80	0.76	0.76	-0.75	-0.73	-0.73	
ngg	Rural	0.87	0.80	0.76	-0.76	-0.71	-0.70	

 Table 2.8: Comparison of elasticities calculated when production side variables excluded and included

In this last exercise, we find no evidence that elasticity estimates would have been different if nonseparation was not ignored for the cereals and vegetables food groups.



However, this is not the case for dairy and egg consumption. Ignoring nonseparation of consumption and production decisions of dairy and egg products leads overestimation of expenditure and own-price elasticities. The direction of change is parallel to the findings of de Janvry et al., (1991) for Morocco. In the presence of market failures, households are less responsive to incentives through market mechanisms (e.g., price changes) than the perfect-markets case would predict.

#### 2.7 Concluding Remarks

In this chapter we present evidence that self-provisioning of certain food groups accounts for a significant portion of rural household food baskets. Especially, the selfprovisioning of more than 50 percent of dairy products is a tell-tale sign of incomplete markets in the production and consumption of dairy products.

We test for separation of production and consumption decisions using the SIS 2003 data set. Following the framework outlined by Benjamin (1992), we test and reject the null hypothesis of separation, and conclude that the production and consumption decisions are nonseparable. Inspired by the technique used by Hoddinott & Haddad (1995) to test for different effects of male and female incomes on household consumption, in these tests we employ the budget share of self-provisioning (and alternative versions) as means to test separation. If decisions to produce and consume are indeed separable, then the budget share of self-provisioning should not influence the consumption decision. In the case of well-functioning markets and separation of production and consumption decisions, the household treats itself as any other retail outlet. The existence of an in-house supermarket should not affect the decisions about the budget share of food groups. The tests reveal that separation is not the case for Turkey.



Next we shift our attention to the policy relevance of nonseparation. Due to data limitations we are unable to construct models for both production and consumption and solve them simultaneously. Instead, we simply extend the consumption model to include some production-related variables. For cereals and vegetables, the inclusion of production-related variables in the food consumption model does not change the elasticity estimates. However, the conclusion is different for the dairy and egg food group. We find that ignoring nonseparation leads to significant over-estimation of ownprice and expenditure elasticities in this group.

Consumption of animal products is especially important for Turkish policy makers. On the one hand, independent researchers like FAO (2001), Pekcan & Karaağaoğlu (2000), Sengul and Tuncer (2005), and Akbay et al., (2007) all agree that there is no shortage of food in Turkey; the nutrition problem is mal distribution of food. On the other hand, the panel put together by State Planning Institute (OIK, 2006) concludes that Turkey is short of animal products and that Turkish consumers are at risk of under-consuming animal-sourced calories and proteins, and strongly advocates reforms to modernize the animal husbandry sector to boost domestic supply. Leaving aside the issue of whether plant-sourced calories and proteins are good substitutes for animal-sourced calories and proteins, if the policy goal is to ensure the availability of enough animal calories then ignoring the nonseparation of production and consumption decisions in rural households is a more serious matter than just the over-estimation of elasticities. In Turkey, fifteen percent of the food budget is devoted to dairy products and eggs (and an additional 13.6 percent is devoted to meat and meat products). Since selfprovisioning of animal products is especially crucial for these rural areas where poverty



40

is more severe (Sengul and Tuncer, 2005), ignoring the nonseparation of consumption and production decisions is an especially costly mistake from a nutrition perspective. Policies that discourage small-scale animal husbandry in the name of modernization and efficiency can have the unintended effect of reducing animal-sourced food consumption among poor rural households.



#### **CHAPTER 3**

# THE IMPLICATIONS OF FOOD SELF-PROVISIONING FOR POVERTY MEASUREMENT IN TURKEY

#### 3.1 Introduction, Motivation and Hypothesis Formulation

In this chapter we show that poverty lines and the corresponding poverty measures that are conventionally calculated suffer from being not grounded in economic theory appropriate to rural areas. When constructing poverty lines and the corresponding poverty measures, all rural households routinely are lumped together. However, in the previous chapter we have shown that self-provisioning rural households face different prices for the food items produced and consumed within households, and as a result have significantly different food consumption baskets vis-à-vis other rural and urban households. We observed that food self-provisioning forms a significant portion of total consumption, especially for dairy products, vegetables and some cereal products. These observed differences in the food basket were shown to be statistically significant in an almost ideal demand system that includes the share of self-provisioned food as an instrumental variable.

Statistical significance does not always mean economic or policy significance. Assessing economic and policy significance is one of the chief goals of this dissertation. In this chapter, we recalculate poverty lines by taking into account food self-provisioning among rural households and show that corresponding poverty measures differ significantly. The composition and the cost of food basket is a key determinant of the poverty line. Food self-provisioning affects both the composition of the food basket (as



shown in previous chapter) and the corresponding cost. Hence it should affect the estimation of poverty line, the corresponding poverty measures and the resulting poverty profile.

# 3.1.1 Background

Sadoulet & De Janvry (1995) explain the existence of food self-provisioning in terms of incomplete markets: "a market may fail for a particular household when it faces wide price margins between the low price at which it could sell a commodity or the factor and the high price at which it could buy that product or factor" (p. 149). They cite as the most common causes of incomplete markets transaction costs due to poor infrastructure, local merchants' monopoly and monopsony power, shallow local markets because of high covariation between local supply and prices, risk aversion of farmers who are wary of price risk of products and household needs, and limited access to credit that leads to substitution of cash outlays with home grown food (Sadoulet and de Janvry, 1995; pp. 149-150). In other words, food self-provisioning is regarded as a symptom of limited integration into national and global markets. As a result, self-provisioning rural households are regularly considered to be backward and poor. In this chapter, we show that, on the contrary, self-provisioning households in rural Turkey are not poorer than other rural households, and that they are much more secure nutritionally.

#### **3.1.2 Motivation and Hypothesis Formulation**

Poverty lines are regularly calculated separately for urban and rural households, as long as the sample size is large enough and the sampling method is appropriate to



allow representation. For example, Haughton & Khandker (2009) note the following while discussing the approach taken for Cambodia in 1999:

Separate poverty lines were constructed for each of three major regions [Phnom Penh, other urban, rural], based on the prices prevailing in those areas; whether a household in any given region is poor is then determined by comparing its expenditure per capita with the appropriate regional poverty line. (p. 42)

When the prevailing prices differ between regions, it is common sense to take this difference into account in poverty line calculation. We have shown in the previous chapter that the average food basket of self-provisioning rural households in Turkey is statistically significantly different than that of other rural households who are exclusively dependent on retail purchases, because they face different prices (i.e. shadow prices for some food items instead of retail prices). If so, calculating separate poverty lines for rural households according to whether or not they consume home produce is also common sense and the theoretically correct approach. Rural households who self-provision decide on what to produce and consume simultaneously, taking into account not only the market prices for factors and products but also the shadow prices for internally supplied factors of production, notably land and labor. Since self-provisioning rural households do not decide which food items to consume solely on retail food prices, it follows that the corresponding food basket for the calculation of the poverty line applied to them should not be based solely on the basis of retail prices.

We find that the rate of poverty for self-provisioning rural households declines when we reconstruct the poverty line according to the theoretically correct approach. This is because of the way that self-provisioned food is treated in the Turkish survey data. Since there is no observed price for food consumed in-kind, researchers at State Institute of Statistics (hereafter SIS) decided to impute regional wholesale prices to self-



44

provisioned food. As a result, when we compare two similar households – the only difference being one of the households produces and consumes some of its own food – who consume exactly the same quantities of food and non-food items, we will incorrectly conclude that self-provisioning household is poorer than the one that relies solely on retail purchases, because retail prices are higher than wholesale prices<sup>28</sup>. In other words, the total consumption of the self-provisioning household is undervalued. At the same time, because the SIS uses compared to a poverty line which is constructed using a weighted average of in-kind and retail food prices, poverty among rural households that rely entirely on retail purchases is underestimated because these households have no access to in-kind food which is cheaper. In other words, a one-size-fits-all rural poverty line that ignores this distinction is higher than correct the self-provisioning rural poverty line and lower than the poverty line for other rural households who buy food exclusively from retail outlets.

#### **3.1.3 Extension: Vulnerability to Poverty**

From year to year, some households are likely to move into and out of poverty. Many households who are just above the poverty line are very likely to move below the poverty line in the event of a negative shock like unemployment, unfavorable weather, or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Instead of calculating separate poverty lines for self-provisioning and other rural households we could have imputed the regional retail prices of substitute food products. Unfortunately this is easier said than done. SIS 2003 includes almost 300 food items where on average households report consuming 66 different items. Imputing average regional retail prices of so many items is a very arduous process. More importantly, food self-provisioning is not evenly distributed among regions or food items. Rather it is very concentrated in certain commodities (especially dairy, leafy greens and certain cereals) and regions. In practice this means that for regions and food items that self-provisioning is especially important, e.g. fluid milk in Eastern Black sea region, there are not many observation of retail prices to obtain reliable estimates.



a sudden illness. Among the poor, some households are likely to be chronically poor due to lack of assets, education or debilitating illness, while others are transitionally poor due to unfavorable weather or life-cycle characteristics (e.g., they are just about to graduate from college). From a policy perspective, it is important to identify not only who is currently poor but also who is vulnerable to poverty.

Poor and potentially poor households are exposed to many risks that can push them to poverty. As a result, households try to mitigate their exposure to risks by diversifying their production and income sources. Households use their assets and endowments to derive incomes in different forms (including in-kind income), which in turn entitles them to goods and services that allow them to obtain different levels of wellbeing (Dercon, 2001: 16-17). Households face risks at every stage of this process: the security of assets, converting household's endowments to income, securing desired goods and services with income, and converting goods and services to well-being. We propose that food self-provisioning is a risk-mitigating strategy that allows households to eliminate food price risk to which they are exposed while converting income to desired goods and services. By consuming from home produce, households ensure that they will have access to some food no matter what happens in product markets.

Studying food self-provisioning allows us to contribute to the literature on vulnerability to poverty by highlighting multiple dimensions of vulnerability to poverty:

• First, we find that self-provisioning rural households are much less vulnerable to undernutrition than other sub-groups of population.



46

- Second, we find that these households are as vulnerable as other rural households to income poverty. Indeed, engaging in low-risk, low-return activities can reduce overall income.
- Third, food self-provisioning can also shed light on the contribution of the commons in reducing vulnerability to poverty and undernutrition. In Turkey, the most common self-provisioned food group is dairy products. The small-scale farmers who are most likely to raise farm animals for home consumption as a secondary activity<sup>29</sup> rely heavily on the surrounding grazing commons.
- Fourth, studying food self-provisioning illuminates the usefulness of livestock as quasi-financial assets in time of macro shocks. Dercon (2001) notes that "Livestock [is] in many areas the favored source of savings for (not so) rainy day" (p. 44). However, livestock cannot fulfill its function of a rainy day fund as effectively when the negative shock is a macro shock (sometimes also called common, systemic, aggregate shock, or covariate risk) where the whole region is affected and many households in the region try to sell their animals simultaneously substantially depressing prices.

This chapter focuses on the first two dimensions, presenting a detailed picture of vulnerability to undernutrition and income poverty broken down to subgroups. Data limitations prevent a comparable in-depth treatment of the availability of commons and vulnerability to negative shocks.

The rest of the chapter is organized as follows. We explain the construction of poverty lines and poverty measures in detail in Section 3.2.1. In the remainder of Section

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The overwhelming majority of small-scale farmers in Turkey are crop producers.



3.2 we present and discuss our findings. Section 3.3 opens with a more detailed discussion of vulnerability to poverty. We then explain the methodology used in our vulnerability analysis, discuss the explanatory variables in the models, and present the results. Section 3.4 concludes by tying together and recapping the findings of this chapter.

#### **3.2 Poverty Measures**

In this chapter, we employ Turkey's Household Budget Survey from 2003 (hereafter SIS 2003). This is a cross-section data set with 25,764 households, of whom 7,486 reside in rural areas. The State Institute of Statistics classifies 4,154 of those rural households as consuming to some extent from home produce (hereafter "self-provisioning rural") and the rest, 3,332 rural households, as relying entirely on market purchases for food (hereafter "other rural")<sup>30</sup>.

In Sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3, we calculate poverty lines according to two different approaches that exist in the poverty literature for Turkey. In Section 3.2.2 we follow the more common approach, known as basic needs, where the poverty line is constructed based on the observed consumption patterns of sample households. This methodology is also called the "welfare approach" because the starting point is the observed decisions of sampled households. The second approach calculates poverty lines based on a preconceived food basket that is deemed to be well-balanced and nutritious by nutrition experts. This food basket – taken from Baysal (1995) – is priced at median prices paid by second quintile households. This approach ignores non-food consumption, and defines

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> There are 656 urban households who consume some amount of home produce but the share of self-provisioned food is so small that we ignore them in this study.



poverty in terms of whether the actual monthly spending on food is enough to afford the well-balanced and nutritious food basket<sup>31</sup>. Since the starting point is not actual consumption behavior of sample households but a pre-conceived food basket, this approach is sometimes called the "non-welfare approach".

In calculating the welfare and non-welfare poverty lines, it is conventional to calculate separate lines for rural and urban areas. We follow this convention and then expand it by calculating two poverty lines (both in the case of basic needs and non-welfare approaches) for rural households according to whether or not they engage in food self-provisioning. In Section 3.2.2 we present and compare poverty measures that are calculated both by a single poverty line for all rural households and alternatively poverty measures calculated by employing differing poverty lines for self-provisioning rural households. In Section 3.2.3 we present a parallel analysis of the non-welfare poverty line. Finally, in Section 3.2.4 we sum up what we have discovered by calculating these alternative poverty measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> It is always possible for a household to spend a lot on food and still not have a proper diet because of consuming unhealthy food, etc. In this study, like the previous one, we ignore all the issues relating to utilization of food; for example proper preparation and cooking; waste; buying nutritious food and instead we focus on access to food. That is whether the observed food budget is enough to cover the food needs of household. Likewise, we also ignore all the issues that are likely to arise during the allocation of food between household members. Even though all the analysis in this paper is presented in per capita terms the actual observations are at household level and hence we do not observe individual's actual consumption.



# 3.2.1 Constructing the Basic Needs Poverty Line

We closely follow the methodology of the *Turkey Joint Poverty Assessment Report* (WB & SIS, 2005)<sup>32</sup> to construct the welfare poverty line for Turkey, except with one major improvement. The Joint Report calculates one poverty line for all Turkey because it uses a smaller sample collected during 2002. We employ the much larger and more nationally representative SIS 2003 and calculate separate poverty lines for urban and rural areas as the reference case<sup>33</sup>. Then we further split the rural households into two groups - self-provisioning and non-self provisioning – calculate separate poverty lines for both groups, and compare the corresponding poverty profiles to the reference case.

The first step in determining the welfare poverty line is to sort the households into quintiles according to their total per capita monthly food spending. Once the households in the sample are sorted into quintiles, we use the consumption behavior of the second quintile to determine the calorie share of each food group in the food basket.

The second step is to make sure that the representative food basket contains enough calories. We choose a level of 2,100 calories per capita per day<sup>34</sup>. By determining the total calorie amount independent of sampled observations, we assure that the poverty line will ensure access to adequate calories. At the same time, by determining the calorie share of food basket by observing second-quintile households, we ensure that the food

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> SIS also bases their calculations on 2,100 calories per day. The Joint Report calculates poverty line based on both 2,100 and 2,450 calories per day. The poverty lines satisfying 2,450 calories a day is simply 16.7 percent higher than poverty line for 2,100 calories.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> The report was jointly prepared by World Bank's Human Development Sector Unit, Europe and Central Asian Region and Turkey State Institute of Statistics (SIS); hereafter Joint Report.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Calculating the poverty line separately for rural and urban areas is the default approach for many other World Bank studies. Please see Chapter 3 of World Bank's Handbook on Poverty and Inequality (Haughton & Khandker, 2009) for examples from Cambodia, Vietnam, and Indonesia etc.

basket represents the consumption habits of poor and near-poor. Third, we price the representative food budget. To do so, we consider three groups one-by-one and determine the mean price paid by second-quintile households in each group.

- The *urban* representative food basket is priced by the mean prices second quintile urban households pay.
- The representative food basket of *self-provisioning rural households* is priced with the mean price second quintile self-provisioning rural households face. Since the wholesale prices are imputed for shadow prices, in practice the mean prices paid by self-provisioning rural households are a weighted average retail and imputed prices. The weights differ for food groups. For example, 42 percent of all cereals consumed by self-provisioning rural households in the second quintile are from home produce, compared to 83 percent of yogurt, 66 percent of fluid milk and zero percent of sugar.
- *Other rural households'* food basket is also priced by the mean price secondquintile other rural households pay. Since these households rely on market purchases, the corresponding prices are rural retail prices.

At the fourth step, we multiply the food basket by a constant to account for the non-food needs of households. SIS reports that in 2003 on average food accounts for 40.3 percent of total spending for the households just above poverty line<sup>35</sup>. Hence we multiply

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> The food share of each sub-group is significantly different than the 40.3 percent. However, multiplying each sub-group with the inverse of corresponding food share in the total expenditures would add one more dimension to the difference in poverty lines. By multiplying all sub-groups with the inverse of 40.3 percent we ensure that the corresponding differences in poverty lines is surely due to corresponding prices and differences in food baskets.



representative food basket by 2.48 to obtain the poverty line for each corresponding group.

The final step is to convert the per capita household expenditure to adult equivalents. There is no consensus in the literature about how to convert the raw family size to adult equivalents (Deaton & Zaidi, 2002). In practice, there are as many equivalence scale formulae as there are international organizations: for example, different formulae are used by the World Bank, OECD, FAO, etc. We choose to follow SIS's methodology in the Joint Report (2005) with the World Bank for the purpose of comparability.

$$AE_{-}ADJ_{i} = \frac{A_{0} + C_{0}}{(A_{0} + \alpha C_{0})^{\theta}} AE_{i}$$
(3.1)

where AE\_ADJ is adjusted adult equivalent; subscript *i* stands for household numbers;  $A_0$  is the number of adults in modal household (two);  $C_0$  is the number of children in the modal household (two);  $\alpha$  is taken as 0.9; and  $\theta$  is taken as 0.6; and  $AE_i = (A_i + \alpha C_i)^{\theta}$ . The modal household in Turkey is the nuclear family with two adults and two children. In this formulation the adjusted adult equivalent of the modal household is still four. The adjusted equivalent of a one person household is 1.8. Even though our observations are household level, every calculation in this chapter – except Table A2.1 – is done on adult equivalent per capita basis.

We report various poverty measures. The headcount rate reports the percentage of households that are below the corresponding poverty line. The poverty gap index adds up the percentage by which per capita expenditures fall below the poverty line on average (averaged over all observations – not only for poor households):



$$P_{1} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i}^{N} \frac{(z - y_{i})}{z} \qquad \text{if} \qquad y_{i} < z \qquad (3.2)$$

where z is the poverty line, N is the total sample size and  $y_i$  is the adult equivalent per capita expenditure. Intuitively, multiplying poverty gap index by poverty line will yield the minimum necessary amount of money to lift all poor people above poverty line. Both the headcount poverty rate and poverty gap index violate the transfer principle for a good measure of welfare formulated by (Dalton, 1920). Dalton's transfer principle states that transfers from a poorer to a richer person should increase the poverty measure. For example, the headcount rate will decline by transferring income from a person at the bottom of the scale to push a person just below the poverty line over it. An alterative poverty measure that satisfies Dalton's transfer principle is the poverty severity index, where poverty gaps of the poor households are squared, which effectively gives greater weight to the gaps of the poorest:

$$P_{2} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i}^{N} \left( \frac{(z - y_{i})}{z} \right)^{2} \quad \text{if} \quad y_{i} < z$$
(3.3)

A general formula that encompasses headcount rate, poverty gap index, and poverty severity index is proposed by (Foster, Greer, & Thorbecke, 1984):

$$P_{\alpha} = \frac{1}{N} \sum_{i}^{N} \left( \frac{(z - y_i)}{z} \right)^{\alpha}, \ (\alpha \ge 0) \text{ and } y_i < z$$
(3.4)

When  $\alpha$  is equal to zero, the FGT measure is simply equal to headcount rate. When  $\alpha$  is equal to one the FGT measure is equal to the poverty gap index. When  $\alpha$  is greater than one, the FGT measure captures the severity of poverty<sup>36</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> For measuring the severity of poverty,  $\alpha$  equaling two is the usual rule of thumb, although there is no a priori theoretical basis for preferring this to other values for  $\alpha$ .



#### 3.2.2 Consumption Poverty in Turkey, 2003

Table 3.1 presents the poverty lines calculated according to the basic needs approach. All four food baskets add up to 2,100 calories a day. The bread and cereals food groups account for slightly more than half of calories in every specification. As can be seen from the Table 3.1, the distribution of consumption indeed varies due to urban / rural differences and depending on whether rural households are self-provisioning or not. The first notable difference in cereals consumption between self-provisioning rural households and the rest is due to home-grown grains for bulgur and flour for home-made bread. The second notable difference is in the consumption of vegetables: tomatoes and cucumbers account for almost all of the rural-urban difference, there is not much difference in the availability of leafy greens. Third, consistent with our discussion in the previous chapter, the self-provisioning households consume substantially more dairy products (210 grams versus 130 grams) yet the corresponding difference in expenditure on dairy products is much smaller. Second quintile self-provisioning rural households on the one hand consume more cereals -the cheapest source of calories - vis-à-vis other groups, and on the other hand more dairy products, a relatively expensive source of calories (even when sourced from home produce). The net result is monthly food budget of 64 Turkish Lira (TL), 17 percent less than urban food budget (77 TL).

Based on these results, we construct two sets of poverty lines: the base case includes only the urban and rural distinction and ignores self-provisioning; in the second set, rural households are further differentiated according to whether they self-provision or rely solely on retail purchases for food needs. Our aim is to compare the resulting poverty



54

measures to see if the extra computations required for calculating a separate poverty line for self-provisioning households are justified by the new insights this can provide.

					Self-pr	ovisioning		
	U	rban		Rural	R	lural	Rura	l other
Food group	kg	daily cost	kg	daily cost	kg	daily cost	kg	daily cost
Bread	0.27	0.33	0.11	0.15	0.07	0.09	0.18	0.24
Cereals	0.12	0.16	0.24	0.24	0.28	0.25	0.18	0.22
Meat	0.03	0.15	0.02	0.09	0.02	0.07	0.03	0.13
Fats and oils	0.04	0.09	0.03	0.08	0.03	0.08	0.04	0.09
Vegetables	0.34	0.33	0.29	0.27	0.28	0.26	0.30	0.30
Fruits	0.16	0.15	0.13	0.12	0.12	0.10	0.14	0.14
Dairy & egg	0.15	0.19	0.18	0.19	0.21	0.19	0.13	0.16
Sugar, Jam & Honey	0.05	0.11	0.05	0.11	0.05	0.11	0.05	0.11
Tea and coffee	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01	0.00	0.01
Beverage	0.02	0.03	0.01	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02
Other food	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
	1.16	1.55	1.07	1.27	1.06	1.17	1.08	1.41
days in a month		30.417		30.417		30.417		30.417
adult equivalent*		1.80		1.80		1.80		1.80
food poverty line, TL		85		69		64		77
food share		40.3%		40.3%		40.3%		40.3%
Basic needs monthly poverty line TL		210		172		159		191
Mean expenditure. TL		272		174		159		187
sample size		18,278		7,486		4,154		3,332

 Table 3.1: Representative food basket satisfying 2,100 calories per day

 Self-provisioning

\*: see Equation 1 for the formula for the calculation of adult equivalence scales. The average exchange rate for 2003 is 1.5 TL for \$1 at current prices, and 0.732 TL for \$1 at PPP.

Table 3.2 presents the poverty measures,<sup>37</sup> calculated using ADEPT software released by the World Bank. The left half of the table presents the poverty measures calculated using the reference poverty lines for urban and rural areas, and the right half of the table shows the poverty measures calculated using the three poverty lines: urban, rural self-provisioning, and rural other. Since the poverty line for urban areas is the same in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Other poverty measures like Sen Index etc. are also available upon request. They yield results similar to the squared poverty gap.



both calculations, the calculated urban poverty measures are identical. Furthermore, the overall poverty measures for rural areas are very close.<sup>38</sup>

	urban an	d rural pov	verty line	Urban, self-provisioning, and other rural poverty lines			
	Headcount Rate (P0)	Poverty Gap (P1)	Squared Poverty Gap (P2)	Headcount Rate (P0)	Poverty Gap (P1)	Squared Poverty Gap (P2)	
Urban	0.22	0.07	0.03	0.22	0.07	0.03	
Rural	0.31	0.10	0.04	0.31	0.10	0.04	
Rural self-provisioning	g 0.34	0.11	0.05	0.30	0.09	0.04	
Rural other	0.27	0.09	0.04	0.32	0.11	0.05	
Total	0.25	0.08	0.04	0.26	0.08	0.04	

 Table 3.2: Overall Basic Needs Poverty

However, when we calculate the poverty measures separately for each rural subgroup, it becomes clear that selection of poverty lines does make a difference for identifying the rural poor: with separate poverty lines, measured poverty for selfprovisioning households goes down, while measured poverty for other rural households goes up. Figure 3.1 illustrates the point. In Figure 3.1, three vertical lines represent alternative poverty lines. The middle poverty line is the rural poverty line (at 172 TL) obtained when rural households are not differentiated according to whether they selfprovision for food or not. The vertical line on the left represents the poverty line for selfprovisioning rural households (at 159 TL) and the vertical line on the right is the poverty line for other rural households (at 191 TL). The curved lines represent the cumulative percentage of self-provisioning and other rural households at every monthly spending

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Because of rounding the overall rural poverty measures looks identical both on the left and right half of Table 2, they are not nevertheless the differences are statistically insignificant. SIS reports overall poverty rate for 2003 as 28.1 percent for Turkey; 22.3 percent for urban areas and 37.1 percent for rural areas. SIS's findings are somewhat higher than our findings both for urban and rural areas.


level<sup>39</sup>. The fact that the solid line (representing the self-provisioning rural households) is above the dashed line (which represents the other rural households) at every spending level means that the self-provisioning rural households are relatively concentrated at the lower spending levels.



Figure 3.1: Poverty incidence curves for rural households

When the rural households are not differentiated according to whether they selfprovision or not, the corresponding poverty line is the middle vertical line and as can be seen from Figure 3.1, the corresponding headcount rate for self-provisioning rural households is significantly higher (at 34 percent) than headcount rate for other rural

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> We truncate the data set at 400 TL monthly spending because a couple of observations at the top of income scale stretch the x-axis towards 30,000 TL and make the lower level spending unreadable. As Figure 1 shows roughly 80 percent of all rural households in our data set spends less than 400 TL per month.



households (at 27 percent). However, when rural households are compared to the differentiated poverty lines, the headcount rate is 30 percent for self-provisioning rural households and 32 percent for other rural households. In other words, not differentiating rural households according to whether they self-provision overstates the headcount rate for self-provisioning rural households by four percent and understates the headcount rate for other rural households by five percent. The change is in the expected direction.

As we mentioned earlier, theoretically it is appropriate to compare selfprovisioning rural households to the self-provisioning poverty line because these rural households effectively face different prices (the shadow price that they face when allocating household resources between food products destined to market and home consumption). These different prices in turn lead to different food consumption baskets as is evident in Table 3.1. In principle, comparing rural households to different poverty lines according to whether they self-provision or not is the correct approach. In practice, it makes a significant difference in our diagnosis of rural poverty. Hence we conclude that the additional burden required to follow the differentiated approach is justified.

#### 3.2.3 Non-welfare Food Poverty in Turkey, 2003

We repeat a similar comparison of food poverty with the "non-welfare" poverty measurement method. This was the preferred methodology of SIS before 2002. Sengul & Tuncer (2005) apply this methodology to calculate various poverty measures for SIS 1994, providing a reference point to compare our findings for SIS 2003. For this purpose, we use the Hacettepe University Basket (named after the home institution of the researchers who developed the food basket) which is deemed to be a nutritious and balanced diet taken from a nutrition book (Baysal, 1995). The Hacettepe University



Basket is much richer in total and animal calories than the representative baskets obtained from sampled households (Joint Report, 2005: 5-6). Table A2.1 in Appendix shows the composition (second column) and the least cost of the monthly balanced and nutritious food basket for a four-person household (two adults and two children). The observed differences between food basket costs are solely due to the difference in median prices facing different sub-groups of the population<sup>40</sup>. The self-provisioning rural households' food basket is the cheapest, primarily due to the differences in the cost of dairy products: the same monthly basket of dairy products costs 34.7 TL for urban households and 26.5 for self-provisioning rural households.

The least-cost food budgets from Table A2.1 are not directly comparable with the food basket in Table 3.1 because i) the Hacettepe food budget is constructed for a two-adult, two-child household, whereas the welfare method food basket is calculated for one adult equivalent; and ii) the non-welfare food poverty line is intended to measure whether actual food spending is enough to meet the least cost of a balanced and nutritious food basket, so it has no provision for non-food basic needs. We follow Sengul and Tuncer (2005) and compare the least-cost food basket<sup>41</sup> to actual food budget of sample households to determine the food poverty rate, ignoring spending on non-food items. Sengul & Tuncer (2005) report the headcount food poverty rate for all Turkey as 46.8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> We us median prices instead of mean prices paid by second quintile households in order to reach the least-cost food basket since median prices are somewhat lower than mean prices.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> The categories in Hacettepe food basket is too broad compare to the SIS 2003 food consumption data and we are still required to decide on the exact proportion of narrowly defined food groups. For example the food basket calls for consumption of six kg of meat products monthly but does not specify how much of six kg should sourced from chicken, fish, lamb or beef. We resorted to use the observed share of actual consumption of second quintile of all sample to determine these sub-group shares to ensure that all of the baskets are exactly equal and only difference is due to prices.

percent, for urban areas 48.3 percent and for rural areas 44.2 percent (they did not distinguish within rural households) while employing 1994 Household Budget Survey data from SIS (SIS, 1994). These estimates are very close to ours, which suggests that food poverty calculated with the non-welfare method has changed little from 1994 to 2003. The minimal change is expected. The Joint Report (2005) calculates a 28.3 percent headcount poverty rate for 1994 data set, based on the welfare methodology developed for 2002 and beyond (after some slight adjustments due to the more limited nature of available data in the 1994 survey). Thus, the poverty rate calculated with the basic needs approach declined only slightly from 28.3 to 28.1 percent between 1994 and 2003.

Table 3.3 presents the food poverty rates in Turkey for 2003 for self-provisioning rural households and other rural households according to the non-welfare method<sup>42</sup>. Again comparing these to the poverty measures that are obtained when rural households are not differentiated, we find that the conventional approach overstates poverty for self-provisioning rural households and understates poverty for other rural households. Irrespective of how the non-welfare rural poverty line is constructed, it is evident that food insecurity by this measure is much more prevalent and deep for other rural households<sup>43</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Joint Report (2005) concludes that rural diet is lower quality because on average rural households eats more bread than urban households. We now know that the real picture is more complicated and lower quality of diet is especially common among other rural households.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> For the interested reader, we present the food poverty using the food baskets from Table 1 in Table A2. The poverty profile is broadly similar to Hacettepe food basket's presented in Table 3.

	Urban an	d rural pov	erty line	Urban, self-provisioning, and other rural poverty lines			
	Headcount Rate(P0)	Poverty Gap(P1)	Squared Poverty Gap(P2)	Headcount Rate(P0)	Poverty Gap(P1)	Squared Poverty Gap(P2)	
Urban	0.46	0.14	0.06	0.46	0.14	0.07	
Rural	0.43	0.14	0.06	0.43	0.14	0.07	
Rural self-provisioning	0.37	0.11	0.04	0.34	0.10	0.04	
Rural other	0.48	0.17	0.08	0.51	0.18	0.09	
Total	0.45	0.14	0.06	0.45	0.14	0.07	

Table 3.3: Non-welfare food poverty

Furthermore, when we differentiate among rural households, we discover that the severity of food poverty is less among self-provisioning rural households even compared to urban households. This finding is not entirely surprising because the Hacettepe Basket is rich in animal calories, vegetables,<sup>44</sup> and fruits compared to the actual consumption of the sampled households, and self-provisioning is concentrated in dairy products, leafy greens and some cereals. In other words, self-provisioning is concentrated in the more expensive calories that Hacettepe nutritionists recommend to consume.

#### **3.2.4 Discussion of Results**

The last row of Table 3.1 shows that self-provisioning rural households have lower per capita monthly spending levels than other rural households and urban households. Also, Figure 3.1 shows that self-provisioning rural households' median monthly spending is less than other rural households' spending. Furthermore, household heads of self-provisioning rural households on average are older (50.2 versus 47.4 for other rural and 45.8 for urban) and less educated (4.7 years, 6.4 years and 7.5 years,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> For example Table 3.1 shows that urban households consume roughly 0.39 kg per day of vegetables (or roughly 21.3 kg per adult equivalent per month) whereas Hacettepe basket includes 34 kg of vegetables.



respectively) than both other groups. Moreover, as we show in the next section, selfprovisioning is associated with poverty: the higher the budget share of self-provisioned food, the more likely the household is to be under poverty line. Despite these disadvantages, the incidence, depth and severity of poverty among self-provisioning rural households is not higher than that of other rural households according to basic needs approach. Moreover, all measures of food poverty with the non-welfare method are lower for self-provisioning rural households compared to both other rural households and the urban households. We can conclude that even if the self-provisioning of food is no cure for poverty in its many dimensions, at least self-provisioning can be a substantial remedy in attaining adequate calories, including the relatively expensive calories from dairy products.

The poverty line in the non-welfare approach is based on a food basket that is rich in expensive calories. Comparing these results to the basic needs approach, we can conclude that food self-provisioning in Turkey is not simply a strategy employed by the poorest households to scrape by. On the contrary, as will become clearer in the analysis of vulnerability to income poverty and undernutrition in the next section, the depth and severity of poverty are worst among the other rural households who cannot self-provision for food. In other words, households who can self-provision for food because they have control over requisite factors of production like land, labor and access to grazing commons (in the case of dairy consumption) can escape the deepest rungs of poverty.

Since the rural poverty line constructed according to whether rural households self-provision or not is the proper approach in theory and yields significantly different



www.manaraa.com

results in practice, we will use these poverty lines in the subsequent vulnerability analysis.

#### **3.3 Vulnerability to Poverty**

Section 3.3 is devoted to studying vulnerability to poverty in Turkey, again using the SIS 2003 data set. We follow Haughton & Khandker (2009) and adopt the outcomebased definition of vulnerability to poverty: "the propensity to suffer a significant welfare shock, bringing the household below a socially defined minimum level," (p. 234) which is adapted from Alwang, Siegel, & Jorgensen (2001). We study two dimensions of vulnerability to poverty: vulnerability to income poverty and undernutrition. We use the poverty line calculated with the basic needs approach as the absolute measure of wellbeing for vulnerability to income poverty, and the poverty line calculated with the nonwelfare approach to analyze vulnerability to undernutrition.

Vulnerability to poverty is rarely studied empirically, because of methodological difficulties that will become clearer as we proceed. Vulnerability to poverty is ideally studied using panel data sets that allow researchers to identify households who move into and out of poverty (or remain permanently poor). Panel data sets would allow us to observe changes in income and nutrition from one period to next, to model the impact of specific shocks. Unfortunately, the 2003 Household Budget Survey (like most household expenditure surveys) is only a cross-section data set. Despite the resulting methodological problems, we make a first attempt to calculate vulnerability to poverty in Turkey.

In his framework for analyzing vulnerability to poverty, Dercon (2001: 17) points out that households have control over labor (human capital), land (physical capital), family networks (social capital), and common and public goods (like surrounding grazing



areas) that they can employ or sell to derive income and increase or sustain their wellbeing. Households are faced with numerous risks to the realization of well-being: death and illness can limit employment and returns to labor; the harvest can decline due to climatic shocks; governments can decide to reduce public provision of certain services like health, etc. Nevertheless, households are not totally powerless against vulnerabilities and they try to reduce exposure to risks and/or mitigate risks. Food self-provisioning is one of the risk-reduction strategies.

Following our findings in Section 3.2, we present the results of our vulnerability analysis not only for the sample as a whole but also for urban, self-provisioning rural and other rural sub-groups. This allows us to observe whether the control over productive farm assets (land, labor, and surrounding grazing areas) that self-provisioning households enjoy makes a difference vis-à-vis vulnerability to income poverty and undernutrition. By supplying some of the food needs within a household, self-provisioning reduces the exposure to price risk in food markets. It may also be an avenue for creating income from otherwise dormant productive factors like common grazing lands, whose exploitation is governed by informal institutional arrangements.

#### 3.3.1 Empirical Model

We choose consumption per capita for income poverty and monthly spending on food for undernutrition<sup>45</sup> as the outcome-based definition of vulnerability. We adopt the absolute poverty lines calculated in Section 3.2 as the 'socially defined minimum levels.' We follow the empirical model developed by Chaudhuri, Jalan, & Suryahadi (2002) to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Vulnerability can be studied for different dimensions like income, undernutrition, health or education.



study vulnerability to poverty when only cross-section data for one year is available, assuming that there will not be any significant change in the following year in any of the household characteristics. The vulnerability to experience negative shocks probably increases as the time horizon lengthens beyond a year, so studying vulnerability only for the following year probably will give us a conservative estimate of real vulnerability<sup>46</sup>.

Formally, the problem can be stated as follows: if the household's current consumption is  $c_{h,t}$  and if the poverty line is z, then a household is classified as poor if  $c_{h,t} \leq z$  and vulnerability to poverty in the next year can be defined as:

$$v_{h,t} = \Pr(c_{h,t+1} \le z) \tag{3.5}$$

where  $c_{h,t+1}$  is the expected consumption level of household in the next period, which is unobservable with a cross-section data set. In order to determine  $c_{h,t+1}$ , ideally we should have information about the assets the household could sell for consumption smoothing and the risks-associated probabilities that each household faces during the next year, like potential droughts, illnesses etc. And we also need information about the support systems that each household can rely on in case of a negative welfare shock. In other words, the ideal model would be:

$$c_{h,t} = c(X_h, \beta_t, \alpha_h, e_{ht}) \tag{3.6}$$

where  $X_h$  are observable household characteristics like education or assets owned;  $\beta_t$  are common shocks like financial instability;  $\alpha_h$  are unobserved, time-invariant household

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Pritchett, Suryahadi, & Sumarto (2000) study the vulnerability for next few years.
Dercon (2005) estimates that during 1994-7 in Ethiopia 78 percent of rural households have experienced at least once harvest failure, 40 percent labor problems (illness, death), 39 percent oxen problems (death, illness) (p. 9).



characteristics like family networks; and  $e_{h,t}$  is the error term that is supposed to account for idiosyncratic shocks that can affect one household but not necessarily other ones, for example, a non-communicable illness afflicting household member.

Obviously these are insurmountable data requirements especially from a crosssection data set. Chaudhuri et al., (2002) simplify the data requirements by the following methodology: if we know the expected level of per capita consumption in the next period,  $E(c_{t+1})$  the variance of expected per capita consumption in the next period,  $\sigma^2$  and the poverty line, *z*, and if we assume that the expected consumption per capita follows a known distribution (such as the normal distribution) then we can estimate vulnerability to poverty for the next period. For example, if the expected value of per capita consumption for a household for the next period is 272 TL, variance is 2500, the poverty line is 207, and if we assume that welfare shocks are normally distributed, then the probability of being poor is 9.6 percent<sup>47</sup>.

$$\ln c_{h,t} = X_h * b + e_h$$
where  $e_h \sim N(0, X_h \theta)$ 
(3.7)

Equation 3.7 is a simplified version of Equation 3.6 given the data availability from a single cross-section data set. We have to assume away the macro level shocks, and we cannot control for unobservable household characteristics like family networks that a household can rely upon in times of need.

The dependent variable in the simplified model (Equation 3.7) is the natural logarithm of adult equivalent per capita monthly consumption (or adult equivalent per

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> In excel by typing =normdist(207, 272, 50, 1) one can obtain 9.6 percent for the normal cumulative distribution.



capita monthly food spending)<sup>48</sup>. The variance of the error term is not constant but assumed to depend on household characteristics; hence in the second step, we regress squared values of  $e_h$  on the same independent variables from step one to obtain the estimates for  $\hat{\theta}$ , so that we can estimate the idiosyncratic variance ( $\sigma^2 = X_h \hat{\theta}$ ) for each household.

Once we obtain these variables we can estimate the vulnerability to poverty for each household  $(v_h)$  with Equation 3.8, where  $\Phi$  is the cumulative density function of the standard normal distribution:

$$\hat{V}_{h} = \Pr(\ln c_{h} < \ln z | X_{h}) = \Phi\left(\frac{\ln z - X_{h}\hat{b}}{\sqrt{X_{h}\hat{\theta}}}\right)$$
(3.8)

Pritchett et al., (2000) point out that the dependent variable, consumption, is measured with substantial error in household surveys. As a result of measurement error, they argue that the movement into and out of poverty is overstated and as a related matter the estimated variance,  $\sigma^2$ , is overstated too. Consequently, they revise their estimates of variance downward by 30 percent. We share their concern as to the impact of measurement errors on the estimated variance. They estimate measurement error with the following method: they estimate a bivariate Engel Curve where the dependent variable is food share in total expenditures and the explanatory variable is the natural logarithm of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Taking the natural logarithm of per capita consumption unfortunately did not ensure the normality of dependent variable in our sample. Nevertheless, we proceed with normality assumption in this draft. Alternatively, Kamanou & Morduch, (2004) and Kühl (2003) rely on actually observed distribution of errors of the consumption equation using bootstrapping.



expenditure per capita. They estimate the bivariate relationship first with OLS and then with instrumental variable (IV) approaches. Then they define the measurement error as one minus the ratio of coefficient estimates of OLS to IV: $1-(\beta_{OLS}/\beta_{IV})$ . We estimate  $\beta_{OLS}$  as -0.0905 and  $\beta_{IV}$  as -0.1374 where we use variables in Table 3.4, column three as instruments. Following Pritchett et al., (2000) measurement error in our sample is 35 percent. Hence, we revise our estimates of variance downward by 35 percent before utilizing them in Equation 3.8<sup>49</sup>.

#### 3.3.2 Data

We start our empirical analysis by estimating the probit model where the dependent variables are dummy variables denoting being poor or non-poor. Such probit models are customary in the poverty literature where their purpose is not to explain cause-and-effect relationship for poverty but to determine which of the easily observed characteristics of households (like location of residence, household size, education level, occupational categories and so on) associate most strongly with being poor. The goal is to form guidelines to use in subsequent anti-poverty campaigns for effective targeting of limited resources. The choice of explanatory variables heavily depends on common sense and data availability.

In choosing which independent variables to include to Equation 3.7, we start with the multivariate analysis in the Joint Report (2005: 40). The variables in common in the Joint Report and our study include: the number of children in the household; age,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> The results are broadly similar even without the correction of variance due to measurement error. Correcting the variance for measurement error only led roughly 1-2 percent shift from highly vulnerable category to low vulnerable category.



education level, and gender of household head; whether the household resides in a rural or urban area; dummy variables for the occupational category (employer, self-employed, salaried, day laborer) of employed member of household (we consider not only household head but all members of household); and whether any member of the household is covered by the social security system that gives access to free health care and eventual retirement benefits. Because we employ a much larger data set compared to the Joint Report (2005), that allows us to draw conclusions not only at the national level but at the regional level, we add dummy variables for regions (Istanbul is the omitted region). Also, the 2003 household budget survey has information on assets, so we include the natural logarithm of land value to the model, to control somewhat for assets on which households can rely to smooth consumption in case of a negative shock.

Following our findings in the previous chapter and sections, we include the budget share of self-provisioned food as a proxy to account for one of the mitigating strategies that the poor and vulnerable can use to reduce food insecurity. We also add the natural logarithm of average size of grazing areas in every region, as a very rough proxy for commons from which rural households may extract resources.

Table 3.4 presents the results of this exercise. The estimated coefficients in the first two columns show the change in probability of being poor when the independent variable changes infinitesimally for continuous variables and by one for dummy variables (i.e. these are not ordinary coefficient estimates from the probit model but marginal effects). For example, having a female household head increases the chance of being poor by 5.7 percent, and every additional year (age variable) decreases the probability of being poor by 0.47 percent. The dependent variable in the first column is whether the household



is poor or not according to basic needs approach. The second column is a similar analysis, in which the dependent variable is whether the household is poor or non-poor according to the non-welfare approach. Most explanatory variables have the same sign and significance both in the welfare and non-welfare approaches. The major exceptions are adult equivalent of household size and the dummy variable for female household heads (positive in the welfare approach and negative in non-welfare approach).

In an effort to investigate whether access to common resources have any effect on poverty, we employ average size of grazing areas in a region as a proxy for availability of environmental commons. This turns out statistically significant only at 10 percent in the probit model for non-welfare approach. Recall that in Chapter 2 Section 2.6.2, the average size of grazing area in a region is a significant and positive variable when we investigate dairy consumption. However, access to common grazing lands is associated with more poverty. One potential reason for counter-intuitive result in this model is the high level of aggregation in this variable; we obtain it not from SIS 2003 but construct it using the General Agricultural Survey of 2001 (SIS 2001) and impute it to regions. Hence we do not have a great deal of variation at the household level in this variable. The estimated coefficient on the budget share of self-provisioned food is positive and statistically significant: it is associated with a higher probability of poverty. This finding reinforces our conclusion from Section 3.2 that self-provisioning of food is a strategy used by rural poor – when it is available – to escape the deepest rungs of poverty (i.e., depth and severity of poverty is less prevalent among self-provisioning poor) but that it is not a cure to income poverty.



r r r r r r r r r	Probit	Probit	OLS	OLS
Dependent Variable		Non-welfare	log expenditure	log food
(1 poor; 0 non-poor):	welfare poor	poor	рс	spending pc
any member of hh, health insurance dv	-0.1568***	-0.0741***	0.2740***	-0.0062
hh size, adult equivalent	0.0139***	-0.1888***	-0.0522***	-0.0157***
dummy variable for female hh head	0.0577***	-0.0464***	-0.1258***	0.0668***
age of hh head	-0.0051***	-0.0075***	0.0109***	0.0056***
Dummy variable for urban location	-0.0129	0.0108	0.1503***	-0.0205*
number of children in the hh	0.0574***	0.0375***	-0.0855***	-0.0068
hh head, literate dummy variable	-0.0504***	-0.0466*	0.1338***	0.0624***
hh head, primary dummy variable	-0.1738***	-0.1204***	0.3464***	0.0780***
hh head, secondary dummy variable	-0.1724***	-0.1763***	0.5267***	0.0968***
hh head, high school dummy variable	-0.2160***	-0.2440***	0.7146***	0.1205***
hh head, higher education dummy variable	-0.2300***	-0.3511***	1.1639***	0.1623***
any member of hh, salaried dummy variable	-0.1155***	-0.0632***	0.1610***	0.0003
any member of hh, wage dummy variable	0.0046	-0.0085	-0.0452**	-0.0073
any member of hh, employer dv	-0.1482***	-0.1520***	0.6148***	-0.018
any member of hh, self-employed dv	-0.0605***	-0.0470***	0.1722***	-0.0008
any member of hh, unpaid dummy variable	-0.0523***	-0.0635***	0.0463**	0.0654***
any member of hh, physical dummy variable	0.1308***	0.0933***	-0.1332***	-0.0538***
East Marmara dummy variable	0.1803***	0.1993***	-0.3249***	-0.1057***
Aegean dummy variable	0.2291***	0.2047***	-0.3290***	-0.1157***
West Marmara dummy variable	0.1672***	0.1304***	-0.2918***	-0.0655***
Central dummy variable	0.1823***	0.1274***	-0.3065***	-0.0631***
Mediterranean dummy variable	0.2418***	0.1577***	-0.3326***	-0.0690***
Central East dummy variable	0.2724***	0.0825***	-0.4786***	0.0430*
Western Black sea dummy variable	0.3532***	0.1892***	-0.5211***	-0.0430**
Eastern Black sea dummy variable	0.2156***	0.1286***	-0.3927***	-0.0254
North East dummy variable	0.2640***	0.1173***	-0.4953***	0.0305
North Central dummy variable	0.2371***	0.0899***	-0.4726***	0.0085
South East dummy variable	0.4193***	0.0902***	-0.5551***	0.0696***
logarithm of land value	-0.0077***	-0.0111***	0.0153***	0.0067***
logarithm of average grazing areas	0.0217**	0.0234*	0.009	-0.0249**
budget percentage of self-provisioning	0.1540***	0.2315***	-0.4133***	-0.2327***
logarithm of monthly expenditure				0.3081***
Constant			4.5173***	2.0995***
Observations	25747	25747	25745	25745
R-squared			0.47	0.29

# Table 3.4: Probit estimates of being poor and OLS estimations of determinants of<br/>expenditure per capita and food consumption per capita

Robust z statistics; \* significant at 10%; \*\* significant at 5%; \*\*\* significant at 1%; dv= dummy variable

The third and fourth columns of Table 3.4 are the estimation results of Equation 3.7. We present and discuss the estimation of Equation 3.7 side-by-side with the probit



estimations, even though they serve different purposes, because it is interesting to note the change in the statistical significance of certain variables once the dependent variable changes from discrete to continuous. The independent variables are observed household characteristics<sup>50</sup>. Some of the variables which are highly influential (for example, the health insurance dummy and the number of children) in the non-welfare probit model turn out to be insignificant when the dependent variable is continuous.

The share of self-provisioning in the household food budget has negative signs both in columns three and four. In column three, where the dependent variable is the natural logarithm of total spending per capita, the negative sign means that the larger the share of food from self-provisioning, the lower the total per capita monthly spending. The more time household members devote to self-provisioning, the less time they work offfarm earning higher wages. We think that this interpretation is plausible, but the causal order may be reversed: when household members cannot find gainful employment offfarm, they devote their energy to grow their food for own consumption. In the fourth column, the dependent variable is the per capita monthly food budget. Here the negative coefficient on the self-provisioned food budget share is likely due to the fact that when converting in-kind consumption into monetary values, SIS officials impute regional wholesale prices; hence if a larger share of household food consumption is obtained inkind, a larger share is priced at relatively low prices. Hence the total spending on food will be lower when a larger share is sourced within household. As we show in Table 3.3, when the self-provisioning rural households are evaluated with a poverty line that takes

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> The only extra variable we include to column four in addition to column two is the natural logarithm of per capita monthly spending. We included monthly per capita spending as a control variable in order to get a better estimate for other variables.



into account that self-provisioned food items have substantially lower prices, the selfprovisioning rural households' food consumption poverty is substantially less than that of any other sub-group in our sample despite the lower total spending on food.

#### 3.3.3 Vulnerability according to Basic Needs Approach

After we obtain coefficient estimates for Equation 3.7, as reported in column three in Table 3.4, we perform the additional steps described in Section 3.3.1 to obtain vulnerability to poverty,  $\hat{v}_h$ , as shown in Equation 3.8. Table 3.5 summarizes the results. We label the households whose probability of being poor is more than 50 percent as highly vulnerable; households whose probability of being poor is less than 26 percent (which correspond to the overall poverty rate from Table 3.2) as not vulnerable, and households whose probability of being poor is between 26 percent as moderately vulnerable. These lines are arbitrary; as even households labeled as not vulnerable have a positive chance of falling into poverty during the next period. On the other hand, the labels help us to see if vulnerability is concentrated among any subgroups of population.

Unsurprisingly, the poor are more likely to be poor in the next period (in the whole sample, 0.12 out of 0.26). Likewise, seven out of ten (or 0.55 out of 0.74) of the current non-poor are unlikely to swing into poverty in the next period. In urban areas, only 15 percent of households are highly vulnerable to income poverty, compared to roughly 20 to 25 percent of rural households. When we compare self-provisioning rural households with other rural households we find that other rural households are slightly more probable to be highly vulnerable to income poverty in the next period.



				poor and
	Criterion	Poor	non-poor	non-poor
not vulnerable	v <sub>h</sub> <=.26	0.06	0.55	0.61
low vulnerable	$0.5 \ge v_h \ge .26$	0.07	0.14	0.22
highly vulnerable	$v_h > 0.5$	0.12	0.05	0.18
All groups		0.26	0.74	1.00
			Urban	
				Poor and
	Criterion	Poor	non-poor	non-poor
not vulnerable	v <sub>h</sub> <=.26	0.05	0.61	0.66
low vulnerable	$0.5 \ge v_h \ge .26$	0.07	0.12	0.19
highly vulnerable	v <sub>h</sub> >0.5	0.11	0.04	0.15
Urban		0.22	0.78	1.00
		Rui	ral self-provis	sioning
				poor and
	Criterion	Poor	non-poor	non-poor
not vulnerable	$v_h <=.26$	0.07	0.43	0.51
low vulnerable	$0.5 \ge v_h \ge .26$	0.10	0.20	0.29
highly vulnerable	$v_h > 0.5$	0.13	0.07	0.20
rural self-provision	ning	0.30	0.70	1.00
			Rural othe	r
				poor and
	Criterion	Poor	non-poor	non-poor
not vulnerable	$v_h <=.26$	0.06	0.44	0.51
low vulnerable	$0.5 \ge v_h \ge .26$	0.08	0.16	0.24
highly vulnerable	$v_h > 0.5$	0.18	0.07	0.25
rural other		0.32	0.68	1.00

## Table 3.5: Vulnerability to Income Poverty in Turkey, 2003 Whole sample

#### 3.3.4 Vulnerability according to the non-welfare method

We perform a similar analysis for vulnerability when the poverty line is calculated with the non-welfare method, that is, when the poverty line is defined by the least-cost budget for the balanced and nutritious food basket<sup>51</sup>. Since the overall food poverty rate, 45 percent, is very close to the cut-off for highly vulnerable (50 percent), we separate the sampled households only according to whether their vulnerability is high (more than 50

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> We present the vulnerability to nutrition poverty when the reference basket is the basic needs food basket instead of the non-welfare food basket in Table A2.3. The results are broadly similar, both urban and other rural households are more often highly face nutrition vulnerability than self-provisioning rural households.



percent) or not. The results are presented in Table 3.6. 70 percent of current food poor are vulnerable to undernutrition in the next period. Moreover, 25 percent of current food nonpoor (0.14 out of 0.55) are highly vulnerable to undernutrition as defined by the nonwelfare approach. Among rural households, we find that vulnerability to undernutrition differs greatly between self-provisioning and other rural households. Not only is food poverty is much more prevalent among other rural households, but also that three-fourths of these poor households are highly vulnerable to poverty in the next period. Moreover, roughly 40 percent (0.18 out of 0.48) of currently non-poor among other rural households are highly vulnerable to undernutrition. Overall, 56 percent of all other rural households (poor and non-poor combined) are highly vulnerable to falling below the non-welfare poverty line irrespective of their current classification, compared to 29 percent of selfprovisioning rural households. These findings lend support to our hypothesis that control over productive assets allows some rural households not only to escape deepest rungs of food poverty but also to reduce the risk of experiencing undernutrition in the subsequent periods due to idiosyncratic shocks.



			Whole sam	ple
				poor and
	criterion	poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 >= v_h$	0.14	0.41	0.55
highly vulnerable	$v_{\rm h} > 0.5$	0.31	0.14	0.45
All groups		0.45	0.55	1.00
			Urban	
				poor and
	criterion	poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 >= v_h$	0.13	0.40	0.54
highly vulnerable	$v_{h} > 0.5$	0.33	0.13	0.46
Urban		0.46	0.54	1.00
		Rı	ıral self-provi	sioning
				poor and
	Criterion	poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 >= v_h$	0.16	0.55	0.71
highly vulnerable	$v_{h} > 0.5$	0.18	0.11	0.29
rural self-provisioning		0.34	0.66	1.00
			Rural othe	er
				poor and
	criterion	Poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 \ge v_h$	0.14	0.30	0.44
highly vulnerable	$v_h > 0.5$	0.38	0.18	0.56
1 .1				

### Table 3.6: Vulnerability to Non-welfare Food Poverty in Turkey, 2003

#### **3.3.5 Discussion of Results**

Alwang et al., (2001) argue that a structural model that allows for simulation of specific shocks is necessary to predict how the household vulnerability is affected by ownership of land, access to common lands, market prices, etc. In order to observe actual response of households to such shocks we need a panel data set that covers long enough periods. We do not have a panel data set for Turkey; even if one were available, panel data sets rarely have sufficient details or sample size to estimate a structural model. In the absence of panel data, in this section we explored vulnerability to poverty using the methodology developed by (Chaudhuri et al., 2002). Our findings are subject to the caveats that result from using a cross-section data set and the inherent difficulty of trying to estimate vulnerability ex-ante. Nevertheless, by separating rural households into self-



provisioning and other sub-groups; we are able to shed light on one of the risk-reducing strategies that is available to some rural households. On average the self-provisioning rural households spend less per capita, and are less educated and older. The one asset that self-provisioning rural households have in abundance is land (relative to other rural households). The difference in vulnerability to poverty between self-provisioning and other rural households is striking, both for the current poor and non-poor, especially if we concentrate on food poverty (undernutrition). But even if we concentrate on income poverty, using the poverty line determined according to basic needs approach, high vulnerability is more common among other rural households.

#### **3.4 Concluding Remarks**

It is possible to partition the SIS 2003 data set in many different ways in order to test for pockets of poverty. One obvious way is to look for regional poverty measures. For example, South East Turkey has a headcount poverty rate of almost 64 percent with the basic needs approach, two and a half times the national average. Or we can investigate the poverty rates according to age, education, or profession of household head. The ADEPT software released by the World Bank generates these interesting tables effortlessly once the poverty line is calculated. However, our primary goal is not to find a novel way of partitioning data set to discover pockets of poverty. Instead we focus on recalculating the poverty line by taking into account self-provisioning among rural households, on the grounds that self-provisioning households face different prices and therefore consume different food baskets. Since the composition and cost of the food basket is crucial for poverty line calculation, a theoretically correct poverty line in settings where many rural households self-provision should take into account this fact.



We are fortunate to have a data set that allows us to observe self-provisioning. We demonstrate that once self-provisioning is properly accounted in the calculation of poverty line, the poverty profile of rural areas indeed does change.

We then proceed to utilize the distinction between self-provisioning and other rural households to study vulnerability to income poverty and undernutrition. The empirical literature on vulnerability to poverty is plagued by methodological problems, and our analysis is not immune to them. We employ a cross-section data set that does not allow us to test hypotheses derived from a structural model. Only a panel data set which covers periods long enough to include macro shocks, like a major drought or financial crisis, would allow formal hypothesis testing from a structural model. Nevertheless, we are able to present quantitative evidence on some long-standing issues in the literature on vulnerability to poverty. The existing studies on poverty in Turkey employ either the basic needs approach or the non-welfare approach. The basic needs approach takes into account non-food expenses in addition to food, and the food basket in non-welfare approach is rich in relatively expensive calories from animal products. We take advantage of this existing literature and use the poverty line from basic needs approach as the measure of income poverty, and the poverty line from the non-welfare approach as the measure of undernutrition.

We show that households may have different levels of vulnerability to these different dimensions of poverty. We show that self-provisioning households are roughly as vulnerable to income poverty as other rural households, but they are much less vulnerable to undernutrition. Our evidence is in accord with the long-held view that some



strategies that households adapt to mitigate certain risks – in our case self-provisioning mitigates the market price risk for food – can themselves be a source of income poverty.

Policymakers attuned to the modern agriculture of developed countries are sometimes puzzled by the lack of specialization and seeming failure to realize gains by trade where peasant farmers produce a great variety of food for home consumption in developing countries. Development economists recognize that this lack of specialization is the result of incomplete markets in product and factor markets, including lack of financial services, insurance, and social security from state. In the previous chapter, we established that food self-provisioning by majority of rural households is statistically significant in a demand system regression analysis. In this chapter, we investigated the welfare implications. We recalculated poverty lines with grounding in economic theory that takes into account the realities of developing countries. We used these newly constructed poverty lines to present evidence that food self-provisioning is a viable strategy to mitigate vulnerability to undernutrition.

This finding has important implications for agricultural policies. Since the early 2000s, Turkey's Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs has been pushing for modernization in the livestock sector, especially in dairy farming, to phase out traditional small-scale production in the name of increasing domestic supply to reduce prices and benefit consumers at large (OIK, 2006). We show that, contrary to perceived wisdom in policy making circles in Turkey, some of the households who are most vulnerable to income poverty in rural Turkey are able to avoid nutrition poverty by consuming home produce. Policies that discourage self-provisioning may have significant adverse impacts on the well-being of these households – impacts that are hidden view by conventional



poverty measures that fail to account for price differences between self-provisioning and other rural households.



#### **CHAPTER 4**

## OLIGOPOLY AND PRICE TRANSMISSION IN TURKEY'S FLUID MILK MARKET

#### 4.1 Introduction

Two complaints are commonly heard in Turkey regarding milk markets, one among milk farmers and other among milk processors. On the one hand, milk farmers in Turkey point out that farm-gate milk price in Turkey is relatively low compared to the EU while the retail price of fluid milk remains among the highest (Section 4.2). The Cattle Breeders Central Association (CBCA) complains that milk processors collude in order not to bid against each other in quarterly auctions where milk prices are set (Güngör, 2006). Their biggest complaints are low and volatile milk prices. Producing milk suitable for delivery to milk processors with modern technology requires hefty investment in milking machines, cold storage and high yielding cow breeds. In order to assess one's ability to recoup the costly investment, one needs to foresee more than the immediate quarter.

Currently there is no national policy in Turkey that protects milk farmers from price fluctuations, whether this is the result of ordinary market forces or is engineered by oligopolistic buyers. On the other hand, milk processors in Turkey complain about the low quality of milk produced in Turkey (i.e. very high bacteria count). They point out that, unlike many EU member countries, the milk farmers in Turkey are very small sized, where 60 percent of households engaged in livestock farming own 1-4 animals (Uzmay,



2007) and this small size increases milk collection costs<sup>52</sup>. More importantly, this hampers the milk farmers' ability to modernize their operations.

Several sources estimate that only 30 to 35 percent of total milk production is processed by modern enterprises (FAO, 2007; Voorbergen, 2004). The rest of the output is of such low quality that they would not qualify for support under the current EU Common Agricultural Policy regulations<sup>53</sup>. Seasonal fluctuations in supply are pointed out as evidence of the traditional nature of milk production in Turkey which relies substantially on grazing. As a result, milk processing firms complain that they cannot find enough suitable quality milk to process and are forced to operate below full capacity.

In this paper we try to sort out these competing claims and propose an alternative scenario that weaves together all the seemingly competing facts. We observe that the cumulative effect of price transmission from farm-gate to retailers is indeed asymmetric. However, the asymmetry is the opposite of what we would expect from the empirical literature on price transmission in agricultural markets<sup>54</sup>. Over time, the vertical distance between farm-gate and wholesale milk prices is shrinking in Turkey. Following

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Peltzman (2000) studies a wide variety of industries for the U.S. where a primary input costs at least 20 percent of output price and concludes that more often than not producers pass thru the reductions in input costs slower than increases and he suspects abuse of oligopoly market power. The abuse of oligopoly power is well documented for the U.S. dairy sector (Capps & Sherwell, 2007; Carman & Sexton, 2005; Chidmi, Lopez, & Cotterill, 2005; Cotterill, 2005; Lass, 2005; Li, 2008). von Cramon-Taubadel (1998) is one of the first papers that deal with a European market while taking into account the unit root characteristics of time-series variables. Meyer & Cramon-Taubadel (2004) is an excellent review of the theoretical basis of asymmetric price transmission, time series econometrics and the empirical studies.



 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> FAO (2007) report on Turkish dairy sector reports "Turkish dairy industrialists estimate that poor quality milk makes them incur additional costs of between 10-15 percent of the milk price" (p. 69).
 <sup>53</sup> The retail sector trade journal report on the dairy industry (January 2007) can be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> The retail sector trade journal report on the dairy industry (January 2007) can be reached at: http://www.perakende.org/haber.php?hid=1197885349

McCorriston, Morgan, & Rayner (2001), we propose that the most proximate explanation of the functioning of the fluid milk production and the processing chain is the one where milk processors enjoy oligopsony power and hence can extract price concessions from the farmers. However, processing firms pass price concessions and more to retailers<sup>55</sup> because they also enjoy increasing returns to scale. Increasing returns to scale allow dairy firms to preserve their net profit rates even though the gross margin between farm-gate milk price (chief input) and Ultra High Temperature milk (major fluid milk output, UHT) is narrowing. We show that the capacity utilization ratio in the modern dairy industry in Turkey rose during the study period (1994-2006), but it still remains low. We suggest that the availability of excess capacity makes it evident that increasing returns to scale is achievable in the short run. We show that UHT milk is gaining market share against the open milk – milk sold by the street traders without treatment – suggesting that there are potentially increasing returns to scale in the medium and the long-run due to the expansion of the market. We also find more direct evidence for increasing returns to scale: there is a structural break in unit root tests for the hourly labor productivity index in the dairy sector (hereafter labor productivity index) coinciding with the entry of two major competitors (Danone and Ülker) into the dairy market in 1997. We also detect a gradual but consistent decline in UHT milk price from 1998 onwards, which coincides with the structural break in labor productivity index. The long-term decline in UHT milk prices is accompanied by no major change in farm-gate milk prices.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> We assume that reductions in wholesale milk prices are passed to final consumers. Çelen, Erdoğan, & Taymaz (2005) assert that supermarkets are generally competitive in Turkey.



Finally, we employ Threshold Autoregressive (TAR) tests, Moment Threshold Autoregressive (M-TAR) tests, and an Asymmetric Price Transmission (APT) model to look for evidence of abuse of market power by milk processing firms. The APT model (explained in detail in Section 4.3) cannot prove the abuse of market power by intermediaries, because there are other possible explanations for the differing speed of transmission of input price increases and decreases to output prices. However, if we can detect quicker transmission of input price increases to retailers than input price decreases, then we at least have grounds for suspecting abuse of market power by intermediaries. We do not find much evidence for asymmetry, and the little evidence we get for asymmetry supports the contrary conclusion that milk processing firms in Turkey in the study period transmit input price decreases quicker to retailers than input price increases.

In Section 4.2, we describe the dairy sector in Turkey and justify the choice of fluid milk as the object of analysis. Section 4.3 presents the APT as the model to study the price transmission mechanism in fluid milk market. Section 4.4 presents an analysis of unit root characteristics of variables. Section 4.5.1 presents the cointegration analysis. Because the Johansen's trace test is known to perform poorly in the presence of asymmetric price transmission, in Section 4.5.2 we employ TAR and M-TAR cointegration tests that are developed specifically for cases exhibiting potential asymmetric relationships. Section 4.6 is devoted to the estimation and discussion of the APT model. Section 4.7 recaps the empirical findings and concludes the chapter.

#### 4.2 Dairy Sector in Turkey

In Turkey animal production systems differ depending on the animal product. At one end stands the broiler chicken industry where industrial farms dominate. At the other



end stands sheep and goat husbandry which is dominated by scattered traditional producers. Dairy products lie in the intermediate terrain between these extremes, with a mix of large and small scale processors. Dairy products are the source of 50 percent of the total animal protein in the Turkish diet and 60 percent of animal calories<sup>56</sup>. The dairy sector has a very diverse product spread. In Turkey the most consumed (in terms of fluid milk equivalent) dairy product is cheese, followed by yogurt, butter and fluid milk (MARA, 2004; Voorbergen, 2004).

Even though it is not the primarily consumed dairy product, in this paper we focus on fluid milk consumption and, specifically, on UHT milk consumption in Turkey owing to the distinctive features of the UHT market. UHT is the partial sterilization of milk by heating it for a short time, 1-2 seconds, at a very high temperature (exceeding 135 °C, compared to heating at 72 °C for 15 seconds for pasteurization). In all primary dairy products except UHT milk, modern large scale enterprises (i.e., potential oligopolies) compete with 'mandra' (traditional, small-scale producers and semi-modern enterprises) and street vendors. As Voorbergen (2004: 12) puts it, "Processors operate in different worlds... At one pole, [stand] the big food conglomerates and foreign companies; at the other pole, [stand] the small-scale mandras". Studying UHT milk will allow us to focus on the one product where mandras do not participate. UHT milk production requires costly initial investment in UHT machinery. (FAO, 2007) reports that Turkey's ten largest dairies – five of them with nationwide presence – dominate UHT milk production (p. 69). Hence, by concentrating on the UHT milk market, we can most easily analyze whether big food conglomerates manipulate prices for their benefit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> We calculate these estimates from the State Institute of Statistics (SIS) Household Budget Survey of 2003.



The retail price of fluid milk in Turkey is higher than that in most EU member countries. At the same time, the farm-gate price is among the lowest. In other words, the retail/ farm-gate price ratio is higher in Turkey compared to many EU members. Furthermore the farm-gate-milk-price to milk-feed-price<sup>57</sup> ratio is around 1.1-1.2 in Turkey in recent years. Koç, Bayaner, Tan, Ertürk, & Fuller (2001) estimate that for a profitable farm, the milk price/feed ratio should not be lower than 1.5 and preferably around 2<sup>58</sup>.

Table 4.1 shows that the retail-to-farm-gate price ratio has been decreasing in Turkey but is still above the retail-to-farm-gate ratio for the United Kingdom. On the one hand, farmer associations claim that the reason for the high retail/farm-gate ratio is the cartel power of milk processors (Güngör, 2006). On the other hand, dairy processors put the blame of the high retail-to-farm-gate ratio squarely on the dispersed and traditional nature of farmers (see footnotes 51 and 52). In other words, since the farms are smallsized and dispersed, milk collection costs are higher than they would be if the farmers had modern and large milk farms. Also, most of the Turkish farmers do not have refrigerated storage tanks for milk and, hence, once the milk is collected it needs to be treated extensively in order to reduce the bacteria count to acceptable levels.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Cow Breeders Association report "Producers face the prices dictated by Industrialists" (Güngör, 2006: 2); Agricultural Engineers Association of Turkey report (TZOB, 2005: 11).



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Modern farms, which primarily rely on milk feed – the special mixture of animal feed for milk production – feed costs can account for 63.7 percent of expenses in Turkey (Koç et al., 2001: 26).

Turkey					
	2002	2003	2004		
UK Retail Milk	0.74 €	0.78 €	0.79€		
Turkey Retail Milk	0.80€	0.81 €	0.86€		
UK Farm-gate Milk	0.29€	0.30€	0.31€		
Turkey Farm-gate Milk	0.22 €	0.24 €	0.27€		
UK Milk Feed	0.25 €	0.26€	0.28 €		
Turkey Milk Feed	0.18€	0.21 €	0.20€		
UK retail / farm-gate	2.55	2.60	2.55		
Turkey retail / farm-gate	3.64	3.37	3.19		
UK farm-gate / feed	1.16	1.15	1.11		
Turkey farm-gate / feed	1.22	1.14	1.35		

Table 4.1: Comparison of retail and farm-gate prices and ratios in England and Turkey

Note: The feed conversion ratio, on average, is higher in Turkey, which means that for every kg of feed less milk is obtained in Turkey.

Source: Reproduced from (TZOB, 2005) report, p.10

A third group, the board for the 9<sup>th</sup> Development Plan for Food Processing Industry, takes a position somewhere in between these two (Ataman, 2006). It acknowledges the parceling of milk supply among milk processors, and affirms that most farmers lack the means necessary to participate in modern markets. As a result, the authors of the report make a case for public institutions to regulate the market, implicitly acknowledging the institutional externalities arising from the quickly perishable nature of the product<sup>59</sup>. There is some evidence of concentration for the Turkish dairy processing industry indicating that it is indeed high. (Top four firms controlled between 50 to 60 percent during 1990s<sup>60</sup>). However, it is prudent to regard these statistics with skepticism. The coverage of the informal sector by State Institute of Statistics (SIS) is at best inadequate. For example, Voorbergen reports that only 19 percent of total raw milk in Turkey is processed by modern firms; 35 percent is processed by medium and small-scale firms; roughly 10 percent is sold by street vendors as open milk; and roughly one third is consumed/ processed on the farm itself (Voorbergen, 2004: 10).

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> This report relies on expert opinion instead of empirical scrutiny.
 <sup>60</sup> Personal communication with SIS staff.



The existence of oligopolies does not necessarily imply the exercise of oligopoly power at the expense of social welfare. Sometimes the benefits of oligopolies outweigh their potential costs. For example, oligopolies may enjoy "super profits" (in comparison to the perfect competition case) yet deliver lower prices to consumers because they can enjoy economies of scale, or they can overcome the double marginalization that exists between companies dealing with each other at arm's length<sup>61</sup>. If barriers to entry are sufficiently low, the threat of entry can force existing monopolies or oligopolies to behave as if they are operating in competitive markets. Hence, in order to determine the welfare effects of oligopolistic market structure, it is not enough to show the market share of larger firms. Indeed, McCorriston et al., (2001) provide a theoretical framework where increasing returns to scale in oligopolistic markets can lead to even greater price transmission than a perfect competition case:

Specifically, whereas market power will reduce the level of price transmission (relative to perfectly competitive case), if the industry is characterized by increasing returns to scale, the level of price transmission will increase. Under reasonable conditions, the degree of price transmission may be greater than in the constant returns, perfectly competitive case. (p. 146)

An inspection of figures relating to inflation-adjusted prices in Section 4.4.1 suggests that the farm-gate and UHT milk real prices are not moving together in the sense that there is no visible pattern in farm-gate milk real prices while UHT milk real prices are in a gradual long term decline. Formal cointegration analysis of farm-gate and UHT

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> When final consumer products firms (like food processors or supermarkets) deal with their suppliers at arm's length, the resultant production is less than their profit maximizing optimum production level. Given supermarkets' demand, the profit maximizing optimum for their suppliers is less than consumer products firms' optimum. Double marginalization can be avoided if upstream or downstream activities are vertically integrated.



milk real prices rejects cointegration between these two variables and confirms the visual inspection. In Section 4.4 we show that the sustained increase in labor productivity in the post-1997 period in the dairy sector coincides with the entry of two major producers and with the start of a long-term decline in UHT milk prices. In Section 4.5, we show that when we consider the farm-gate and UHT milk real prices, and labor productivity index together they are indeed cointegrated, which stands as further evidence that dairy sector labor productivity has a significant role in explaining the movements in prices. We regard the upward trend in dairy sector productivity as an indicator of increasing returns to scale and as a clear structural break from the past in the post-1997 period.

Tables 4.2 and 4.3 present additional evidence that point to increasing returns to scale in the dairy industry. Table 4.2 shows that only seven percent of fluid milk consumption in 1994 was from the formal sector (pasteurized and UHT milk). By 2003 the formal sector raised its market share relative to open source milk (street milk) to 18 percent and at the same time per capita fluid milk consumption kept increasing. Almost all of the increase in total consumption can be attributed to the formal sector. Potentially, UHT and pasteurized milk products are becoming normal goods consumed by the middle class rather than luxury products as they evidently were in the mid-1990s. Thus the decline in the wholesale-to-farm-gate price ratio may point towards the evolution of a novel/luxury product into a mass consumer good. At the same time the oligopolistic nature of the dairy industry be accompanied by dairy firms' efforts to introduce the better quality (more hygienic, healthy and with longer shelf life) products to the consumer basket.



		Rural			Urban			Total	
			Pc daily,			Pc daily,			Pc
Years	Open	Packed	lt	Open	Packed	lt	Open	Packed	daily, lt
1994	99 %	1 %	0.085	90%	10 %	0.081	93%	7%	0.082
2003	96 %	4 %	0.113	74 %	26 %	0.086	82 %	18 %	0.094
0 1	1	1 1	1 010 10	1 1 0 0	ATT 1	110 1 . 0			

Table 4.2: Source of fluid milk consumed 1994 and 2003

Our calculations are based on the SIS 1994 and 2003 Household Budget Surveys.

Table 4.3 shows that total fluid milk output and capacity utilization in the formal sector have been increasing<sup>62</sup> in Turkey for the years where data are available. We take Tables 4.2 and 4.3 as evidence for potential increasing returns to scale in both the short-and long-run. The gradual decline in excess capacity also suggests the potential for existence of increasing returns to scale even in the short run. In the long-run the UHT and pasteurized milk are gaining market share, allowing for continuous upgrade and expansion of existing factories. During this process, excess capacity can lead to price wars among dairy processors to gain market share.

Table 4.3: Formal sector	capacity, production and uti	lization
UHT		

Years	# of units	Capacity	Production	<b>Capacity utilization</b>			
1994	8	242,794	85,789	35%			
1996	13	280,383	15,917	6%			
1998	15	299,783	221,635	74%			
2000	10	415,372	181,821	44%			
2002	35	231,728	91,126	39%			
Pasteurized							
Years	# of units	Capacity	Production	<b>Capacity utilization</b>			
1994	42	612,545	106,430	17%			
1996	46	542,907	130,837	24%			
1998	52	414,722	126,186	30%			
2000	37	1,792,497*	142,181	8%			
2002	48	286,629	170,645	60%			

\*: The significant increase from 1998 to 2000 and the subsequent substantial decline are probably due to a classification mistake: the buttermilk capacity has a reverse swing during the same period. Source: Industry surveys by SIS originally reported by Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs (MARA, 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> There is no import of fluid milk to Turkey, so all of the increase in consumption is sourced domestically.



#### **4.3 Asymmetric Price Transmission**<sup>63</sup>

A likely avenue leading to higher profits for oligopolistic food processors is the manipulation of prices. As a result, one way of studying the competitiveness of agricultural markets is to study the price transmission from farmers (primary producers) to final consumers. Standard economic models assume that positive and negative price changes in input costs are equally transferred to output prices. However, empirical studies challenge this assumption. Peltzman (2000) – analyzing a wide range of industries – finds that output prices rise concurrently with input price increases (i.e., without lag), but respond with a lag when input prices decline. The differing transmission of input price changes to output prices is called asymmetric price transmission (APT).

The APT model cannot explain the causation for price transmission; instead the model serves the role of detecting the asymmetry in price transmission. According to Meyer and von Cramon-Taubel (2004) two main views that explain the observation of APT are: (i) the abuse of market power, and (ii) adjustment costs (e.g., menu costs<sup>64</sup> in the presence of inflation).

Farmers and consumers - at the beginning and end of the marketing chain, respectively - often suspect the abuse of market power as the explanation for APT. Increases in input prices are passed on to output prices more quickly because such

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> This section is largely based on Li (2008) and Meyer & Cramon-Taubadel (2004).
<sup>64</sup> Menu costs refer to transaction costs related to updating of price tags. In an inflationary environment firms will adjust their prices downward less often and in lesser amounts simply because the inflation reduces the real prices over time. Hence using nominal price time-series in the analysis of price transmission will reveal that the prices are sticky downward. In other words, in an inflationary environment the analysis of price transmission can spuriously detect abuse of market power even when the firms are simply avoiding the menu costs with the knowledge that inflation will soon render any price reduction unnecessary.



increases squeeze the gross margin for processing firms (the middlemen). On the other hand, the existence of asymmetry could also be explained by the fact that inflation eats into the retail price of goods; input price declines are not immediately followed by output price declines because the latter result in the re-establishment of the usual gross margin that was eroding under inflationary pressures.

#### 4.3.1 Different Ways of Classifying APT

#### 4.3.1.1 Positive versus Negative APT:

Peltzman (2000) suggests dividing APT into two cases: positive and negative.

Positive APT occurs when price increases in input prices translate into output prices

immediately, but price decreases do not. Negative APT is the opposite case<sup>65</sup>. Meyer and

von Cramon-Taubadel (2004) suggest the following definition:

We propose that positive APT be defined as a set of reactions according to which any price movement that squeezes the margin (i.e., an increase in  $p_{in}$  or a fall in  $p_{out}$ ) is transmitted more rapidly and/or completely (to  $p_{out}$  or  $p_{in}$ , respectively) than the equivalent movement that stretches the margin. Conversely, APT is negative when price movements that stretch the margin are transmitted more rapidly and/or completely than movements that squeeze it (p. 586).

#### 4.3.1.2 Magnitude versus Speed of Adjustment

Another way of looking at APT is to check whether (i) the positive and negative changes in input prices and output prices cancel each other or not (magnitude of adjustment) and (ii) positive and negative changes in input prices are reflected to output prices at the same speed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> In the case of APT, the meanings of "positive" and "negative" can be misleading. In this case positive APT is bad for consumers and negative APT is good for consumers.


The solid lines in Fig. 4.1 represent the price increases (input and output); the dashed lines represent price declines, and shaded areas the welfare effects. In the first graph the input price increases fully and is immediately reflected on the output price, but the input price decline is reflected on the output price immediately but not fully (i.e., the gross margin of middlemen has increased permanently). In the second graph, the decline in the input price is reflected on the output price with a lag (a temporary super profit for middlemen). The third graph is the combination of the first two. The decline in the input price is transmitted to the consumers neither immediately nor to its full extent<sup>66</sup>.

Figure 4.1: Different forms of positive APT, reproduced from Meyer and Von Cramon-Taubel (2004)



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> For ease of explanation assume that the price changes do not lead to a change in quantity consumed. Also, we are not going to discuss spatial APT because we are not going to explore such a situation.



# 4.3.2 Modeling Asymmetric Price Transmission<sup>67</sup>

Standard symmetric and linear price transmission can be represented by the following equation:

$$p_{t}^{out} = \alpha + \beta p_{t}^{in} + \mu_{t}$$
(4.1)

where  $p_t^{out}$  is the price of output (wholesale milk price in our case),  $p_t^{in}$  is the price of primary input (farm-gate milk price in our case),  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are coefficients to be estimated and  $\mu_t$  are the error term. The insight of APT model is to split changes in input prices into input price increases,  $p_t^{in+}$ , and input price decreases,  $p_t^{out+}$ , in order to investigate their effects separately on output (i.e., creating two columns of data from one: when there is an input price increase the corresponding input price decrease cell is zero). Houck, (1977) made the early formulations of the APT model operationally clearer:

$$\Delta p_{t}^{out} = \alpha + \beta^{+} \Delta p_{t}^{in+} + \beta^{-} \Delta p_{t}^{in-} + \gamma_{t}$$

$$(4.2)$$

If  $\beta^+$  is equal to  $\beta^-$  then we can conclude that the magnitude of response to positive and negative input price changes is symmetric. Ward (1982) extended Houck's specification to include lags. Lag lengths of input price increases and decreases are allowed to differ as indicated by K versus L in Equation 4.3, they are designed to account for the speed of adjustment in addition to magnitude of adjustment:

$$\Delta p_{t}^{out} = \alpha + \sum_{j=1}^{K} (\beta_{j}^{+} \Delta p_{t-j+1}^{in+}) + \sum_{j=1}^{L} (\beta_{j}^{-} \Delta p_{t-j+1}^{in-}) + \gamma_{t}$$
(4.3)

For example, if it turns out that K is two and L is three, then we can conclude that input price increases are translated into output prices more speedily. Granger & Newbold

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> This section relies heavily on Meyer and v. Cramon-Taubadel (2004: 593-96) and von Cramon-Taubadel (1998).



(1974) show that if the dependent and independent variables are randomly and independently generated non-stationary time series variables then ordinary least squares (OLS) will yield a statistically significant relationship in far more cases than expected. Such results are referred to as spurious. Since then, econometricians have developed tests for non-stationarity (including Dickey-Fuller and KPSS tests) and methods for modeling relationships among non-stationary variables e.g., error correction models (ECM). An ECM incorporates the long-term equilibrium relationship among variables in the specification as well as the short-term adjustments to maintain that equilibrium<sup>68</sup>. In an ECM, both the dependent and the independent variables are in first differences. Adjustments to the long-term relationship are accounted by error correction terms (ECT), which are the lagged error terms arising from the long-term relationship.

The ECT measures the deviations from the long-run equilibrium between  $p^{in}$  and  $p^{out}$ , so including it in the ECM allows  $p^{out}$  not only to respond changes in  $p^{in}$  but also to 'correct' any deviations from the long-run equilibrium that may be left over from previous periods. (Meyer and v. Cramon-Taubadel, 2004: 596)

The ECM is a Vector Autoregressive Regression (VAR), which means that lagged values of the differenced dependent variable are also added to the right-hand side of the equation. In the parlance of cointegration analysis, Equation 4.1 symbolizes the long-term relationship. If tests prove that the relationship represented in Equation 4.1 is not spurious<sup>69</sup>, then the lagged error terms from Equation 4.1 represent the deviations from long-term equilibrium in period t-1. The coefficient of the ECT is expected to be negative. In other words, the deviations from the long-term relationship are corrected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> The cointegration tests for the milk data from Turkey are presented in Section 4.5.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> (Engle & Granger, 1987) have developed the first practical testing strategy for error correction models. (Granger & Lee, 1989) present the first application of non-symmetric error correction models.

toward the cointegrated long-term equilibrium. In order to incorporate the ECT into the APT model, the ECTs are split into positive and negative components and added to the Ward specification. In the modified Ward specification, Equation 4.4, if the  $\phi^+$  is equal to  $\phi^-$  then we can conclude that the responses to positive and negative input price changes are symmetric. In other words the speed of adjustment is equal for positive and negative deviations from long-term equilibrium:

$$\Delta p_t^{out} = \alpha + \sum_{i=2}^{K} \left( \beta_i \Delta p_{t-i+1}^{out} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \left( \beta_j \Delta p_{t-j+1}^{in} \right) + \varphi^+ E C T_{t-1}^+ + \varphi^- E C T_{t-1}^- + \gamma_t$$
(4.4)

As shown in the third and fourth terms on the right-hand side of Equation 4.5, it is also possible to split the input prices into positive and negative components in order to allow the investigation of more complex dynamic relationships.

$$\Delta p_{t}^{out} = \alpha + \sum_{i=2}^{K} \left( \beta_{i} \Delta p_{t-i+1}^{out} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{L} \left( \beta_{j}^{+} \Delta p_{t-j+1}^{in+} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{M} \left( \beta_{j}^{-} \Delta p_{t-j+1}^{in-} \right) + \varphi^{+} E C T_{t-1}^{+} + \varphi^{-} E C T_{t-1}^{-} + \gamma_{t}$$

$$(4.5)$$

Unfortunately, the cointegration framework of ECM does not allow investigating whether the gross margin of middlemen are permanently increasing because the long-term cointegrated relationship is assumed *a priori*; in these models there is no room for continuous divergence from a long-term relationship (i.e., magnitude of adjustment is assumed away). Enders & Siklos (2001) develop cointegration and threshold adjustment tests that relax the assumption of symmetric adjustment to the long-run equilibrium (for discussion, see Section 4.5.2).



### 4.4 Data

#### **4.4.1 Exploring the Data Set**

The most publicized price gouging cases are the ones concerning the manipulation of retail prices due to the direct link to the pockets of consumers at large. Unfortunately, the retail milk price data released by SIS also include the open sourced milk in addition to packaged milk without differentiating between the two, and hence do not correspond one-to-one to the wholesale product (UHT milk) of the modern dairy industry. Hence we will concentrate on the relationship between farm-gate (input) and UHT wholesale prices (output). Price data for many commodities and products are available monthly starting with January 1994 at SIS's web-site. We use available data up to the end of 2006<sup>70</sup>.

We want to control for returns to scale while exploring the relationship between farm-gate and wholesale milk price after McCorriston et al., (2001). Low capacity utilization rates presented in Table 4.3 suggest the potential for increasing returns to scale in the short run. Unfortunately, capacity utilization rate data are only available annually. Hence we use the labor productivity index as a proxy for returns to scale. This index is available as quarterly data on the SIS's web-site for the period 1994-2006. We convert the quarterly index data into monthly data by interpolating..

The nominal farm-gate and wholesale UHT prices are presented in Figure 4.2. The very high level of inflation prior to 2002 (see Table A3.1 in the Appendix) makes it very hard to evaluate price movements visually. To partially ameliorate the inflation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> We end the analysis at the end of 2006 because the labor productivity index for dairy sector is available only until the end of 2006. Recently, SIS has released data for indices for labor hours and total dairy production for post 2006 but the base year has changed to 2005 from 1997 and the data frequency for total production is monthly.



problem, we converted nominal prices to logarithms (Figure 4.3). Broadly speaking, the log prices suggest that farm-gate and UHT milk prices move together.



Figure 4.2: Farm-gate and UHT (wholesale) nominal milk prices, TL

Figure 4.3: Logarithm of farm-gate and UHT (wholesale) nominal milk prices



Alternatively we convert the nominal prices to real prices (using monthly wholesale price index) in Figure 4.4. The gross margin between indexed farm-gate milk price and indexed wholesale UHT price are narrowing in Figure 4.4. In other words, indexed prices suggest that the two series may not be cointegrated since the relationship between the two series is not constant. Due to the discrepancy of the intuitive



observations from Figures 4.3 and 4.4, we analyze the relationship between wholesale UHT price and farm-gate price both for nominal and real inflation indexed prices<sup>71</sup>.

Figure 4.4: Inflation-adjusted farm-gate and UHT (wholesale) milk prices, YTL\*



Figure 4.5 presents the time graph of indices of three indexed variables which illustrates the fluctuating movement of farm-gate prices, the long-term decline in UHT prices and the gradual increase in the productivity index.

Figure 4.5: Indices of inflation-adjusted farm-gate, UHT prices and productivity index



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>We are presenting only the results for inflation-adjusted prices in the main part of chapter. The analysis for log-nominal prices is presented in the Appendix.



# 4.4.2 Unit Root Tests

After visual analysis of the time-series data we check for the existence of unit roots. We use JMulti software<sup>72</sup> for unit root tests and for the Johansen co-integration tests. Our testing strategy is to start with an augmented Dickey-Fuller (ADF) model with one lag including the trend variable if a trend is visible in the data. If the final prediction error (FPE)<sup>73</sup> score indicates a lag length different than the default of one lag, we conduct the ADF test with the suggested lag length. In the second step, we use the test developed by Kwiatkowski, Phillips, Schmidt, & Shin (1992). We choose the KPSS test as an alternative to the ADF because it tests opposite null hypothesis. In the ADF test the null hypothesis is the existence of a unit root. In KPSS the null hypothesis is stationarity. While testing for both level stationarity and trend stationarity, we conduct KPSS tests with the same lag length as the ADF test. In the last step, we test for the presence of a unit root with a structural break. Since the data are monthly, we add monthly dummy variables to see if the results change significantly. In the unit root test with a structural break, Saikkonen & Lütkepohl (2002) suggest first estimating Equation 4.6 and subtracting it from the original series. Then the ADF test is performed on the adjusted series.

$$y_t = \alpha_0 + \alpha_1 t + \gamma D_s + e_t \tag{4.6}$$

where  $D_s = 0$  if t < T

 $D_s = 1$  if  $t \ge T$  and T is the shift date.

 $y_t$  is the time series, t stands for time and  $D_s$  is the dummy variable defined as above.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> JMulti automatically provides optimal lag length from four alternative information criteria: AIC, FPE, Hannan-Quinn, and Schwarz Criterion. We based our decisions on FPE.



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> <u>www.jmulti.de</u>. JMulti is very user friendly and its main advantage is that it allows unit root analysis while testing for structural breaks.

Alternatively, it is possible to experiment with impulse dummy variables (a dummy variable equal to one only when t = T, and zero during the rest of time). Essentially an impulse dummy variable is a jump in a single period but does not point to any structural change in the long-run. We chose to focus on shift dummy variables because structural breaks are more relevant from a policy perspective than one-time outliers. It is also possible to experiment with exponential shift dummy variables. The exponential shift dummy variables allow for a gradual shift to a new level. When we use exponential shift variables instead of ordinary shift variables the conclusions of structural break tests for all three variables are identical.

For the sake of brevity, we present only unit root test results with lag lengths minimizing the FPE score. For the UHT milk real price and labor productivity index, we present unit root tests taking into account the prior information since there are visible trends in the time series (Elder & Kennedy, 2001). Table 4.4 shows that both the ADF and KPSS tests give the same results for the UHT milk real price: the monthly prices are non-stationary. However, the conclusion changes drastically when we conduct the unit root test with structural break test. Prior to formal tests, we thought that February 2001 would be the date for structural break date, due to the severe foreign exchange crisis and sudden jump in inflation in that month. However, the structural break test suggests a break date as October 1997. Figure 4.6 shows the deterministic time trend with a structural break imposed on the inflation-adjusted UHT milk price. The most significant developments prior to or during 1997 are the privatization of SEK (the publicly owned



www.manaraa.com

dairy company<sup>74</sup>) and the entrance of new firms into the dairy sector. The privatization of SEK was mostly completed during August-September 1995. The French multinational Danone bought a local company, Tikvesli, and entered the Turkish market in 1997. Moreover, the biggest domestic food company, Ülker, entered the consumer dairy market in 1997 (Voorbergen, 2004)<sup>75</sup>. In other words, the structural break identified in empirical analysis coincides with a significant change in industry structure rather than major macroeconomic events.

Table 4.4 also shows that the ADF and KPSS for farm-gate milk real price and labor productivity index and supports the unit root null hypothesis in every alternative test. Figure 4.7 shows the deterministic time trend with a structural break imposed on the farm-gate milk real price. The structural break date is December 2000 and is just prior to the February 2001 crisis. Unlike the milk processing firms, there is no sector-level drastic change to account for such a break. The sharp drop in real prices during 2001 is the result of the fact that the increases in the nominal milk price did not match increases in the inflation rate.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> "Ülker is a diversified Turkish food company with sales of around USD 2.5 billion [2004] that expanded into the dairy business relatively recently. The company already manufactured powdered milk for its own cookie business but moved into the end consumer business with the acquisition of Ak Foods in 1997." (Voorbergen, 2004: 9)



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Modern enterprises, private or owned by the state, have never processed majority of raw milk in Turkey. However, SEK, due to its presence in every region, was widely believed to set the reference price both for farmers (when buying milk from) and for processors (when selling their products).

Variable	Test	Structural break date	trend variable	Lags	Test score	Conclusion
LUIT : 11-	DF		yes	13 lags	-1.5562	FTR Ho of unit root
real price	KPSS		yes	13 lags	0.2455	Reject Ho of stationarity
	Structural break	1997 M10	yes	3 lags	-4.0588	Reject Ho of unit root
	ADF		no	1 lag	-2.9748	Reject Ho alpha=.05
farm-gate	ADF		yes	1 lag	-2.7427	FTR Ho of unit root
milk real	KPSS		no	1 lag	0.781	Reject Ho of stationarity
price	KPSS		yes	1 lag	0.271	Reject Ho of stationarity
	Structural break	2000 M12	yes	1 lag	-2.6061	FTR Ho of unit root
D 1 4: 14	ADF		yes	22 lags	-1.1158	FTR Ho of unit root
index	KPSS		yes	22 lags	0.1407	Reject Ho of stationarity
muex	Structural break	1997 M10	yes	22 lags	-1.6154	FTR Ho of unit root

Table 4.4: Unit root tests for UHT and farm-gate milk prices and labor productivity index

Figure 4.6: Inflation-adjusted UHT milk price with shift dummy, break (1997.M10), 3 lags









In the case of the labor productivity index, the suggested break date is May 1997. However, we cannot perform the structural break unit root test occurring during May 1997 with the suggested 22 lags that emerge from initial analysis of lag length because there are not enough prior sample observations. The closest possible date is October 1997 for a structural break with 22 lags. We felt comfortable using October 1997 instead of May 1997 since, as discussed above, major new firms entered the dairy sector during 1997. Figure 4.8 shows the positive deterministic time trend imposed on the actual productivity index data.

Figure 4.8: Labor productivity index with shift dummy, break (1997.M10), 22 lags



# 4.4.3 Concluding Unit Root Section

ADF and KPSS tests indicate that all three variables exhibit unit root characteristics with appropriate lag lengths (determined according to FPE information criteria). When we include a structural break into the analysis, the result changes only for UHT milk real price; assuming a structural break during October 1997, UHT milk real price is stationary. The suggested structural break dates are intuitively plausible. Both for UHT milk real price and the productivity index the break dates are in 1997 which are plausible given the corresponding new entries by major actors into the Turkish dairy market. The December 2000 structural-break date for inflation-adjusted farm-gate milk price is also plausible considering the immediate severe recession and spike in inflation rate. Adding monthly dummy variables does not change any of these conclusions.

#### 4.5 Cointegration Analysis

#### 4.5.1 Johansen Trace Test and Saikkonen-Lütkepohl Test

In order to perform the cointegration analysis, all variables should have unit root properties. As we show in the previous section we can confidently claim unit roots for all variables in every case except when we introduce a structural break into the unit root analysis of the inflation-adjusted UHT milk price. Despite this caveat, we continue with the cointegration analysis assuming that all variables are unit-root processes. We do not have any *a priori* expectation of the specific form the cointegrating relationship should take; hence we test the cointegration for all the possible variations. We also test for cointegration with the Saikkonen & Lütkepohl (2000) which estimates the deterministic part first, subtracts it from original observations and then applies a Johansen type test to



the remaining adjusted series. Unlike Johansen Trace tests, it is not possible to incorporate a structural break into the Saikkonen-Lütkepohl test.

We start by considering the cointegrating relationship between inflation-adjusted farm-gate and UHT milk prices. After visual inspection of Figure 4.4 we do not expect to find a cointegrating relationship between inflation-adjusted farm-gate and UHT milk prices. Unsurprisingly, Johansen trace tests, summarized in Table 4.5, confirm our intuition that these two series are not cointegrated, i.e. the regression relationship between them is spurious. When we introduce two break dates (i.e. shift dummies) for October 1997 and December 2000, there is some evidence for cointegration. Likewise, when we follow Saikkonen and Lütkepohl (2000)'s methodology and subtract the deterministic part from the original observations and test for cointegration in the adjusted observations, there is some evidence of cointegration.

The evidence of cointegration between farm-gate and UHT milk real prices from Table 4.5 is not strong and we have evidence for substantial change in industry structure, so we proceed by including the labor productivity index to the cointegrating relationship. The results in Table 4.5 are more consistent, i.e., less susceptible to specification, to choice of lag length or to the existence or absence of structural break dates. Except for the case of applying the Johansen trace test with no structural break, cointegration is found in every specification. The most consistent finding of cointegration is the specification 'constant and trend'.



Johansen Trace test - Constant			
Variables	Structural break	Lags	Conclusion
Farm-gate and UHT	No	2	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	No	8	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10	2	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	1997 M10	8	1 cointegrating vector 10 %
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10; 2000 M12	2	1 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	1997 M10; 2000 M12	8	1 cointegrating vector
Johansen Trace test - Constant & t	rend		
Farm-gate and UHT	No	2	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	No	8	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10	2	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	1997 M10	8	1 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10; 2000 M12	2	1 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	1997 M10; 2000 M12	8	2 cointegrating vectors
Johansen Trace test - orthogonal ti	end		
Farm-gate and UHT	No	2	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	No	8	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10	2	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	1997 M10	8	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10; 2000 M12	2	0 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	1997 M10; 2000 M12	8	1 cointegrating vector
Saikkonen & Lütkepohl test	Test type	Lags	
Farm-gate and UHT	constant	2	1 cointegrating vector 10 %
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	constant	8	1 cointegrating vector
Farm-gate and UHT	constant & trend	2	1 cointegrating vector 10 %
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	constant & trend	8	1 cointegrating vector 10 $\%$
Farm-gate and UHT	orthogonal trend	2	1 cointegrating vector 5 %
Farm-gate UHT productivity index	orthogonal trend	8	1 cointegrating vector 5 %

 Table 4.5: Cointegration tests for farm-gate, UHT milk prices and labor

 productivity index

\*: Breaks are ignored for the 'trend orthogonal' case. For constant and constant-and-trend cases, only breaks in levels are assumed.

# 4.5.2 Threshold Autoregressive and Moment Threshold Autoregressive Tests<sup>76</sup>

The Johansen trace test is known to function poorly when applied to problems with asymmetric transmission. In order to improve the cointegration test, two alternative tests have been developed: threshold autoregressive (TAR) and moment threshold autoregressive tests (M-TAR) (Enders & Siklos, 2001). In order to perform these

<sup>76</sup> This section closely follows the testing strategy of Li (2008) Chapter 2.



alternative frameworks, we first need to estimate the long-term relationship to obtain the residuals. We include the deterministic components following the results of unit root tests. Following the findings in the previous section, we include the productivity index  $(prod_l)$ , and the trend term (t) on the right-hand side in Equations 4.7a and 4.7b. Furthermore, we add a structural break dummy variable suggested by the findings of Section 4.4 correspondingly (a shift dummy variable from October 1997 onwards for UHT milk and a shift dummy variable for from December 2000 onwards for farm-gate milk real price).

$$uht_{t} = \alpha_{1} + \beta_{u1}t + \beta_{u2}farm_{t} + \beta_{u3}prod_{t} + \beta_{u4}DV9710 + \mu_{t}$$
(4.7a)

$$farm_t = \alpha_2 + \beta_{f1}t + \beta_{f2}uht_t + \beta_{f3}prod_t + \beta_{f4}DV0012 + \theta_t$$
(4.7b)

where  $\mu_t = \rho \mu_{t-1} + \varepsilon_t$  and  $\theta_t = \eta \theta_{t-1} + \tau_t$ 

In the threshold autoregressive (TAR) test, the coefficients of the lagged error correction term,  $\mu_t$ , are allowed to take different values across a threshold (Enders and Siklos (2001)):

$$\Delta \mu_{t} = I_{t} \rho_{1} \mu_{t-1} + (1 - I_{t}) \rho_{2} \mu_{t-1} + e_{t}$$

$$I_{t} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \mu_{t-1} \ge c \\ 0 & \text{if } \mu_{t-1} < c \end{cases}$$
(4.9)

If *c* is equal to zero,  $\mu_{t-1}$  is simply a negative or a positive deviation from equilibrium. We expect  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  to be negative so that deviations adjust toward the longrun equilibrium. If the deviation of UHT price from long-run equilibrium is positive (more generally greater than c) in the previous period, then  $\rho_1\mu_{t-1}$  will be eliminated in the current period and vice versa. The values of  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  indicate the relative speed of



(4.8)

adjustment. If  $\rho_1 > \rho_2$ , faster convergence is observed when prices are above the equilibrium<sup>77</sup>.

The second alternative framework accommodating asymmetry is the moment threshold autoregressive (M-TAR) test:

$$\Delta \mu_{t} = I_{t} \rho_{1} \mu_{t-1} + (1 - I_{t}) \rho_{2} \mu_{t-1} + e_{t}$$

$$I_{t} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \Delta \mu_{t-1} \ge c \\ 0 & \text{if } \Delta \mu_{t-1} < c \end{cases}$$
(4.10)

In the case of the M-TAR model, economic agents adjust their behaviors according to the trend, or "momentum", of deviations instead of adjusting their behavior according to deviations themselves. In other words,  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  describe adjustments in response to momentums in different directions. If  $\rho_1 \neq \rho_2$ , the adjustments are not symmetric and show more "momentum" in one direction than in the other.

Following Enders and Siklos (2001), we perform a grid search to determine the value of the threshold. After sorting all of the estimated  $\mu_t (\Delta \mu_t)$  from Equation 4.7a in ascending order, we consider values between the 15th percentile and 85th percentile as possible threshold values. These values are used to estimate Equation 4.9 (4.10). The value that yields the least residual sum of squares is deemed to be the appropriate threshold value.

In order to ensure cointegration,  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  should be negative so that the longterm relationship between the variables does not deviate or shrink. The negative coefficients ensure that the short-term deviations are corrected towards long-term

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> If  $y_t > \hat{y}_t$  than  $\mu_t$  will be positive. In other words, since  $\hat{y}_t$  is the long-run equilibrium, positive  $\mu_t$  indicates that actual price is above the long-run price.



equilibrium. Enders and Siklos (2001) obtained critical values by recording the *t* statistics for the two null hypotheses  $\rho_1 = 0$  and  $\rho_2 = 0$  and the *F* statistic for the joint hypothesis  $\rho_1 = \rho_2 = 0$ . In the *t* tests, the larger of the two *t* statistics is called *t-Max*, and the smaller is called *t-Min*. If series are cointegrated,  $\rho_1$ ,  $\rho_2$  and the corresponding *t* statistics should be negative (*t-Min* < *t-Max* < 0). The null hypothesis of no cointegration is rejected if *t-Max* is smaller than the critical values. *t-Min* has little power and thus is ignored. In the *F* test, the *F* statistic for the joint hypothesis of  $\rho_1 = \rho_2 = 0$  is called  $\Phi$  to distinguish from the usual *F* distribution. When only one of  $\rho_1$  and  $\rho_2$  is negative, the  $\Phi$  statistic can be used to reject the null hypothesis of no cointegration. According to Enders and Siklos (2001) the  $\Phi$  statistic has substantially more power than *t-Max* statistic. Moreover, they report that compared to the Engle-Granger methodology, the TAR test has less power<sup>78</sup> but the M-TAR test has more power.

Table 4.6 shows the test results both for TAR and M-TAR models for Equation 4.7a. For the TAR model, all coefficient estimates have the expected negative signs for both zero and non-zero thresholds. In the case of the TAR model, the threshold is more than zero, indicating that milk processors make adjustments in prices when the actual wholesale prices are above the long-term equilibrium price. Moreover, the absolute value of the coefficient estimate of  $\rho_1$  is larger than that of  $\rho_2$ , suggesting faster convergence in response to positive deviations from equilibrium. When the threshold is zero the *t-Max* value for the TAR model is -1.87 (higher than the 10 percent critical value of -1.90) and -

 $<sup>^{78}</sup>$  In other words, TAR test rejects the null hypothesis of no cointegration correctly less often than Engle-Granger methodology in Monte Carlo experiments. Enders and Siklos (2001) allude that in the case of the TAR model, the gain from estimating the correctly specified model (asymmetric) is outweighed by the estimation of an additional coefficient – threshold (p. 171).



1.68 for non-zero threshold which is less than 10 percent critical value of -1.61. Hence we fail to reject the no-cointegration hypothesis for the zero threshold model and we find some evidence (only at 10 percent) for cointegration in the case of non-zero threshold. However, when we performed the joint hypothesis with the more powerful  $\Phi$  test, we reject the null hypothesis of no cointegration at a 5 percent significance level. If we accept the cointegration result of the joint test, then the next step is to test asymmetry. The usual *F*-test is sufficient in this case (see the last two columns of Table 4.6). For the TAR model we fail to reject the symmetry hypothesis in both cases (zero and non-zero thresholds).

For the M-TAR test, coefficient estimates for  $\rho_1$  are negative, but coefficient estimates for  $\rho_2$  are positive (and not statistically significant) both in the zero and nonzero threshold cases. We cannot use *t-Max* because not all coefficient estimates are negative. The sample  $\Phi$  statistics are 19.49 for zero threshold and 21.89 for non-zero threshold. The  $\Phi$  statistics are greater than the 1 percent significance value of 8.85, so the null hypothesis of no cointegration can be rejected. Given these strong results for cointegration we test for asymmetry. The *F-test* statistics lead to a strong rejection of the null hypothesis of symmetry. In the case of the M-TAR model the threshold is also more than zero, indicating that milk processors make adjustments in prices when the deviations from long-term equilibrium are above the long-term for 'momentum'. Moreover, the absolute value of the coefficient estimate of  $\rho_1$  is larger than that of  $\rho_2$ , suggesting faster convergence in response to positive deviations from equilibrium. Therefore, the farm-towholesale price transmission in Turkey is asymmetric, and adjustments are stronger when the previous period deviation is positive. That is, when actual wholesale prices are higher



than the equilibrium prices, a more rapid adjustment back toward the equilibrium price occurs. In other words, dairy firms tend to be quicker in lowering prices.

	Threshold	$ ho_1^a$	t-value	$ ho_2^b$	t-value	$\Phi^c$	$\rho_1 = \rho_2^d$	p-value
TAR								
c=0		(0.217)	-3.55	(0.133)	-1.87	8.06	0.79	0.38
$c \neq 0$	0.131	(0.253)	-3.88	(0.110)	-1.68	8.95	2.4	0.12
M-TAR								
c=0		(0.362)	-6.20	0.044	0.67	19.44	21.49	0.00
$\mathbf{c} \neq 0$	0.058	(0.445)	-6.62	0.000	0.00	21.89	25.93	0.00

Table 4.6: Results of TAR and M-TAR for inflation indexed UHT milk price

a: Coefficients and t-statistics for the null hypothesis  $\rho_1 = 0$ .

b: Coefficients and t-statistics for the null hypothesis  $\rho_2 = 0$ . t-Max critical values: when c=0: TAR: 1%: -2.55, 5%: -2.11, 10%: -1.90. M-TAR: 1%: -2.57, 5%: -2.14, 10%: -1.91. when  $c \neq 0$ : TAR: 1%: -2.35, 5%: -1.85, 10%: -1.61. M-TAR: 1%: -2.37, 5%: -1.90, 10%: -1.65. c: F statistics for the joint hypothesis  $\rho_1 = \rho_2 = 0$ . when c= 0: TAR: 1%: 8.24, 5%: 5.98; 10%: 5.01; M-TAR: 1%: 8.78, 5%: 6.51, 10%: 5.45. when  $c \neq 0$ : TAR: 1%: 9.27, 5%: 6.95; 10%: 5.95; M-TAR: 1%: 9.14, 5%: 6.78, 10%: 5.73. d: F statistics for the joint hypothesis  $\rho_1 = \rho_2$  to test for asymmetric price transmission. The test statistics are taken from Enders and Siklos (2001).

We repeat the TAR and M-TAR cointegration analysis with the inflation-adjusted farm-gate milk prices as the dependent variable. The results, shown in Table 4.7, are significantly different. In the case of TAR, we fail to reject the no co-integration null hypothesis both when the threshold is zero and non-zero. In the case of M-TAR, again we fail to reject the no cointegration hypothesis in the case of zero threshold. In the case of non-zero threshold, we find some evidence for cointegration (but only at a 10 percent significance level). Since both of the coefficient estimates are not negative, we cannot use the *t-Max* statistic. The  $\Phi$  test score is 5.7, slightly less than the 10 percent critical value of 5.73. If we assume the existence of cointegration, then there is evidence for asymmetry at the 5 percent significance level (see the last row for the last two columns in Table 4.7).



	Threshold	$ ho_{ m l}^{a}$	t-value	$ ho_2^b$	t-value	$\Phi^c$	$\rho_1 = \rho_2^d$	p-value
TAR								
C=0*		(0.076)	-1.74	(0.091)	-1.92	3.35		
$C \neq 0$ **	0.075	(0.063)	-1.34	(0.102)	-2.29	3.51		
M-TAR								
C=0		(0.025)	-0.49	(0.120)	-2.92	4.4		
$C \neq 0$	0.015	0.023	0.39	(0.127)	-3.35	5.7	4.56	0.034

Table 4.7: Results of TAR and M-TAR for inflation indexed farm-gate milk price

a, b, c, d: Same as Table 4.6.

\*: Tests reveal that residuals for the TAR model are not white noise. After augmenting to 6 lags we obtained white noise residuals. At that point the estimated coefficients became negative. We conclude cointegration at the 5 percent level and symmetry.

\*\*: Tests reveal that residuals for the TAR model are not white noise. After augmenting to 6 lags we obtained white noise residuals. At that point the estimated coefficients became negative. We conclude cointegration at the 5 percent level and symmetry.

In the case of the M-TAR model, the threshold is also more than zero, indicating that farmers make adjustments in prices when the deviations from long-term equilibrium are above the long-term 'momentum'. Moreover, the absolute value of the coefficient estimate of  $\rho_2$  is larger than that of  $\rho_1$ , suggesting faster convergence in response to negative deviations from equilibrium. Therefore, the wholesale-to-farm price transmission in Turkey is asymmetric, and adjustments are stronger when the previous period deviation is negative. That is, when actual farm-gate prices are lower than the long-term equilibrium prices, a more rapid adjustment back toward the equilibrium price occurs. Nevertheless, evidence is weaker when farm-gate price is the dependent variable.

### 4.6 Incorporating Error Correction Model to Asymmetric Price Transmission Tests

Enders and Siklos (2001) point out that Engle-Granger and Johansen

cointegration tests and all of their variants are misspecified in the presence of asymmetry. Instead they proposed TAR and M-TAR tests. However, the TAR and M-TAR tests



entail the estimation of one more coefficient<sup>79</sup> (in the case where threshold is not equal to zero, threshold should be estimated too) which leads to loss of power (especially for the TAR model) vis-à-vis Engle Granger methodology.

Due to the potential loss of power in TAR and M-TAR tests, in this section we estimate the APT model described in section 4.3.2 which is based on the Engle-Granger cointegration test. In the presence of non-stationary variables, Meyer and v. Cramon-Taubadel (2004) suggests the following testing strategy (p. 596):

1) First estimate the long-term relationship and store the residuals (Equation 4.7a).

2) Because the Johansen trace tests indicate that the three random variables are cointegrated when UHT milk real price is the dependent variable, the long-run relationship is not a spurious regression and we can estimate the following error correction model (ECM):

$$\Delta uht_{t}^{out} = \alpha + \sum_{j=1}^{8} \left( \beta_{1t} \Delta farm_{t-j+1} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^{8} \left( \beta_{2j} \Delta prod_{t-j+1} \right) + \varphi^{+} ECT_{t-1}^{+} + \varphi^{-} ECT_{t-1}^{-} + \gamma_{t} \quad (4.11)$$

where  $\Delta uht_t^{out}$  is the inflation-adjusted wholesale UHT milk price,  $\Delta farm_{t-j+1}$  is the inflation-adjusted farm-gate milk price,  $\Delta prod_{t-j+1}$  is the labor productivity index, and

 $ECT_{t-1}^+$  and  $ECT_{t-1}^-$  are positive and negative error terms from the long term relationship. This specification is slightly different than earlier error correction models in the literature, including the Engle and Granger (1987) representation, and is also different from Equation 4.4 where lagged dependent variables are also included on the right-hand side. In the following analysis, we estimate symmetric and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> In the second step of the Engle-Granger test only the coefficient of previous period error is estimated for the cointegration test. In the asymmetric specification the coefficients for both the positive and negative previous period errors should be estimated.



asymmetric ECMs both when lagged dependent variables are absent and when they are included on the right-hand side.

The crucial difference of the APT model with an ordinary ECM is that ECT is split between positive and negative errors in the APT model. To test the asymmetric price transmission an *F*-test can be used to test the null hypothesis of symmetry; i.e.,  $\varphi^+ = \varphi^-$ . In the above version it is possible only to test for the speed of adjustment. This is because by assuming a cointegrating relationship in the long-run (Equation 4.7a), we implicitly assume that the magnitude of the difference between inflation-adjusted UHT milk price and farm-gate milk price is constant when controlling for labor productivity improvements and structural breaks. We have already performed the TAR and M-TAR tests that relax the assumption of symmetric adjustment to the long-run equilibrium so in the APT test we focus on short-run price adjustments.

Table 4.8 presents the long-term relationship where we obtain the error correction terms to include in the error correction models. The ADF tests show that the differenced error correction terms are stationary. Hence OLS is an efficient estimation strategy. In the symmetric case, lagged values of the error correction term are included. In the asymmetric case, we first split the positive and negative ECT and then include them into the asymmetric ECM.

Dependent: uht milk	L-T relationsh	L-T relationship			
time trend	(0.00795)	***			
Farm-gate	0.40710	**			
Productivity index	0.00005				
str. break DV (1997 M10)	0.46588	***			
Constant	5.19804	***			
Adj. R-Sq	0.7023				
*** 10/ *** 50/ * * 100/					

 Table 4.8: Long-term relationship for inflation-adjusted UHT milk price

: 1%; \*\*: 5%; \*: 10%



Table 4.9 shows that the coefficient estimate of contemporary change in farm-gate milk price (Dfarm) is significant in all alternative specifications. We chose the lag length as eight following the results of cointegration tests. Heteroscedasticity is consistently detected in every specification. The t-statistics in Table 4.9 are corrected for heteroscedasticity. We fail to reject the null hypothesis for no autoregressive conditional heteroscedasticity (ARCH) effects and for no serial autocorrelation. Furthermore, the residuals are non-normal. For the first column, 1 Turkish Lira (TL) increase in farm-gate milk price will lead to a 0.619 TL increase in UHT milk price within a month. The coefficients of the productivity index are insignificant in every specification. The error correction terms have the expected negative sign in every specification. However, the error correction term is significant at 10 percent only in the first column. Both in column two and four, the coefficient estimates for ECT<sup>-</sup> are larger than ECT<sup>+</sup>. In other words when the margin is squeezed, the milk processing firms react quicker. However, the error correction terms in asymmetric specifications are insignificant and are not statistically different from each other. Finally, if the coefficients of ECT and of all of the lagged and differenced farm-gate prices are zero then we conclude that changes in farm-gate prices do not Granger-cause changes in UHT milk price (Enders, 2004: 338). Given the nonzero coefficients for the sixth lag (and the third lag in the Engle-Granger specification), we can claim that farm-gate prices Granger cause UHT prices.



www.manaraa.com

Dependent:	specification				Engle-Granger specification			
uht	Symmetric		Asymmetric		Symmetric		Asymmetric	
Constant	(0.005)		(0.007)		(0.005)		(0.007)	
Dfarm	0.619	*	0.613	*	0.744	**	0.740	**
Dprod	(0.001)		(0.001)		(0.002)		(0.002)	
ect(-1)	(0.100)	*			(0.064)			
ect_p(-1)			(0.081)				(0.046)	
ect_n(-1)			(0.126)				(0.095)	
Dfarm								
L1.	0.219		0.224		0.207		0.211	
L2.	0.056		0.051		(0.087)		(0.094)	
L3.	(0.306)		(0.303)		(0.434)	*	(0.434)	*
L4.	0.013		0.023		0.060		0.066	
L5.	(0.178)		(0.169)		(0.005)		0.001	
L6.	(0.541)	**	(0.539)	**	(0.401)	*	(0.402)	*
L7.	(0.164)		(0.163)		(0.179)		(0.177)	
L8.	(0.091)		(0.098)		(0.063)		(0.067)	
Dprod								
L1.	0.000		0.000		0.002		0.002	
L2.	0.002		0.002		(0.000)		(0.000)	
L3.	(0.001)		(0.001)		(0.001)		(0.002)	
L4.	(0.003)		(0.003)		(0.001)		(0.001)	
L5.	0.007		0.007		0.005		0.005	
L6.	(0.001)		(0.002)		(0.002)		(0.002)	
L7.	(0.000)		(0.000)		0.001		0.001	
L8.	0.001		0.001		(0.001)		(0.001)	
Duht								
L1.					(0.044)		(0.045)	
L2.					0.028		0.032	
L3.					0.086		0.091	
L4.					(0.035)		(0.030)	
L5.					0.009		0.013	
L6.					(0.295)	***	(0.292)	***
L7.					0.028		0.030	
L8.					0.037		0.038	
Adj. R-Sq	0.1307		0.1245		0.1675		0.1613	
B-P hett:	23.03	***	23.92	***	19.42	***	20.00	***
B-G LM	$0.085 \sim \chi(1)$		$0.135 \sim \chi(1)$		$2.073 \sim \chi(1)$		$2.89 \sim \chi(1)$	*
ARCH(LM)	$0.281 \sim \chi(1)$		$0.395 \sim \chi(1)$		$0.003 \sim \chi(1)$		$0.00 \sim \chi(1)$	
D-W d-stat	2.0198		2.03		1.999		2.002	
Durbin's								
alternative	$0.073 \sim \chi(1)$		$0.115 \sim \chi(1)$		$1.688 \sim \chi(1)$		$2.347 \sim \chi(1)$	
Normality of	17 40	***	14.70	***	10.00	***	10.57	***
residuals	15.48	<u>ጥ ጥ ጥ</u>	14.72	***	13.33	*** ETD	12.57	<u>ጥ ሾ ሾ</u>
1%; **: 5%	0, 10%		FIK sym	netry		FTR symmetry		

 Table 4.9: Error correction models with alternative specifications for UHT

 Mever v. Cramon-Taubadel



To sum up, when we consider only the short run (i.e. speed of adjustment), we fail to detect any statistically significant asymmetry in price transmission. Combining the findings of this section and the previous section where dairy firms were quick to lower their prices, we can conclude that in the process of price transmission from farm-gate to wholesale there is not an immediate concern for policy makers. TAR and M-TAR tests indicate that, if anything, the dairy firms are quicker to pass on the price concessions they extracted from farmers to retailers. And this section indicates that speed of adjustment is symmetric.

#### 4.7 Concluding Remarks

Time series variables are beset by non-stationarity. In Section 4.4, we test for the presence of a unit root in inflation-adjusted farm-gate milk prices, UHT milk prices, and the labor productivity index. In Section 4.5 we test whether these three variables are cointegrated. We find evidence for a structural break during October 1997 for the UHT milk price and labor productivity index and another one during December 2000 for farm-gate milk price. Even after accounting for these structural breaks, we find evidence for a unit root in most specifications and conclude that these variables are non-stationary. Next, we test for cointegration employing the Johansen trace tests and initially conclude that inflation-adjusted farm-gate and UHT milk prices are not cointegrated; i.e., the detected relationship between the two is spurious. In the next step, we add the labor productivity index to inflation-adjusted milk prices and, using the Johansen trace test, conclude that these three variables are indeed cointegrated. However, we suspect an asymmetric price transmission and the Johansen trace test is known to perform poorly in the presence of asymmetry. Hence, we apply TAR and M-TAR procedures to test for



cointegration in the case of asymmetry. When the dependent variable is the inflationadjusted UHT milk price, we find strong evidence for cointegration both with TAR and M-TAR tests.

A cointegrated model assumes a stable long-run relationship by definition. In the case of cointegrated APT, a stable long-run relationship means that we can only test for the speed of APT and not the magnitude of APT. When the dependent variable is the UHT milk price, we detect asymmetric price transmission in the M-TAR (the more powerful test), but not in the TAR. Interestingly, the asymmetry suggested by M-TAR is the opposite of what the literature would have predicted. The estimated threshold is greater than zero, suggesting that UHT milk producers adjust their prices quicker when the difference is above the long-run equilibrium (i.e., when the gross profit margin is stretched). In the M-TAR procedure we test whether agents adjust their behavior according to the trend of deviations instead of adjusting their behavior according to deviations. We find that the absolute value of the  $\rho_1$  (coefficient of deviations that are above the threshold) is larger than  $\rho_2$ , meaning that speed of adjustment is faster when the deviations are above the long-run relationship. Despite the fact that we find evidence for asymmetry for a cointegrated relationship among the three variables in Section 4.5.2, we still construct the ECM for APT in Section 4.6 because of loss of power of TAR and M-TAR due to estimating one more coefficient. In the ECM, we again find some evidence for asymmetry but this evidence is not statistically significant.

As explained in Section 4.3, the APT model does not prove the exercise of monopoly power; it just detects the existence (or absence) of asymmetry. Three possible explanations for asymmetry are proposed: oligopolies exerting their muscle to capture



some of consumer surplus; the menu-costs argument; and McCorriston et al.'s (2001) argument that oligopolies can enjoy both super-profits and can provide lower prices for downstream consumers because they enjoy increasing returns to scale. In Section 4.8, we have some evidence (yet statistically insignificant) that UHT milk processors react quicker if the gross margin is squeezed. However, the evidence (statistically significant) from Section 4.7 points to the opposite direction. The TAR test points symmetry, And the M-TAR test signals asymmetry but a quicker reaction from UHT milk processors when the gross margin is extended. All in all, the weight of evidence discredits the first two explanations: we do not detect positive APT which would point to oligopolies abusing their market power. On the other hand, we find some evidence (in the M-TAR test) that oligopolies are passing cost reductions to retailers quicker than the cost increases. The combined evidence from the M-TAR test for the UHT milk price and the auxiliary evidence of short- and long-run economies of scale<sup>80</sup> support the McCorriston et al. framework. We conclude, therefore, that for UHT milk in Turkey, there is both evidence of increasing returns to scale and evidence that price reductions are passed to retailers quicker than price increases.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Table 3.2 shows that between 1994 and 2003 the share of packed fluid milk in total consumption has increased from 7 to 18 percent implying that UHT milk processors are gaining market share from open milk. Table 3.3 shows that there is ample capacity to increase the production of UHT and pasteurized milk in the short run.



# **CHAPTER 5**

## CONCLUSION

In Chapter 2 we studied food consumption in conjunction with food selfprovisioning. We used the budget share of self-provisioning as a proxy to account for the productive capacity of these rural households and show that self-provisioning rural households consume a statistically significantly different food basket than other rural households and urban households. The difference is most pronounced for the dairy and egg, vegetables, and cereals food groups. We explain this difference by the different prices faced by self-provisioning rural households. Unlike other rural and urban households, the self-provisioning rural households are not pure price takers. They base their decision on how much to consume on the shadow prices resulting from being a site of both consumption and production.

When retail and shadow prices differ substantially, rural households that have access to productive factors choose to supply certain food items for themselves. The retail and shadow prices can differ substantially because of incomplete labor and credit markets or excessive margins in marketing chains. A potential consequence of incomplete markets is that participants will be less responsive to signals transmitted through markets. When we explicitly include productive factors into consumption function some of the consequences of incomplete markets are captured as lower elasticities. We compare the food expenditure and own-price elasticities obtained first from the AIDS model implicitly assuming that everybody is a price taker, and second from a model that explicitly



incorporates some of the productive factors to estimate elasticities. We show that the standard AIDS model ignoring food self-provisioning overestimates both the food expenditure and own-price elasticities, especially for dairy and egg food group. From a policy perspective, the overestimation of elasticities means that reforms that are expected to work through the markets will be less effective than predicted. For example, a reduction in the price of dairy products that can result from integrating Turkish and EU dairy markets under a customs union may increase the consumption of urban and other rural households who rely on retail markets. However, the consequence of a retail price decline for dairy products is not clear for self-provisioning rural households. If the self-provisioning rural households are not only self-sufficient in dairy products but also net sellers, the decline in price level will also result in lower income and hence will affect total consumption through the income effect. Moreover, if the chief reason for self-provisioning is lack of cash income, then a reduction in retail price may not increase the level of consumption in such households.

In Chapter 3, we build on the findings of Chapter 2 and recalculate the poverty lines for rural Turkey. In order to calculate food consumption, SIS researchers impute the regional wholesale price to self-provisioned food items. But the shadow price that determines the amount of self-provisioned food is theoretically higher than wholesale price. Households preferring to consume these food items in-kind rather than sell them at wholesale price leads to a significantly different food basket. This is evidence that they value these items higher than wholesale price. Also, at the margin cash income should be preferred to in-kind income because of money preference. This being said, accounting for in-kind income is difficult. Imputing retail prices is theoretically wrong too, because the



shadow price is lower than the retail price. Moreover, self-provisioning is not uniformly distributed among regions and products but rather concentrated in certain products and more common in some regions. Practically speaking this means that there aren't many observations for retail prices where the self-provisioning is most prevalent. On the other hand, calculating shadow prices with regression techniques would require not only detailed data on consumption (which we have in SIS 2003) but also on productive factors and allocation of these factors between various activities in a mixed farm setting (which we do not have).

Once the self-provisioned food is priced at wholesale prices it raises the possibility that the true expenditure level of these households is undervalued. The undervaluation of expenditures can lead to overstatement of poverty measures and can be consequential to the identification of poor. Furthermore, due to the methodology of poverty line construction, the poverty among other rural households can be underestimated: if we do not differentiate between self-provisioning and other rural households, the representative food basket will be priced by the weighted average of retail and self-provisioned (i.e., wholesale) prices. In other words, other rural households will be assumed to have access to some food items at wholesale prices when they actually do not. Since the poverty line is undervalued for these households, the corresponding poverty measures are underestimated.

With these concerns in mind, we first lump all rural households together, calculate the poverty line as is conventionally done, and calculate the corresponding poverty measures separately for self-provisioning and other rural households. We find that the level, depth and intensity of poverty are statistically significantly higher for self-



provisioning rural households compared to other rural households. Then, in order to determine the level of under and overestimation of poverty measures, we calculate separate poverty lines for self-provisioning and other rural households. When pricing the food basket for other rural households we consider only the prices paid by these households which are exclusively retail prices. Likewise, when pricing the food basket for self-provisioning rural households we consider the prices paid by those households which in effect are a weighted average of imputed wholesale prices and retail prices. In the end when we recalculate the poverty measures for rural households we find that initial poverty measures were indeed overestimated for self-provisioning rural households.

We first perform this study with the basic needs poverty line approach where the reference group which we use to determine the items in the food basket is second quintile households. SIS has been using this methodology since 2002. Before 2002, SIS has been calculating the poverty line starting from a pre-conceived food basket (also called the non-welfare approach). The previous methodology is criticized because the food basket is roughly equivalent to 3000 calories per day per capita and uncharacteristically rich in animal proteins for Turkey. Nevertheless, we repeat the same exercise using the preconceived food basket and reach similar results: poverty measures are overestimated for self-provisioning rural households and underestimated for other rural households when the self-provisioning issue ignored. Actually, the over- and underestimation is even more stark in the non-welfare approach, because the preconceived food basket is rich in animal calories where self-provisioning rural households have a distinct advantage, and because the non-welfare approach ignores the non-food basic needs.



In the second part of Chapter 3, we study vulnerability to income poverty and undernutrition. The study of vulnerability to poverty has garnered increased attention in recent years because first many households who currently are non-poor live with the constant fear and insecurity that any misfortune (be it an individual tragedy such as illness or death to household members or a macro shock affecting all region or the country) can tip them below the poverty line, and this insecurity is detrimental to one's well being. Moreover, it is increasingly recognized that because of vulnerability many households change their behavior in order to reduce their exposure to risky events. In some instances the low-risk, low-return activities can reduce overall income and leave the household poorer. In other words, insurance has a cost. We use the basic needs poverty lines (calculated separately for self-provisioning and other rural households) as a benchmark for vulnerability to income poverty, and the non-welfare poverty lines as a benchmark for vulnerability to undernutrition. We show that 20 to 25 percent of both the self-provisioning and other rural households are highly vulnerable to income poverty, but when we consider the vulnerability to undernutrition the situation is different: overall 29 percent of self-provisioning rural households are highly vulnerable to undernutrition versus 56 percent of other rural households. The share of urban households who are highly vulnerable to undernutrition also is higher than self-provisioning rural households (49 percent).

These empirical findings from Turkey support the predictions of the literature on vulnerability. Rural households who have access to required productive factors can choose to self-provision in order to reduce their exposure to market price risk. These findings are also in line with our initial claim that rural areas in Turkey are still beset by



incomplete markets. The volatility in the prices of agricultural goods, the high markups between wholesale and retail prices, and limited access to credit all force the majority of rural households to consider alternative strategies to ensure a steady supply of food even if it means eschewing specialization and integration into markets which result in lower overall income in the long-run.

In Chapter 4, we turn our attention to the fluid milk marketing chain. This topic is hotly debated not only in academia but also in Turkey's popular press and dairy industry circles. The raw milk price in Turkey is lower than the EU average, while some dairy product prices are significantly higher than EU levels (Grethe, 2005). On the one hand, the dairy farmers and the consumers at each end of the marketing chain suspect that the dairy processors and retailers are cornering the market by forming cartels and acting as oligopsonies especially while procuring milk. On the other hand, milk processing firms complain that milk output in Turkey is low quality and because of the dispersion of farmers their collection costs account for 15-20 percent of the total cost (as opposed to 3 - 6 percent in EU; FAO, 2007: 57). Moreover, they complain that they cannot find a sufficient quantity of suitable milk. In order to sort out these competing claims, we focus on the interaction between farm-gate milk and wholesale UHT fluid milk prices. Visual inspection of inflation adjusted farm-gate and wholesale UHT milk prices reveals that farm-gate prices are fluctuating around a mean whereas UHT milk prices show a persistent long-term decline starting late in 1997. Formal cointegration analysis confirms the visual inspection and we conclude that these two variables are not cointegrated, contrary to what we might expect based on the literature on developed countries' dairy sectors.



We observe that there were major entries to Turkey's diary processing sector during the study period, and we have auxiliary evidence that formal sector enterprises are gradually gaining market share from an informal sector (The growing size of the formal market distinguishes the Turkish dairy sector from its U.S. and European counterparts). We suspect that the growing market size for the formal sector and new investments can herald increasing returns to scale in the dairy processing, and that this can explain the long-run decline in UHT milk prices. We use the sector's labor productivity index as a proxy measure to account for increasing returns to scale. We find that the start of the long-run decline in inflation-adjusted UHT wholesale prices coincides with the start of a long-run increase in labor productivity. Furthermore, when we conduct formal cointegration tests, we show that the inflation adjusted farm-gate price, wholesale fluid milk price, and labor productivity index are cointegrated in the long-run.

Next we investigate whether dairy processing firms exercise their oligopoly powers to manipulate milk prices to their benefit. Dairy processors can intervene to manipulate the speed or the magnitude of price adjustments (or both) to benefit themselves. Manipulating speed of adjustment happens when dairy processing firms delay passing reductions in farm-gate milk prices to their customers, while more immediately reflecting increases in farm-gate milk prices. Similarly, processing firms can pass only a portion of the decline in farm-gate prices to their customers while reflecting the full cost of price increases. A combination of both strategies is also possible. We employ TAR and M-TAR models to study whether manipulation by dairy processors in the form of asymmetric price transmission is taking place as suspected by farmers and consumer groups. We find evidence of asymmetry, but its direction is contrary to our



initial expectations. The dairy processing firms are quicker to pass price reductions in farm-gate prices to their customers than price increases. We repeat the analysis with the APT model, and find no evidence of asymmetry in price transmission from farm-gate to wholesale milk prices. The weight of the empirical evidence thus does not support the initial claim by farmer and consumer groups. Even if the level of dairy product prices in Turkey is higher than the EU levels, the long-term trend in the price of these products processed by major firms is toward narrowing margins. We conclude that the increasing returns to scale and the associated productivity gains enjoyed by these firms allow them to increase their market share collectively against the informal sector and still possibly enjoy hefty profit margins.

Finally, an interesting aspect of Chapter 4 is to shed light on the limits of market forces in carrying the agricultural transformation forward. Despite a dynamic processing sector, the supply response from the dairy farmers has been disappointing both for policymakers and for processing firms themselves. The biggest complaint of these firms is that it is hard to find good quality milk at desirable quantities and prices. As noted before, two-thirds of the raw milk is either processed by households or by informal enterprises. Moreover, the dairy farmers who are the suppliers of big dairy firms are not increasing their output rapidly enough to meet the demands of the formal sector. The larger dairy farmers in Turkey are generally members of marketing cooperatives, and the prices concerning them are set in quarterly local auctions. There is no national-level price making authority for raw-milk in Turkey, so each local cooperative faces regional cartel-


like buyers in auctions (Güngör, 2006). The level and volatility of milk prices<sup>81</sup> formed at these auctions apparently does not instill enough confidence in dairy farmers to invest in expensive machinery and to enlarge their herds in order to meet the demand of dairy processors. Hence even if we do not unearth any immediate concern for public policy while investigating interaction of farm-gate and wholesale prices for fluid milk, there might be hidden costs for social welfare in the form of what might be termed as "missing milk".

On the one hand, Chapters 2 and 3 show that "modernization" strategies are misguided in seeking to shift Turkey's dairy sector towards less self-provisioning and more production for the market because self-provisioning plays an important role reducing vulnerability to undernutrition. On the other hand, Chapter 4 suggests that formal dairy processing sector is efficient but its growth is hindered by lack of supply. We believe that the most appropriate policies should try to sustain the advantages of small farms (e.g. self-provisioning) while at the same time allowing for the growth of the formal dairy industry. When profit-maximizing dairy firms try to obtain lowest farm-gate prices in the short-run, this risks undermining the long-run supply of milk. This suggests that, at the minimum, there is room for public policy to ensure that farm-gate prices will be less volatile and high enough to stimulate increased marketed output of adequate quality milk. Previously, prior to its privatization, SEK played this role with its procurement prices. Similarly, in many developed countries, the farm-gate prices are set by dairy boards which try to balance the interests of all parties. The dairy board in Turkey can generate a positive externality by reducing the uncertainty for dairy farmers and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> We show that farm-gate milk prices follow a random walk without much discernable trend.



stimulating investment in dairy farms. At the same time, extension services targeted to the small-scale producers (e.g. by improving physical infrastructure and skills of smallscale farmers) can further increase the marketed output without hampering the selfprovisioning that makes an important contribution to the nutritional well-being of Turkey's rural population.



#### APPENDICES



#### **APPENDIX 1**

#### **CHAPTER 2 APPENDIX**

	Mean	Stan.	associated
Variable		dev.	parameter
Bread price (TL/kg)	1.32	0.47	$\gamma_{ij}$
Cereal price (TL/kg)	1.55	1.24	
Meat price (TL/kg)	6.25	4.46	
Vegetable oil price (TL/kg)	2.66	0.73	
Vegetable price (TL/kg)	1.15	0.41	
Fruit price (TL/kg)	1.38	0.87	
Dairy and egg price (TL/kg)	1.73	0.99	
Sugar, jam and confectionery price (TL/kg)	3.39	2.41	
Tea and coffee price (TL/kg)	7.16	4.32	
Non-alcoholic beverage price (TL/kg)	1.44	0.55	
Other food price (TL/kg)	2.40	2.77	
Food expenditure of household (TL/month)	211.63	126.63	$\beta_i$
Total monthly spending (TL/month) <sup>a</sup>	741.31	665.70	
Number of members in the household	4.18	2.04	$\lambda_{i1}$
1 if there is children <14 years of age	0.59	0.49	$\lambda_{i2}$
1 if the head of the household is male and otherwise	0.90	0.29	$\lambda_{i3}$
1 if the head of the household is married and otherwise	0.89	0.31	$\lambda_{i4}$
1 if the head of hh is illiterate, literate without diploma			
or finished elementary school and 0 otherwise	0.63	0.48	
1 if the head of hh finished secondary or high school and 0	0.27	0.45	2
1 if the head of hh has university degree and 0 otherwise	0.27	0.43	λ <sub>i52</sub>
1 if the head of household is $<20$ years ald and 0 otherwise	0.09	0.29	$\lambda_{i53}$
1 if the age of the head of household is between 30 and 39 and 0	0.08	0.28	
otherwise	0.26	0 44	λ
1 if the age of the head of household is between 40 and 49 and 0	0.20	0.11	10102
otherwise	0.27	0.44	$\lambda_{i63}$
1 if the age of the head of household is <50 and 0 otherwise	0.39	0.49	$\lambda_{i64}$
1 if the housewife has employed in full-time job and 0 otherwise	0.20	0.40	$\lambda_{i7}$
1 if the household is located in an urban area and 0 otherwise	0.71	0.45	$\lambda_{i8}$
1 for the lowest income group and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>	0.20	0.40	
1 for the lowest-to-middle income group and 0 otherwise	0.20	0.40	$\lambda_{i92}$
1 for the middle income group and 0 otherwise	0.20	0.40	$\lambda_{i93}$
1 for the middle-to-highest income group and 0 otherwise	0.20	0.40	$\lambda_{i94}$
1 for highest income group and 0 otherwise	0.20	0.40	$\lambda_{i95}$
1 if survey done in the first quarter of the year and 0 otherwise <sup>b</sup>	0.25	0.43	
1 if survey done in the second quarter of the year and 0			
otherwise	0.25	0.43	$\lambda_{i102}$
1 if survey done in the third quarter of the year and 0 otherwise	0.25	0.43	$\lambda_{i103}$
1 if survey done in the fourth quarter of the year and 0 otherwise	0.25	0.43	$\lambda_{i104}$
continued			

### Table A1.1: Summary Statistics for variables used in LA/AIDS model



	Mean	Stan.	associated
Variable		dev.	parameter
1 if household lives in Marmara region and 0 otherwise	0.14	0.35	$\lambda_{i112}$
1 if household lives in Aegean or West Anatolia region and 0			
otherwise	0.25	0.44	$\lambda_{i113}$
1 if household lives in the Mediterranean region and 0 otherwise	0.13	0.34	$\lambda_{i114}$
1 if household lives in Central Anatolia region and 0 otherwise	0.07	0.25	$\lambda_{i115}$
1 if household lives in the Black Sea region and 0 otherwise	0.14	0.35	$\lambda_{i116}$
1 if household lives in northeastern or central eastern Anatolia			
and 0 otherwise	0.06	0.25	$\lambda_{i117}$
1 if household lives in southeastern Anatolia region and 0			
otherwise <sup>b</sup>	0.09	0.28	
PDF for each food group			$\delta_i$
Share of self-provisioning (calculated in terms of monetary			
value)	0.05	0.15	$\rho_i$

#### Table A1.1, continued

a: Only included in the first step probit model; b: The dummy variable omitted in the estimation.

	a	all sample			Urban			rural			
	# of		St.	# of		St.	# of		St.		
	obs.	Mean	Dev	obs.	Mean	Dev	obs.	Mean	Dev		
F. farm labor											
(hour/week)	4,044	59	49	441	46	34	3,603	60	50		
M. farm labor											
(hour/week)	4,285	63	47	474	49	36	3,811	64	48		
Field (TL)	5,757	31,231	75,407	1,207	32,395	84,042	4,550	30,922	72,952		
Health insurance	25,747	46.5%	50%	18,267	52.3%	50%	7,480	32.2%	47%		
Average grazing	25,747	61	52	18,267	61	52	7,480	61	54		
Poor share	25,747	9.77%	1%	18,267	9.69%	1%	7,480	9.95%	1%		

#### **Table A1.2: Summary Statistics for the Production Variables**

Table A1.3 present the results for likelihood ratio tests. The null hypothesis is whether the alternative models - one with and other without the self-provisioning variables – are statistically significantly different from each other. The first two rows are the test the significance of imposing demand theory restrictions (Equation 2.9). We conclude that these restrictions are statistically significant. The rest of the table presents test results for the nonseparation assumption. All the specifications have the same result: likelihood ratio test statistics reject the separation assumption. Inclusion of selfprovisioning variables statistically significantly changes the demand system for SIS 2003 sample.



		D E			Critical value	Prob
Likelihood Ratio Test	Sample	D.F.	LOGL	Chi2	(0.05)	>Chi2
Demand system without constraints	all		501,802			
Demand system with constraints & w/o						
self-provisioning	all	94	489,453	24,698.0	117.63	0.00
Self-provisioning budget share included	all	11	491,585	4,265.5	19.68	0.00
Demand system without self-provisioning	urban		361,814	-		
Self-provisioning budget share included	urban	11	362,037	446.7	19.68	0.00
Demand system without self-provisioning	rural		137,567	-		
Self-provisioning budget share included	rural	11	138,405	1,675.9	19.68	0.00
Demand system with constraints & w/o						
self-provisioning	all		489,453	-		
Self-provisioning alternative <sup>#</sup>	all	11	490,888	2,870.4	19.68	0.00
Self-provisioning predicted variable*	all	11	490,790	2,674.4	19.68	0.00

Table A1.3: Likelihood Ratio Tests for Separability Test Crit

\*: We used food budget share of corresponding food groups instead of overall average, please see Table 3 for food groups with non-zero self-provisioning. #: We constructed an alternative budget share of self-provision variable by combining rows 2, 3 and 4 from Table 1. ^: The R-Square of the first stage is 0.48. The result of the first stage is available upon request.

In the model including the self-provisioning budget share, 385 coefficients are estimated. Of these 275 of those relate to demographic variables (Please refer to Table A4). Also, 193 of the demographic coefficients are significant (70 percent) at the 5 percent significance level or less. All of the coefficients for the urban dummy are statistically significant except for fruit budget share. Likewise, all of the coefficients for 5<sup>th</sup> quintile dummy are significant except for the sugar budget share. Moreover, when we consider the income quintile dummies for food groups, almost all of them have the same sign (even when statistically insignificant). For example, all of the coefficients for quintile dummies are negative for bread (1<sup>st</sup> quintile is omitted) and positive for meat products. A similar situation is mostly true for education and age dummies: when they are significant, they generally have the same signs. For example, as the educational attainment of household head increases the budget share of meat products, fruits, non-alcoholic beverages and other food products also increases. All regional dummies for



cereal and tea and coffee food groups are significant and negative relative to the omitted region (which is the southeast, the poorest region).

#### **Quality:**

Drichoutis, et al., (2008) point out that like many other household surveys, the SIS 2003 actually does not include price information and Akbay et al., (2007) calculate the price by dividing expenditures by quantity purchased. However, such a calculated unit price may reflect not only differences in prices but also the differences in quality of the commodity. If the quality effects depend on household characteristics (for example, wealthier households may prefer higher quality products) then some of the regressors may covary. They suggest an instrumental variables approach to adjust for quality differences. In their response to the commentary, Akbay et al., (2008) pose the question: "What is the good corresponding to that price after quality adjustment?" (p. 101). They also point out that existing instrumental variable approaches (using household income and demographics as instruments) are *ad hoc*, and may cause identification problems in the second stage. They end up using calculated unit prices.

As the discussion in the introduction suggests, there is more to price differences than quality, i.e., self-provisioning. Whatever the initial reason, incomplete markets reflect themselves as a significant discrepancy between the cost of self-provisioning for the household and the alternative retail price. The next section discusses self-provisioning for the SIS 2003 survey in detail, and it will be clear to the reader that using this data set



for quality adjustment without properly accounting for self-provisioning<sup>82</sup> will lead to the erroneous conclusion that urban consumers consume higher quality produce since they pay higher prices. Hence, we do not adjust for the quality and calculated prices as they did.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> Naturally, only quantity information is available for self-provisioned home produce. In order to convert quantity to monetary spending, the prices are imputed by SIS. It turns out that the imputed prices are roughly 70 percent of corresponding rural retail prices.





continued

7	Table A1.4	: Estimat	ted demar	ıd param	eters of L	A/AIDS r	nodel inclu	iding self-	provisioni	ng varial	ole
Variables	Bread	Cereal	Meat	Veg. Oils	Vegetables	Fruit	Dairy& Egg	Sugar	Tea& Coff.	Beverage	Other food
Constant	0.3004***	0.1226***	-0.3586***	0.0186***	0.2722***	0.1612***	0.2553***	0.0530***	0.1184***	0.0276***	0.0294***
Bread price	0.0143***										
Cereal price	0.0065***	0.0183***									
Meat price	-0.0093***	-0.0055***	0.0520***								
Vegetable oil price	0.0054***	-0.0026***	-0.0060***	0.0053***							
Vegetable price	-0.0025**	-0.0049***	-0.0099***	0.0089***	0.0344***						
Fruit price	-0.0054***	-0.001	-0.0058***	-0.0002	-0.0116***	0.0173***					
Dairy & egg price	-0.0032***	-0.0061***	-0.0081***	-0.0028***	-0.0064***	-0.0024***	0.0345***				
Sugar price	-0.0052***	-0.0040***	-0.0034***	-0.0061***	-0.0071***	0.0050***	-0.0050***	0.0249***			
Tea & coffee price	0.0016***	-0.0008*	-0.0012**	-0.0005	0.0027***	-0.0006	-0.0005	-0.0055***	0.0039***		
beverage price	-0.0026***	0.0015***	-0.0003	-0.0004	-0.0029***	0.0032***	0.0001	0.0053***	0.0007**	-0.0035***	
Other food	0.0003	-0.0014***	-0.0026***	-0.0009***	-0.0006*	0.0016***	-0.0001	0.0011***	0.0003	-0.0011***	0.0035***
Food expenditure	-0.0542***	0.0085***	0.1145***	0.0114***	-0.0211***	-0.0172***	-0.0286***	0.0067***	-0.0093***	-0.0090***	-0.0017***
Hh size	0.0075***	0.0048***	-0.0124***	0.0004	0.0019***	-0.0026***	-0.0008***	0.0030***	0	-0.0016***	-0.0003**
Child dummy	0.0089***	-0.0046***	-0.0042**	-0.0025**	-0.0080***	-0.0021**	0.0131***	0.0018	-0.0023***	0	0
Male head	0.0197***	-0.0069**	0.0005	-0.0046**	-0.0036	0.0028	-0.0060***	-0.0073***	0.0032**	0.0029**	-0.0006
Married	0.0057*	0	-0.0094***	0.0034	0.0046**	0.0026	0.0009	0.0039*	-0.0063***	-0.0052***	-0.0002
Education 2	-0.0096***	-0.0081***	0.0100***	-0.0062***	0.0001	0.0086***	0.0060***	-0.0077***	-0.0005	0.0058***	0.0015***
Education 3	-0.0339***	-0.0013	0.0158***	-0.0131***	-0.0038**	0.0234***	0.0145***	-0.0075***	-0.0016	0.0063***	0.0012**
Age 2	0.0036	-0.0068***	0.0043	0.0038**	-0.0024	0.0047***	-0.0009	0.0014	-0.0005	-0.0044***	-0.0028***
Age 3	0.0128***	-0.0063***	-0.0005	0.0050***	0.0040**	0.0067***	-0.0070***	-0.0037**	-0.0006	-0.0076***	-0.0027***
Age 4	-0.0031	-0.0064***	0.0019	0.0084***	0.0047***	0.0095***	0.0047**	-0.0036**	-0.0019*	-0.0110***	-0.0032***
Wife employed	-0.0125***	0.0104***	-0.0032	0.0011	-0.0007	-0.0051***	0.0008	0.0087***	0.0005	0.0002	-0.0003
Urban	0.0386***	-0.0305***	0.0103***	-0.0074***	-0.0102***	-0.0019*	0.0180***	-0.0165***	-0.0053***	0.0061***	-0.0013***
Quintile 2	-0.0029	-0.0085***	0.0007	0.0032**	-0.0183***	0.0041***	0.0035**	0.0021	-0.0057***	0.0182***	0.0037***
Quintile 3	-0.0084***	-0.0189***	0.0027	0.001	-0.0178***	0.0130***	0.0085***	0.0031*	-0.0092***	0.0230***	0.0030***
Quintile 4	-0.0167***	-0.0228***	0.0138***	-0.002	-0.0177***	0.0164***	0.0121***	-0.0023	-0.0109***	0.0276***	0.0025**
Quintile 5	-0.0362***	-0.0203***	0.0232***	-0.0054***	-0.0275***	0.0247***	0.0123***	-0.0037*	-0.0085***	0.0379***	0.0037***
Quarter 2	0.0044***	-0.0018	-0.0716***	0.0005	0.0488***	-0.0001	0.0070***	-0.0047***	0.001	0.0157***	0.0007

Table A1.4, continued											
Variables	Bread	Cereal	Meat	Veg. Oils	Vegetables	Fruit	Dairy& Egg	Sugar	Tea& Coff.	Beverage	Other food
Quarter 3	0.0030*	-0.0015	-0.0697***	0.0009	0.0646***	-0.0120***	0.0047***	-0.0063***	0.0012*	0.0139***	0.0012**
Quarter 4	0.0007	0.0038**	-0.0417***	-0.0037***	0.0369***	-0.0008	-0.0047***	0.0014	-0.0006	0.0064 ***	0.0022***
Istanbul	0.0593***	-0.0312***	-0.0237***	-0.0091***	-0.0005	0.0013	0.0123***	-0.0150***	-0.0133***	0.0202***	-0.0004
Marmara	0.0739***	-0.0352***	-0.0117***	-0.0115***	-0.0053***	0.0042**	-0.0025	-0.0078***	-0.0179***	0.0138***	-0.0001
Aegean & West	0.0600***	-0.0325***	-0.0156***	-0.0091***	-0.0029	0.0096***	-0.0043**	-0.0075***	-0.0095***	0.0111***	0.0007
Mediterranean	0.0618***	-0.0349***	-0.0195***	-0.0061***	0.002	0.0021	-0.0061***	-0.0028	-0.0079***	0.0105***	0.0011
Central Anatolia	0.0625***	-0.0450***	-0.0097**	-0.0007	-0.0136***	0.0114***	0.0042*	-0.0028	-0.0142***	0.0046***	0.0034***
Black Sea	0.0708***	-0.0260***	-0.0164***	0.002	-0.0022	0.0024	-0.0082***	-0.0084***	-0.0140***	0.0002	-0.0005
NE & Central East	0.0630***	-0.0094***	0.0124***	-0.0106***	-0.0123***	-0.0022	-0.0021	-0.0096***	-0.0163***	-0.0081***	-0.0049***
PDF	0.0315***	0.0200***	0.1065***	0.0839***	-0.6965***	0.009	0.3141***	0.1208***	-0.0195***	0.0304***	-0.0001
Self-provisioning	-0.2302***	0.1203***	-0.0732***	-0.0595***	-0.0257***	0.0057	0.2766***	-0.0457***	-0.0069***	-0.0090***	-0.0032*
Observations	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747	25,747
significant at 10%;	** significa	nt at 5%; **	** significan	it at 1%							

## Table A1.5: Food Expenditure and uncompensated price elasticities for the demand system estimated including the self provisioning variable

				Veg.			Dairy &		Tea &		Other	Expenditure
Food Groups	Bread	Cereals	Meat	oils	Vegetables	Fruits	egg	Sugar	Coffee	Beverages	food	Elasticities
Bread	-0.86	0.05	-0.18	0.05	0.00	-0.03	0.01	-0.08	0.08	-0.03	0.03	0.67
Cereals	0.07	-0.82	-0.10	-0.05	-0.02	0.01	-0.02	-0.06	0.00	0.06	-0.07	1.09
Meat & meat products	-0.01	-0.07	-0.76	-0.11	-0.04	-0.04	-0.03	-0.05	0.00	0.03	-0.13	1.75
Vegetable oils	0.05	-0.03	-0.08	-0.93	0.06	0.01	-0.01	-0.08	0.00	0.00	-0.04	1.17
Vegetables	0.04	-0.07	-0.19	0.10	-0.78	-0.09	-0.01	-0.10	0.11	-0.04	-0.02	0.88
Fruits	0.00	-0.02	-0.11	-0.02	-0.06	-0.80	0.00	0.05	0.01	0.11	0.10	0.81
Dairy products and egg	0.03	-0.08	-0.17	-0.07	-0.02	0.00	-0.74	-0.07	0.02	0.04	0.01	0.81
Sugar, etc	-0.01	-0.05	-0.08	-0.10	-0.03	0.07	-0.02	-0.71	-0.12	0.16	0.07	1.08
Tea and Coffee	0.02	-0.01	-0.03	-0.01	0.02	0.00	0.00	-0.07	-0.90	0.03	0.02	0.77
Non-alcoholic beverages	-0.01	0.01	-0.02	-0.01	-0.01	0.04	0.01	0.06	0.02	-1.09	-0.06	0.76
Other food products	0.01	-0.02	-0.03	-0.02	0.00	0.02	0.00	0.01	0.01	-0.03	-0.80	0.90

#### Uncompensated own and cross price elasticities



#### **APPENDIX 2**

#### **CHAPTER 3 APPENDIX**

	Monthly Quantities	Urban,	Rural,	Self-provisioning	rural
Food Groups	(kg)	TL	TL	rural, TL	other, TL
Meat, eggs, beans					
Meat, poultry, fish, edible offal	6	31.9	31.5	30.7	31.9
Dried bean, lentil, chickpeas	5	5.4	5.4	5.2	5.6
Eggs	80 units	10.4	10.5	10.5	10.5
Dairy products					
Milk, yogurt	28	23.6	17.5	16.1	20.9
Cheese	3	12.3	11.1	9.6	12.5
Vegetables and Fruits					
Vegetables, leafy greens	12	9.7	9.1	8.8	10.2
Potatoes	12	5.1	5.3	5.1	6.0
Onion	4	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.2
Other vegetables	6	4.8	4.8	4.8	4.8
Fresh fruit	16	12.4	12.3	11.7	12.7
Cereals					
Bread	12	13.1	13.3	12.9	13.4
Boiled wheat	2	2.1	2.0	0.8	2.6
Rice	2	2.8	3.0	2.9	3.0
Macaroni, vermicelli	2	2.1	2.1	2.1	2.1
Flour	2	1.7	1.4	1.3	1.6
Oils and Sugar					
Edible oil	2	4.4	4.3	4.2	4.4
Margarine and butter	2	6.4	6.3	6.4	6.4
Olive	2	4.1	4.2	4.3	4.2
Sugar	4	7.0	7.1	7.1	7.1
Jam, honey, syrup	2	10.6	10.0	9.6	10.0
Tea, Spice and nuts					
Tomato paste	2	4.1	4.2	4.3	4.2
Salt	2	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.4
Tea	0.4	2.2	2.2	2.3	2.2
Walnut, hazelnut in shell	0.4	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.3
Monthly Total food budget, TL		180.3	171.5	164.3	180.1
Observed mean food budget for four person household, TL		226	210	213	208

#### Table A2.1: Monthly cost of the Hacettepe Basket for four-person family

The average exchange rate for 2003 is 1.5 TL for \$1 at current prices, and 0.732 TL for \$1 at PPP.



	urban-	rural pover	ty line	Urban, so other r	elf-provisio ural povert	ning and y lines
	Headcount Rate(P0)	Poverty Gap(P1)	Squared Poverty Gap(P2)	Headcount Rate(P0)	Poverty Gap(P1)	Squared Poverty Gap(P2)
Urban	0.47	0.14	0.06	0.47	0.14	0.06
Rural	0.37	0.10	0.04	0.38	0.11	0.05
rural self-provisioning	0.36	0.10	0.04	0.30	0.08	0.03
rural other	0.37	0.11	0.05	0.45	0.14	0.06
Total	0.43	0.13	0.05	0.44	0.13	0.06

## Table A2.2: Food Poverty according to welfare method (Table 3.1 food bundle) uwbon mural poverty line

 Table A2.3: Vulnerability to undernutrition according to welfare method

 all sample

			1	
				poor and
	criterion	poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 >= v_h$	0.16	0.44	0.60
highly vulnerable	$v_{h} > 0.5$	0.28	0.13	0.40
All groups		0.44	0.56	1.00
			Urban	
				poor and
	criterion	poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 >= v_h$	0.15	0.39	0.54
highly vulnerable	$v_{h} > 0.5$	0.32	0.14	0.46
Urban		0.47	0.53	1.00
		ru	ral self-provi	sioning
				poor and
	criterion	poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 >= v_h$	0.19	0.63	0.83
highly vulnerable	$v_{h} > 0.5$	0.10	0.07	0.17
rural self-provisioning		0.30	0.70	1.00
			rural othe	er
				poor and
	criterion	poor	non-poor	non-poor
moderately vulnerable	$0.5 \mathrel{>=} v_h$	0.18	0.41	0.59
highly vulnerable	$v_{h} > 0.5$	0.27	0.14	0.41
rural other		0.45	0.55	1.00



#### **APPENDIX 3**

#### **CHAPTER 4 APPPENDIX**

Year	CPI	Wholesale	Agriculture
1994	111.01	117.42	91.5
1995	76.05	65.63	86.7
1996	79.76	84.92	89.9
1997	99.09	90.96	96.5
1998	69.73	54.26	71.9
1999	68.79	62.91	30.0
2000	39.03	32.66	39.8
2001	68.53	88.56	65.5
2002	29.75	30.84	35.2
2003	18.36	13.94	20.0
2004	9.32	13.84	14.1
2005	10.53	4.54	2.6
2006	9.65	11.58	2.7

### Table A3.1: Annual inflation rates for selected years and indices CPI Wholesale Agriculture

#### **Unit Root and Cointegration Analyses of Nominal Prices**

Here we present the unit root and cointegration analyses for log-nominal prices.

The corollary tables for the inflation-adjusted prices are noted in parentheses.

	productivity index (Table 4.4)									
		structural								
		break	trend							
Variable	test	date	variable	lags	test score	conclusion				
log-nominal	DF		yes	0 lag	-0.125	FTR Ho of unit root				
UHT milk	KPSS		yes	13 lags	1.8684	Reject Ho of stationarity				
price	Structural break	: 1997 M10	yes	3 lags	-0.5971	FTR Ho of unit root				
log-nominal	DF		yes	0 lag	-0.6168	FTR Ho of unit root				
farm-gate	KPSS		yes	1 lag	1.715	Reject Ho of stationarity				
milk price	Structural break	1994 M11	yes	1 lag	-0.8078	FTR Ho of unit root				
log-nominal	ADF		yes	10 lags	-1.5347	FTR Ho of unit root				
productivity	KPSS		yes	10 lags	0.2033	Reject Ho at 5%				
index	Structural break	1997 M3	yes	10 lags	-1.7531	FTR Ho of unit root				

# Table A3.2: Log-nominal farm-gate and UHT milk price and log-nominal laborproductivity index (Table 4.4)



Figure A3.1: Log-nominal UHT milk price with shift dummy, break (1997.M10), 1 lag



Figure A3.2: Log-nominal Farm-gate milk price with shift dummy, break (1994.M11), 0 lag



Figure A3.3: Log-nominal Productivity Index with shift dummy (1997.M3), 10 lags





يستشارات

www.manaraa.com

The following TAR and M-TAR analysis considers only the cointegration of lognominal UHT price and log-nominal farm-gate price following the findings in Table A3.3 which reveal that log-nominal prices are cointegrated (without taking into account the hourly labor productivity index). For simplicity, we consider only one structural break for October 1997. Table A3.4 shows the results for TAR and M-TAR models. For the TAR model, all coefficient estimates have the expected negative signs for zero and non-zero threshold. In the case of the TAR model, the threshold is less than zero, indicating that milk processors make quicker adjustments in prices when the actual wholesale prices are below the long-term equilibrium price. The absolute value of the coefficient estimate of  $\rho_1$  is larger than that of  $\rho_2$ , suggesting faster convergence in response to positive deviations from equilibrium. t-Max values for the TAR model are -1.28 (zero threshold) and -0.91 (non-zero threshold); i.e. higher than the 10 percent critical values (-1.90 and -1.91). Hence, we fail to reject the no-cointegration hypothesis. Moreover, when we perform the joint hypothesis with the more powerful  $\Phi$  test, we fail to reject the null hypothesis of no cointegration at every significance level.

For the M-TAR model the coefficient estimate for  $\rho_1$  is negative and the coefficient estimate for  $\rho_2$  is negative when the threshold is zero and positive when the threshold is non-zero (statistically insignificant in both cases). In this case, we cannot use *t-Max* because not all coefficient estimates are negative. The sample  $\Phi^*$  statistics are 3.87 for zero threshold and 8.61 for non-zero threshold. The  $\Phi^*$  statistics is greater than the 5 percent significance value of 6.78 for the case of non-zero threshold, so only in this case the null hypothesis of no cointegration can be rejected. Given this results for



143

cointegration, the next step is to test asymmetry. The usual F-test confirms that the

coefficients of positive and negative deviations are asymmetric.

Johansen Trace test - Constant									
Variables	structural break	lags	result						
Farm-gate and UHT	no	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index no			1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index 1997 M10			2 cointegrating vectors						
Farm-gate and UHT	1994.M11 1997.M10	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	x 1994.M11 1997.M10	5	2 cointegrating vectors						
Johansen Trace test - Constant & trend									
Farm-gate and UHT	no	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	no	8	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate and UHT 1997 M10		1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	x 1997 M10	5	3 cointegrating vectors						
Farm-gate and UHT	1994.M11 1997.M10	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	x 1994.M11 1997.M10	5	2 cointegrating vectors						
Johansen Trace test - orthogonal t									
Farm-gate and UHT	no	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index no			1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate and UHT	1997 M10	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index 1997 M10			1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate and UHT	1994.M11 1997.M10	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index	x 1994.M11 1997.M10	5	1 cointegrating vector						
Saikkonen & Lütkepohl test	test type	lags							
Farm-gate and UHT	constant	1	1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index constant			0 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate and UHT	constant & trend	1	1 cointegrating vector at 10 %						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index constant & trend			0 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate and UHT orthogonal trend			1 cointegrating vector						
Farm-gate, UHT, productivity index orthogonal trend			2 cointegrating vectors						

 Table A3.3: Cointegration tests for farm-gate, UHT milk prices and labor productivity index (Table 4.5)

When we deal with log-nominal prices, we find evidence for cointegration and asymmetry only in the M-TAR test. In the case of the M-TAR model, the threshold is less than zero, indicating that milk processors make quicker adjustments in prices when the deviations from long-term equilibrium are below the long-term for 'momentum'. However, the absolute value of the coefficient estimate of  $\rho_1$  is larger than that of  $\rho_2$ ,

suggesting faster convergence in response to positive deviations from equilibrium.



Therefore, the farm-to-wholesale price transmission in Turkey is asymmetric, and adjustments are stronger when  $\mu_{t-1}$  is greater than the threshold value of -0.032. That is, when actual wholesale prices are higher than the equilibrium prices, a more rapid adjustment back toward the equilibrium price occurs. This conclusion for log nominal prices is similar to inflation-adjusted prices.

4.0)										
dependent variable	threshold	$ ho^a_{ m l}$	t-value	$ ho_2^b$	t-value	$\Phi^c$	$\rho_1 = \rho_2^d$	p- value		
TAR										
c=0		(0.117)	-2.46	(0.059)	-1.28	3.85				
$C \neq 0$	(0.093)	(0.128)	-2.8	(0.043)	-0.91	4.33				
M-TAR										
c=0		(0.112)	-2.59	(0.052)	-1.01	3.87				
$\mathbf{C} \neq 0$	(0.032)	(0.136)	-3.71	0.072	1.08	7.36	7.49	0.007		
G 07 1	4	0 1	11.1 .1							

Table A3.4: Results of TAR and M-TAR for log-nominal UHT milk price (Table4.6)

a: Coefficients and t-statistics for the null hypothesis  $\rho_1 = 0$ .

b: Coefficients and t-statistics for the null hypothesis  $\rho_2 = 0$ . t-Max critical values:

when c=0: TAR: 1%: -2.55, 5%: -2.11, 10%: -1.90. M-TAR: 1%: -2.57, 5%: -2.14, 10%: -1.91.

when  $c \neq 0$ : TAR: 1%: -2.35, 5%: -1.85, 10%: -1.61. M-TAR: 1%: -2.37, 5%: -1.90, 10%: -1.65. c: F statistics for the joint hypothesis  $\rho_1 = \rho_2 = 0$ .

when c= 0: TAR: 1%: 8.24, 5%: 5.98; 10%: 5.01; M-TAR: 1%: 8.78, 5%: 6.51, 10%: 5.45.

when  $c \neq 0$ : TAR: 1%: 9.27, 5%: 6.95; 10%: 5.95; M-TAR: 1%: 9.14, 5%: 6.78, 10%: 5.73.

d: F statistics for the joint hypothesis  $\rho_1 = \rho_2$  to test for asymmetric price transmission.



#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Acar, M. (2003). Agricultural unskilled labor mobility: Does it matter? *Journal of Economic Integration*, 18(1), 164-187; 164.
- Adhikari, B., Di Falco, S., & Lovett, J. C. (2004). Household characteristics and forest dependency: Evidence from common property forest management in Nepal. *Ecological Economics*, 48(2), 245-257.
- Agarwal, B. (2000). Conceptualizing environmental collective action: Why gender matters. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 24(3), 283.
- Agrawal, A., & Gibson, C. C. (1999). Enchantment and disenchantment: The role of community in natural resource conservation. *World Development*, 27(4), 629-649.
- Aguiar, D. R. D., & Santana, J. A. (2002). Asymmetry in farm to retail price transmission: Evidence from brazil. *Agribusiness*, 18(1), 37-48; 48.
- Ahern, M. C., Korb, P., & Banker, D. (2005). Industrialization and contracting in U.S. agriculture. *Journal of Agriculture and Applied Economics*, 37(2), 347-364; 347.
- Akbay, C., Boz, I., & Chern, W. S. (2007). Household food consumption in Turkey. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 34(2), 209.
- Akbay, C., Boz, I., & Chern, W. S. (2008). Household food consumption in Turkey: A reply. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, *35*(1), 99-102.
- Alesina, A., & Rodrik, D. (1994). Distributive politics and economic growth. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, , 465-490.
- Alwang, J., Siegel, P. B., & Jorgensen, S. L. (2001). Vulnerability: A view from different disciplines No. 0115. Social Protection Unit, Human Development Network, World Bank. Retrieved from <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org.silk.library.umass.edu:2048/SOCIALPROTECTI</u> <u>ON/Resources/SP-Discussion-papers/Social-Risk-Management-DP/0115.pdf</u>
- Amsden, A. H. (1992). *Asia's next giant: South Korea and late industrialization* Oxford University Press, USA.
- Anac, H., Donmez, D., & Dellal, I. (2005). Bugday/ Wheat. No. 64. Ankara: TEAE.
- Anderson, S. (2003). Animal genetic resources and sustainable livelihoods. *Ecological Economics*, 45(3), 331-339.



- Armagan, G., & Akbay, C. (2008). An econometric analysis of urban households' animal products consumption in Turkey. *Applied Economics*, 40(15), 2025-2032.
- Armagan, G. (2002). Structural analysis of dairy sector in the selected EU pre-accession countries. *Conference of Young Researchers,* Rackova Dolina, Slovakia.
- Arrow, K. J., & Fisher, A. C. (1974). Environmental preservation, uncertainty, and irreversibility. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 312-319.
- Ash, M., & Fetter, T. R. (2004). Who lives on the wrong side of the environmental tracks? Evidence from the EPA's risk-screening environmental indicators model. *Social Science Quarterly*, *85*(2), 441-462.
- Ataman, P. (2006). Gida sanayii ozel ihtisas komisyonu raporu / special commission report for food industry No. 105)
- Atici, C., & Kennedy, L. (2000). Impacts of Turkey's integration into the European Union on agriculture in the post-Uruguay round environment. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry*, 24, 453-456; 453.
- Atmis, E., Dasdemir, I., Lise, W., & YIldIran, Ö. (2007). Factors affecting women's participation in forestry in Turkey. *Ecological Economics*, 60(4), 787-796.
- Attwood, D. W. (2005). Big is ugly? How large-scale institutions prevent famines in western India. *World Development*, *33*(12), 2067-2083; 2067.
- Aydın, Z. (2002). The new right, structural adjustment and Turkish agriculture: Rural responses and survival strategies. *The Economic Journal of Development Research*, 14(2), 183-208; 183.
- Bacon, R. W. (1991). Rockets and feathers: The asymmetric speed of adjustment of UK. retail gasoline prices to cost changes. *Energy Economics*, *13*(3), 211-218; 211.
- Baer, P., Harte, J., Haya, B., Herzog, A. V., Holdren, J., Hultman, N. E., et al. (2000). Equity and greenhouse gas responsibility. *Science*, *289*(5488), 2287.
- Banerjee, A. V., Bénabou, R., & Mookherjee, D. (Eds.). (2006). Understanding poverty Oxford University Press, USA.
- Bardhan, P. K. (1980). Interlocking factor markets and agrarian development: A review of issues. *Oxford Economic Papers*, , 82-98.
- Başlevent, C., & Dayıoğlu, M. (2005). A household level examination of regional income disparity in Turkey. *ODTU Gelisme Dergisi, 32*, 275-302; 275.



- Bayar, A., Diao, X., & Yeldan, A. E. (2000). An intertemporal, multi-region general equilibrium model of agricultural trade liberalization in the south Mediterranean NIC's, Turkey, and the European union. *Third Annual Conference on Global Economic Analysis*, Melbourne, Australia.
- Baysal, A. (1995). Genel beslenme / general nutrition
- Belginsoy, C. (1997). A macroeconomic analysis of agricultural terms of trade in Turkey, 1952-90. *The Journal of Development Studies*, *33*(6), 797-819; 797.
- Benjamin, D. (1992). Household composition, labor markets, and labor demand: Testing for separation in agricultural household models. *Econometrica*, 60(2), 287-322.
- Berkum, S. v. (2005). Is the Turkish agri-food sector ready for EU entry? *EAAE 2005 XIth Conference*, Copenhagen, Denmark.
- Besley, T., & Burgess, R. (2000). Land reform, poverty reduction, and growth: Evidence from India\*. *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 115(2), 389-430.
- Best, M. H. (1990). *The new competition: Institutions of industrial restructuring* Harvard Univ Pr.
- Binswanger, H. P., & Deininger, K. (1997). Explaining agricultural and agrarian policies in developing countries. *Journal of Economic Literature*, 35(4), 1958-2005.
- Boratav, K. (2006). Türkiye iktisat tarihi. Ankara: İmge Kitabevi.
- Boratav, K. (2007). Issizlik azaliyor mu? artiyor mu?
- Retrieved from <u>www.Sol.Org.Tr</u> February 4th, 2007.
- Bowles, S. (2004). *Microeconomics: Behavior, institutions, and evolution* Princeton University Press.
- Boyce, J. K. (1993). *The political economy of growth and impoverishment in the Marcos era* Ateneo de Manila University Press.
- Boyce, J. K. (2002). *Investing in peace: Aid and conditionality after civil wars* Oxford University Press.
- Boyce, J. K. (2002). The political economy of the environment Edward Elgar Pub.
- Boyce, J. K. (2004). Unpacking aid. *Catalyzing development?: A debate on aid* (pp. 21) Wiley-Blackwell.



- Boyce, J. K. (Ed.). (2006). 4. A future for small farms? biodiversity and sustainable agriculture Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Boyce, J. K., & Shelley, B. G. (Eds.). (2003). *Natural assets: Democratizing environmental ownership* Island Pr.
- Boyce, J. K., Stanton, E., & Rosset, P. (2005). *Land reform and sustainable development*. Political Economy Research Institute, University of Massachusetts at Amherst.
- Boyce, J. K. (1987). Agrarian impasse in Bengal: Institutional constraints to technological change. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Bromley, D. W. (1991). *Environment and economy: Property rights and public policy* Basil Blackwell Cambridge MA.
- Bromley, D. W. (2000). Can agriculture become an environmental asset. *World Economics*, 1(3), 127-139.
- Brown, T. C., & Gregory, R. (1999). Why the WTA-WTP disparity matters. *Ecological Economics*, 28(3), 323-335.
- Brush, S. B. (1998). Bio-cooperation and the benefits of crop genetic resources: The case of Mexican maize. *World Development*, 26(5), 755-766.
- Budrys, G. (2003). Unequal health: How inequality contributes to health or illness Rowman & Littlefield Pub Inc.
- Bullard, R. D., & Johnson, G. S. (2002). Environmentalism and public policy: Environmental justice: Grassroots activism and its impact on public policy decision making. *Journal of Social Issues*, 56(3), 555-578.
- Çakmak, B., Beyribey, M., & Kodal, S. (2004). Irrigation water pricing in water user associations, Turkey. Water Resources Development, 20(1), 113-124; 113.
- Çakmak, E. H. (2004). *Structural change and market opening in Turkish agriculture* No. 40). Brussels: Centre for European Policy Studies.
- Çakmak, E. H., Yeldan, A. E., & Zaim, O. (1996). The rural economy under structural adjustment and financial liberalization: Results of a macro-integrated agriculturalsector model for Turkey. *Canadian Journal of Development Studies*, 17(3), 427-447; 427.
- Çakmak, E., Dudu, H., & Ocal, N. (2008). *Turk tarim sektorunde etkinlik: Yontem ve hanehalki duzeyinde nicel analiz/ effectiveness in Turkish agricultural sector: Methodology and quantitative analysis at household level*. Ankara: TEPAV.



- Canali, G. (2006). Common agricultural policy reform and its effects on sheep and goat market and rare breeds conservation. *Small Ruminant Research*, 62(3), 207-213.
- Canan, B., & Cotterill, R. W. (2006). Strategic pricing in a differentiated product oligopoly model: Fluid milk in Boston. *Agricultural Economics*, *35*, 27-33; 27.
- Capps, O., & Sherwell, P. (2007). Alternative approaches in detecting asymmetry in farm-retail price transmission of fluid milk. *Agribusiness*, 23(3), 313-331; 313.
- Carchedi, G. (2001). For another Europe: A class analysis of European economic integration Verso Books.
- Carman, H. F., & Sexton, R. J. (2005). Supermarket fluid milk pricing practices in the western united states. *Agribusiness*, 21(4), 509-530; 509.
- Çelen, A., Erdoğan, T., & Taymaz, E. (2005). *Fast moving consumer goods competitive conditions and policies*. Ankara: Economic Research Center.
- Chaudhuri, S., Jalan, J., & Suryahadi, A. (2002). Assessing household vulnerability to poverty from cross-sectional data: A methodology and estimates from Indonesia
- Chayanov, A. V. (1966). *The theory of peasant economy* (edited by Daniel Thorner, Basile Kerblay and R.E.F. Smith)
- Chenery, H., Ahluwalia, M. S., Bell, C. L. G., Duloy, J. H., & Jolly, R. (Eds.). (1974). *Redistribution with growth: Policies to improve income distribution in developing countries in the context of economic growth* Oxford.
- Chidmi, B., Lopez, R. A., & Cotterill, R. W. (2005). Retail oligopoly power, dairy compact, and Boston milk prices. *Agribusiness*, 21(4), 477-491; 477.
- Cole, D. H. (2002). Pollution and property: Comparing ownership institutions for environmental protection Cambridge Univ Pr.
- Collier, P. (1999). On the economic consequences of civil war. Oxford Economic Papers, 51(1), 168.
- Commission\_Staff. (2004). 2004 regular report on Turkey's progress towards accession No. 187). Brussels: Commission of the European Communities.
- Commission\_Staff. (2004). *Issues arising from Turkey's membership perspective* No. 53). Brussels: Commission of the European Communities.
- Cook, R., & Calvin, L. (2005). *Greenhouse tomatoes change the dynamics of the north American fresh tomato industry* No. 2)United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service.



Costanza, R. (1997). The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital.

- Cotterill, R. W. (1999). Market power and the Demsetz quality critique: An evaluation for food retailing. *Agribusiness*, 15(1), 101-118; 101.
- Cotterill, R. W. (2001). Neoclassical explanations of vertical organization and performance of food industries. *Agribusiness*, 17(1), 33-57; 33.
- Cotterill, R. W. (2005). The impact of the northeast dairy compact on New England consumers: A report from the milk policy wars. *Agribusiness*, 21(4), 455-471; 455.
- Cotterill, R. W. (2005). Introduction to the forum on the northeast dairy compact and articles on price transmission and market power in local U.S. milk markets. *Agribusiness, 21*(4), 451-454; 451.
- Cotterill, R. W. (2006). Antitrust analysis of supermarkets: Global concerns playing out in local markets. *The Australian Journal of Agricultural and Resource Economics*, 50, 17-32; 17.
- Cox, T. L., & Wohlgenant, M. K. (1986). Prices and quality effects in cross-sectional demand analysis. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 68(4), 908.
- Dalton, H. (1920). The measurement of the inequality of incomes. *The Economic Journal*, 30(119), 348-361.
- Darwin, C. (2003). The origin of species Signet Classic.
- Davis, M. (2006). Planet of slums Verso Books.
- De Janvry, A., Fafchamps, M., & Sadoulet, E. (1991). Peasant household behavior with missing markets: Some paradoxes explained. *The Economic Journal*, *101*(409), 1400-1417.
- De Janvry, A., Sadoulet, E., Fafchamps, M., & Raki, M. (1992). Structural adjustment and the peasantry in morocco: A computable household model. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 19(4), 427.
- De Soto, H., & Llosa, M. V. (1989). *The other path: The invisible revolution in the third world* Harper & Row New York.
- Deaton, A., & Muellbauer, J. (1980). An almost ideal demand system. *The American Economic Review*, 70(3), 312-326.
- Deaton, A., & Zaidi, S. (2002). *Guidelines for constructing consumption aggregates for welfare analysis* World Bank Publications.



- DeCanio, S. J. (2003). *Economic models of climate change: A critique* Palgrave Macmillan New York.
- Deere, C. D., & León, M. (2003). The gender asset gap: Land in Latin America. *World Development*, 31(6), 925-947.
- Deininger, K. W. (2003). *Land policies for growth and poverty reduction* A World Bank Publication.
- Delgado, C. L. (2003). Rising consumption of meat and milk in developing countries has created a new food revolution. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 3907-3910; 3907.
- Dercon, S. (1998). Wealth, risk and activity choice: Cattle in western Tanzania. *Journal* of Development Economics, 55(1), 1-42.
- Dercon, S. (2001). Assessing vulnerability. Publication of the Jesus College and CSAE, Department of Economics, Oxford University. Retrieved from <u>http://info.worldbank.org.silk.library.umass.edu:2048/etools/docs/library/70436/4th</u> <u>%20Workshop/Srmafrica/helsinki/pdf/readingmaterial/Assessing%20Vulnerability.p</u> <u>df</u>
- Dercon, S. (2005). Insurance against poverty Oxford University Press, USA.
- DiNardo, J., Fortin, N. M., & Lemieux, T. (1996). Labor market institutions and the distribution of wages, 1973-1992: A semiparametric approach. *Econometrica*, 64(5), 1001-1044; 1001.
- Dogan, S. (2004). Turkey: Toward EU accession. *The World Economy*, 27(7), 1013-1045; 1013.
- Dogruel, F., Dogruel, A. S., & Yeldan, E. A. (2003). Macroeconomics of Turkey's agricultural reforms: An intertemporal computable general equilibrium analysis. *Journal of Policy Modeling*, *25*, 617-637; 617.
- Dorman, P. (2005). Evolving knowledge and the precautionary principle. *Ecological Economics*, *53*(2), 169-176.
- Doyon, M., Paillat, N., & Gouin, D. (2001). *Critical analysis of the concept of the producer subsidy equivalent in the dairy sector (dairy PSE)*. Ste-Foy, Quebec: GREPA.
- Drichoutis, A. C., Klonaris, S., Lazaridis, P., & Nayga Jr, R. M. (2008). Household food consumption in Turkey: A comment. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, *35*(1), 93.



- Dutilh, C. E., & Kramer, K. J. (2000). Energy consumption in the food chain. *AMBIO: A Journal of the Human Environment, 29*(2), 98-101.
- Elder, J., & Kennedy, P. E. (2001). Testing for unit roots: What should students be taught? *The Journal of Economic Education*, 32(2), 137-146.
- Enders, W. (2004). Applied econometric time series ASA.
- Enders, W., & Siklos, P. L. (2001). Cointegration and threshold adjustment. *Journal of Business and Economic Statistics*, 19(2), 166-176.
- Engle, R. F., & Granger, C. W. J. (1987). Co-integration and error correction: Representation, estimation, and testing. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, 55(2), 251-276.
- Erosion, T. a. C. G. (2005, Oligopoly, inc. 2005. Communique, 91, 16.
- Eruygur, H. O., & Çakmak, E. H. (2008). EU integration of Turkey: Implications for Turkish agriculture. Paper presented at the *Presentation at the 12th EAAE Congress Peo Ple, Food and Environments: Global Trends and European Strategies' Gent* (*Belgium*), 26-29. Retrieved from <u>http://195.0.30.90/EAAE/delegates/339.pdf</u>
- Erzan, R., Kuzubas, U., & Yildiz, N. (2004). *Growth and immigration scenarios for Turkey and the EU* No. 16). Brussels: Centre for European Policy Studies.
- Fafchamps, M., Udry, C., & Czukas, K. (1998). Drought and saving in west africa: Are livestock a buffer stock? *Journal of Development Economics*, *55*(2), 273-305.
- FAO. (2007). Overview of Turkish dairy sector within the framework of EU-accession Retrieved from <u>http://www.tarim.gov.tr/Files/Files/e\_kutuphane/1fao-</u> <u>dairy\_Eng\_Final\_Report.pdf</u>
- FAO. (2007). *The state of the world's animal genetic resources for food and agriculture*. Rome: FAO.
- FAO. (2001). Nutrition country profile of Turkey. Rome: Food and Nutrition Division.
- Filmer, D., & Pritchett, L. H. (2001). Estimating wealth effects without expenditure dataor tears: An application to educational enrollments in states of India. *Demography*, 38(1), 115-132.
- Fleischer, A., Lichtman, I., & Mendelsohn, R. (2008). Climate change, irrigation, and israeli agriculture: Will warming be harmful? *Ecological Economics*, 65(3), 508-515.



- Foster, J., Greer, J., & Thorbecke, E. (1984). A class of decomposable poverty measures. *Econometrica: Journal of the Econometric Society*, *52*(3), 761-766.
- Frank, A. G. (1969). Latin America: Underdevelopment or revolution: Essays on the development of underdevelopment and the immediate enemy Monthly Review Press.
- Galal, S. (2005). Biodiversity in goats. Small Ruminant Research, 60, 75-81; 75.
- Gisselquist, D., & Pray, C. Deregulating technology transfer in agricuture: Reform's impact on Turkey in the 1980s. Unpublished manuscript.
- Goodstein, E. S. (2005). Economics and the environment Wiley New York.
- Grain, A. t. (2006). The top-down global response to bird flu. Grain, April, 1; 7.
- Granger, C. W. J., & Lee, T. H. (1989). Investigation of production, sales and inventory relationships using multicointegration and non-symmetric error correction models. *Journal of Applied Econometrics*, *4*, 145-159.
- Granger, C. W. J., & Newbold, P. (1974). Spurious regressions in econometrics. *Journal* of Econometrics, 2(2), 111-120.
- Green, R., & Alston, J. M. (1990). Elasticities in AIDS models. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 72(2), 442.
- Green, R., & Alston, J. M. (1991). Elasticities in AIDS models: A clarification and extension. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 73, 874.
- Grethe, H. (2005). The Turkish dairy market: Opportunities and outlook. *Deutsche Milchwirtschaft*, 56(19)
- Grethe, H. (2004). *Turkey's accession to the EU: What will the common agricultural policy cost?* Unpublished manuscript.
- Grethe, H. (2005). The CAP for Turkey? potential market effects and budgetary implications. *Choices*, 4(2), 20-25; 20.
- Grethe, H. (2006). Environmental and agricultural policy: What roles for the EU and the member states? *Subsidiarity and Economic Reform in Europe*, Brussels. 1-31.
- Grethe, H. (2007). The challenge of integrating EU and Turkish agricultural markets and policies. *Int. J. of Agricultural Resources, Governance and Ecology, 6*(4/5), 440-459; 440.



- Grethe, H. (2003). Effects of including agricultural products in the customs union between Turkey and the EU A partial equilibrium analysis for Turkey. der Georg-August-Universität Göttingen). *PhD*, 1-335.
- Grethe, H. (2005, Opportunities and outlook: The Turkish milk market. *European Dairy Magazine*, *5*, 16-17.
- Griffin, K., Khan, A. R., & Ickowitz, A. (2002). Poverty and the distribution of land. *Journal of Agrarian Change*, *2*(3), 279-330.
- Griffin, K., Khan, A. R., & Ickowitz, A. (2004). In defense of neo-classical neopopulism. *Journal of Agrarian Change*, 4(3), 361-386.
- Griffiths, W. E., Hill, R. C., & Judge, G. G. (1993). *Learning and practicing econometrics* John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Grossman, G. M., & Krueger, A. B. (1995). Economic growth and the environment. *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 110(2), 353-377.
- Guha, R. (2000). Environmentalism: A global history Oxford.
- Gunay, A., Metin-Ozcan, K., & Yeldan, E. (2005). Real wages, profit margins and inflation in Turkish manufacturing under post-liberalization. *Applied Economics*, *37*, 1899-1905; 1899.
- Gürsoy, O. (2006). Economics and profitability of sheep and goat production in Turkey under new support regimes and market conditions. *Small Ruminant Research, 62*(3), 181-191.
- Gursoy, O. (2005). Small ruminant breeds of Turkey. In L. Iniguez (Ed.), *Characterization of small ruminant breeds in west Asia and North Africa* (pp. 239-416). Aleppo, Syria: International Center for Agricultural Research in Dry Areas (ICARDA).
- Haenlein, G. F. W. (2007). About the evolution of goat and sheep milk production. *Small Ruminant Research, 68*(1-2), 3-6.
- Hahnel, R. (1999). *Panic rules!: Everything you need to know about the global economy* South End Pr.
- Harremoes, P., Gee, D., MacGarvin, M., Stirling, A., Keys, J., Wynne, B., et al (Eds.). (2002). The precautionary principle in the twentieth century: Late lessons from early warnings
- Hartmann, B., & Boyce, J. K. (1983). A quiet violence: View from a Bangladesh village Zed Books.



- Hatırlı, S. A., & Özkan, B. (2004). Türkiye süt ve süt ürünleri sektöründe oligopson gücünün araştırılması. *Turkiye Tarim Ekonomistleri Konferansi*, Tokat.
- Hatirli, S. A., Ozkan, B., & Aktas, A. R. (2004). Factors affecting fluid milk purchasing sources in Turkey. *Food Policy*, *15*, 509-515; 509.
- Haughton, J., & Khandker, S. (2009). Handbook on poverty and inequality World Bank.
- Hayami, Y., & Ruttan, V. W. (1985). Agricultural development: An international perspective. *Johns Hopkins University,*
- Heien, D., & Wessells, C. R. (1990). Demand systems estimation with microdata: A censored regression approach. *Journal of Business & Economic Statistics*, 8(3), 365-371.
- Heilbroner, R. L. (1986). *The worldly philosophers: The lives, times, and ideas of the great economic thinkers* Touchstone.
- Heiman, A., Just, D. R., McWilliams, B., & Zilberman, D. (2001). Incorporating family interactions and socioeconomic variables into family production functions: The case of demand for meats. *Agribusiness*, *17*(4), 455-468; 455.
- Heinzerling, L., & Ackerman, F. (2002). Pricing the priceless: Cost-benefit analysis of environmental protection. Georgetown Environmental Law and Policy Institute, Georgetown University Law Center, Washington, DC.
- Hendrickson, M., & Heffernan, W. (2005). *Concentration of agricultural markets*. Colombia, MO: Uni. of Missouri, Department of Rural Sociology.
- Herman, D. (1991). Steady state economics Washington, DC, Island Press.
- Hoddinott, J., & Haddad, L. (1995). Does female income share influence household expenditures? evidence from Côte d'Ivoire. *Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics*, *57*(1), 77-96.
- Houck, J. P. (1977). An approach to specifying and estimating nonreversible functions. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 59(3), 570-572; 570.
- Howe, L. D., Hargreaves, J. R., & Huttly, S. R. (2008). Issues in the construction of wealth indices for the measurement of socio-economic position in low-income countries. *Emerging Themes in Epidemiology*, *5*, 3.
- Hubbard, C., & Thomson, K. J. (2007). Romania's accession to the EU: Short-term welfare effects on food consumers. *Food Policy*, *32*, 128-140; 128.



- Human Development Sector Unit Europe and Central Asia Region. (2003). *Turkey: Poverty and coping after crises* No. 24185-TR)
- İcoz, Y., Demir, A., Çeliker, S. A., Kalanlar, Ş., Odabasi, S., & Gul, U. (2005). *Livestock situation and outlook: 2004/2005* No. 80. Ankara: TEAE.
- IFPIRI. (2005). The future of research farms: Proceedings of a research workshop. Wye, UK. 1-386.
- Kamanou, G., & Morduch, J. (2004). Measuring vulnerability to poverty. In S. Dercon (Ed.), (pp. 155–75) UNU-WIDER Studies in Development Economics.
- Kaygusuz, K. (2003). Energy policy and climate change in Turkey. *Energy Conversion* and Management, 44(10), 1671-1688.
- Keyder, Ç. (1989). Social structure and the labor market in Turkish agriculture. *International Labour Review, 128*(6), 731-744; 731.
- Kim, S., Moon, S., & Popkin, B. M. (2000). The nutrition transition in south Korea. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 71, 44-53; 44.
- Kimbrell, A. (Ed.). (2002). *The fatal harvest reader: The tragedy of industrial agriculture* Island Pr.
- Kinnucan, H. W., & Forker, O. D. (1987). Asymmetry in farm-retail price transmission for major dairy products. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 69, 285-292; 285.
- Koç, A. (2000). Turkish rangelands and shrub culture. Rangelands, 22(4), 25-26.
- Koç, A., Bayaner, A., Tan, S., Ertürk, Y. E., & Fuller, F. (2001). Analysis of the impact of support policies and programs on animal resources development in Turkey No. 67). Ankara: TEAE.
- Kriebel, D., Tickner, J., Epstein, P., Lemons, J., Levins, R., Loechler, E. L., et al. (2001). The precautionary principle in environmental science. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 109(9), 871.
- Krueger, A. O. (1974). The political economy of the rent-seeking society. *The American Economic Review*, 291-303.
- Kühl, J. J. (2003). Household poverty and vulnerability: A bootstrap approach. New Haven: Northeast Universities Development Consortium Conference, Yale University



- Kumar, S. K., & Hotchkiss, D. (1988). Consequences of deforestation for women's time allocation, agricultural production, and nutrition in hill areas of nepal Intl Food Policy Research Inst.
- Kuznets, S. (1955). Economic growth and income inequality. *The American Economic Review*, 45(1), 1-28.
- Kwiatkowski, D., Phillips, P. C. B., Schmidt, P., & Shin, Y. (1992). Testing the null hypothesis of stationarity against the alternative of a unit root: How sure are we that economic time series have a unit root? *Journal of Econometrics*, *54*(1-3), 159-178.
- Lass, D. A. (2005). Asymmetric response of retail milk prices in the northeast revisited. *Agribusiness, 21*(4), 493-508; 493.
- Lee, M., Popkin, B. M., & Kim, S. (2002). The unique aspects of the nutrition transition in south Korea: The retention of healthful elements in their traditional diet. *Public Health Nutrition*, *5*(1A), 197-203; 197.
- Lewis, A. W. (1954). Economic development with unlimited supplies of labour.
- Li, C. (2008). Price transmission and market power in the vertically separated markets of fluid milk. University of Massachusetts Amherst). *PhD*, 1-112.
- Lipton, M. (1989). *Why poor people stay poor: Urban bias in world development* Avebury.
- Lopez, R. E. (1984). Estimating labor supply and production decisions of self-employed farm producers. *European Economic Review*, 24(1), 61-82.
- MARA. (2004). *Milk and milk products sector: Non-exhaustive list of issues and questions to facilitate preparations for bilateral meetings*. Ankara: Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Affairs.
- Marx, K. (1967). *Capital volume 1: A critical analysis of capitalist production* International Publishers.
- Marx, K., & Engels, F. (1967). *Capital volume 3: The process of capitalist production as a whole* International Publishers.
- Marx, K., Engels, F., & Tucker, R. C. (1972). The Marx-Engels reader Norton.
- McCorriston, S. (2002). Why should imperfect competition matter to agricultural economists? *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 29(3), 349-371; 349.



- McCorriston, S., Morgan, C. W., & Rayner, A. J. (2001). Price transmission: The interaction between market power and returns to scale. *European Review of Agricultural Economics*, 28(2), 143-159; 143.
- Metin-Ozcan, K., Voyvoda, E., & Yeldan, E. (2002). The impact of the liberalization program on the Price–Cost margin and investment of Turkey's manufacturing sector after 1980. *Emerging Markets Finance and Trade, 38*(5), 72-103; 72.
- Meyer, J., & Cramon-Taubadel, S. v. (2004). Asymmetric price transmission: A survey. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 55(3), 581-611; 581.
- Michaelowa, A., & Dransfeld, B. (2008). Greenhouse gas benefits of fighting obesity. *Ecological Economics*, 66(2-3), 298-308.
- Pascual, U., & Perrings, C. (2007). Developing incentives and economic mechanisms for in situ biodiversity conservation in agricultural landscapes. *Agriculture, Ecosystems* & Environment, 121(3), 256-268.
- Patel, R. (2007). *Stuffed and starved: Markets, powers and the hidden battle for the world food system* Black Inc.
- Pekcan, G., & Karaağaoğlu, N. (2000). State of nutrition in Turkey. *Nutrition and Health,* 14, 41-52.
- Peltzman, S. (2000). Prices rise faster than they fall. *Journal of Political Economy*, *108*(3), 466-502; 466.
- Perkins, J. (2005). Confessions of an economic hit man Berrett-Koehler.
- Pingali, P. (2007). Westernization of Asian diets and the transformation of food systems: Implications for research and policy. *Food Policy*, *32*(3), 281-298.
- Pinstrup-Andersen, P., & Caicedo, E. (1978). The potential impact of changes in income distribution on food demand and human nutrition. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 60(3), 402.
- Pinstrup-Andersen, P., de Londono, N. R., & Hoover, E. (1976). The impact of increasing food supply on human nutrition: Implications for commodity priorities in agricultural research and policy. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 58(2), 133.
- Pinstrup-Andersen, P. (Ed.). (1993). *The political economy of food and nutrition policies* (1st ed.). Baltimore and London: John Hopkins University Press.
- Polanyi, K. (2001). *The great transformation: The political and economic origins of our time* Beacon Pr.



- Pollak, R. A., & Wales, T. J. (1981). Demographic variables in demand analysis. *Econometrica*, 1533-1551.
- Popkin, B. M. (2003). The nutrition transition in the developing world. *Development Policy Review*, 21(5-6), 581-597; 581.
- Prebisch, R. (1950). *The economic development of Latin America and its principal problems* United Nations Dept. of Economic Affairs.
- Princen, T. (1997). The shading and distancing of commerce: When internalization is not enough. *Ecological Economics*, 20(3), 235-253.
- Pritchett, L., Suryahadi, A., & Sumarto, S. (2000). *Quantifying vulnerability to poverty-a proposed measure, applied to Indonesia.* The World Bank.
- QHS (2002). *Quantitative Household Survey*. Ankara: Ministry of Agriculture, ARIP office.
- Rakowski, C. A. (1994). *Contrapunto: The informal sector debate in Latin America* State Univ of New York Pr.
- Rao, J. M. (1986). Agriculture in recent development theory. *Journal of Development Economics*, 22(1), 41-86.
- Rao, J. M. (1989). Getting agricultural prices right. Food Policy, 14(1), 28-42.
- Rao, J. M. (1993). Distribution and growth with an infrastructure constraint. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 17(4), 369.
- Rao, J. M. (1996). Beyond urban bias? *Economic and Political Weekly*, 31(27), 1743-1745.
- Rao, J. M. (2005). The forms of monopoly land rent and agrarian organization. *Journal of Agrarian Change*, 5(2), 161-190.
- Rao, J. M., & Dutt, A. K. (1996). Growth, distribution, and the environment: Sustainable development in India. *World Development*, 24(2), 287-305.

Ravallion, M. (1994). Poverty comparisons Routledge.

Ravallion, M. (1998). Poverty lines in theory and practice World Bank Publications.

Ravallion, M. (2001). Growth, inequality and poverty: Looking beyond averages. *World Development, 29*(11), 1803-1815.

Ray, D. (1998). Development economics Citeseer.



www.manaraa.com

- Rege, J. E. O., & Gibson, J. P. (2003). Animal genetic resources and economic development: Issues in relation to economic valuation. *Ecological Economics*, 45(3), 319-330.
- Rice, A. (2008, A dying breed. New York Times Magazine,
- Rogers, H. (2005). Gone tomorrow: The hidden life of garbage The New Press.
- Rosenzweig, M. R., & Wolpin, K. I. (1993). Credit market constraints, consumption smoothing, and the accumulation of durable production assets in low-income countries: Investments in bullocks in India. *Journal of Political Economy*, 101(2), 223-244.
- Roundtable, C. (2000). Buying power of multiproduct retailers. *OECD Journal of Competition Law and Policy*, 2(1), 1-114; 1.
- Rutstein, S. O., & Johnson, K. (2004). DHS comparative reports no. 6: The DHS wealth index
- Sadoulet, E., & De Janvry, A. (1995). *Quantitative development policy analysis* Johns Hopkins Univ. Press.
- Sagoff, M. (1988). *The economy of the earth: Philosophy, law, and the environment* Cambridge Univ Pr.
- Saikkonen, P., & Lütkepohl, H. (2000). Trend adjustment prior to testing for the cointegration rank of a VAR process. *Journal of Time Series Analysis*, 21(4), 435– 456.
- Saikkonen, P., & Lütkepohl, H. (2002). Testing for a unit root in a time series with a level shift at unknown time. *Econometric Theory*, 18(02), 313-348.
- Schultz, T. W. (1964). Transforming traditional agriculture Yale Univ. Press.
- Schumpeter, J. A. (1975). *Capitalism, socialism and democracy*. New York: Harper Perennial.
- Schwieterman, J. P. (2007). The return of the intercity bus: The decline and recovery of scheduled service to American cities, 1960-2007. *DePaul University, School of Public Service Policy Study, December,*
- Scintu, M. F., & Piredda, G. (2007). Typicity and biodiversity of goat and sheep milk products. *Small Ruminant Research*, *68*, 221-231; 221.
- SIS (1994). *Household Budget Survey 1994*. Ankara: State Institute of Statistics, Prime Ministry Republic of Turkey.



- SIS (2001). *General Agricultural Census 2001*. Ankara: State Institute of Statistics, Prime Ministry Republic of Turkey:
- SIS (2003). *Household Budget Survey 2003*. Ankara: State Institute of Statistics, Prime Ministry Republic of Turkey.
- SIS (2010). Ankara: State Institute of Statistics, Prime Ministry Republic of Turkey. http://www.tuik.gov.tr/Start.do
- Sen, A. (1981). Market failure and control of labor power: Towards an explanation of 'structure' and change in Indian agriculture. part 1. *Cambridge Journal of Economics*, 5(3), 201.
- Sen, A. (1983). Development: Which way now? *The Economic Journal*, 93(372), 745-762.
- Sen, A. (1990). More than 100 million women are missing. *New York Review of Books*, 37(20), 61-66.
- Sen, A. (1994). Population: Delusion and reality. *The New York Review of Books, 41*(15), 62-71.
- Sen, A. (2000). The discipline of cost-benefit analysis. *The Journal of Legal Studies*, 29(S2), 931-952.
- Sen, A. K. (1966). Peasants and dualism with or without surplus labor. *The Journal of Political Economy*, 74(5), 425-450.
- Sen, A. K. (1977). Rational fools: A critique of the behavioral foundations of economic theory. *Philosophy and Public Affairs, 6*(4), 317-344; 317.
- Sen, A. K. (1982). *Poverty and famines: An essay on entitlement and deprivation*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Sen, A. K. (1999). Development as freedom. New York: Knopf.
- Sengul, S., & Tuncer, I. (2005). Poverty levels and food demand of the poor in Turkey. *Agribusiness, 21*(3), 289-311; 289.
- Sexton, R. J., & Zhang, M. (2001). An assessment of the impact of food industry market power on U.S. consumers. *Agribusiness*, 17(1), 59-79; 59.
- Shonkwiler, J. S., & Yen, S. T. (1999). Two-step estimation of a censored system of equations. American Journal of Agricultural Economics, 81(4), 972.



- Signorello, G., & Pappalardo, G. (2003). Domestic animal biodiversity conservation: A case study of rural development plans in the European Union. *Ecological Economics*, *45*(3), 487-499.
- Singh, S., Coelli, T., & Fleming, E. (2001). Performance of dairy plants in the cooperative and private sectors in India. *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, 72(4), 453-479; 453.
- Smith, A. (1937). In Cannan E. (Ed.), *An inquiry into the nature and causes of the wealth of nations*. New York: The Modern Library:
- Solomons, N. W., & Nieves, C. (2003). Book review: The nutrition transition: Diet and disease in the developing world. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 78, 499-500; 500.
- Speedy, A. W. (2003). Global production and consumption of animal source foods. *Journal of Nutrition*, 133(11), 4048S.
- Starmer, E., & Wise, T. A. (2007). Living high on the hog: Factory farms, federal policy, and the structural transformation of swine production No. 30). Medford, MA: Global Development and Environment Institute, Tufts University.
- Starmer, E., Witteman, A., & Wise, T. A. (2006). Feeding the factory farm: Implicit subsidies to the broiler chicken industry No. 54). Medford MA: Global Development and Environment Institute, Tufts University.
- Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T., Castel, V., Rosales, M., & De Haan, C. (2006). Livestock's long shadow FAO Rome. Retrieved from <u>http://methanetomarkets.org/expo\_china07/docs/postexpo/ag\_gerber.pdf</u>
- Strauss, J. (1984). Joint determination of food consumption and production in rural Sierra Leone: Estimates of a household-firm model. *Journal of Development Economics*, 14(1), 77-103.
- Strauss, J. (1986). Does better nutrition raise farm productivity? *The Journal of Political Economy*, *94*(2), 297-320.
- Subramanian, S., & Deaton, A. (1996). The demand for food and calories. *Journal of Political Economy*, *104*(1), 133-162.
- Sumaila, U. R., & Walters, C. (2005). Intergenerational discounting: A new intuitive approach. *Ecological Economics*, *52*(2), 135-142.
- Sumner, D. A. (2005). Effects of government programs to raise milk prices: Academic economists and public policy. *Agribusiness*, 21(4), 473-476; 473.



- Swanson, T. (1999). Conserving global biological diversity by encouraging alternative development paths: Can development coexist with diversity? *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 8(1), 29-44.
- Sweezy, P. M. (1942). *The theory of capitalist development: Principles of marxian political economy* Modern Reader Paperbacks.
- Taleb, N. (2007). *The black swan: The impact of the highly improbable* Random House Inc.
- Tangermann, S. (2005). *Is the concept of the producer support estimate in need of revision?* No. 22. OECD Publishing.
- Tauchmann, H. (2005). Efficiency of two-step estimators for censored systems of equations: Shonkwiler and yen reconsidered. *Applied Economics*, *37*(4), 367-374.
- Taylor, J. E., & Adelman, I. (2003). Agricultural household models: Genesis, evolution, and extensions. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 1(1), 33-58.
- Tisdell, C. (2003). Socioeconomic causes of loss of animal genetic diversity: Analysis and assessment. *Ecological Economics*, 45(3), 365-376.
- Todaro, M. P. (1996). Economic development (6th ed.) Longman New York.
- Torras, M. (1999). Inequality, resource depletion, and welfare accounting: Applications to Indonesia and Costa Rica. *World Development*, 27(7), 1191-1202.
- TZOB. (2005). Ülkemiz süt hayvancılığında mevcut durum, sorunlar ve öneriler/ the current situation, problems, and proposals in dairy animal husbandry in Turkey No. 41). Ankara: Turkiye Ziraat Odalari Birligi.
- Umetsu, C., Donma, S., Nagano, T., & Coşkun, Z. (2004). *The efficient management of water user associations: A case of lower Seyhan irrigation project in Turkey.* Unpublished manuscript.
- Ünal, F. G. (2008). *Small is beautiful: Evidence of an inverse relationship between farm size and yield in Turkey* Retrieved from <u>http://www.levyinstitute.org/pubs/wp\_551.pdf</u>
- Unal, F. G. (2008). The impact of land ownership inequality on rural factor markets in Turkey. University of Massachusetts. *PhD*.
- USDA *Nutritional goals for proposed daily food intake patterns*. Center for Nutrition Policy and. In Intakes U. (Ed.),


- Uzmay, A. (2005). *AB'de hayvansal ürünlerde uygulanan politikalar ve Türkiye'nin uyumu açısından değerlendirilmesi /Evaluation of EU policies on animal products from the perspective of Turkey's accession*. TEAE.
- Uzmay, A. (2007). Türkiye'de süt sığırcılığında ekonomi politikası / political economy of dairy animal husbandry in Turkey. *E.Ü. Ziraat Fakültesi Dergisi, 16*
- Van Vuuren, D. P., & Bouwman, L. F. (2005). Exploring past and future changes in the ecological footprint for world regions. *Ecological Economics*, 52(1), 43-62.
- von Cramon-Taubadel, S. (1998). Estimating asymmetric price transmission with the error correction representation: An application to the German pork market. *European Review of Agricultural Economics, 25*(1), 1.
- Voorbergen, M. (2004). *The Turkish dairy sector: Gearing up for EU entry?* Rabobank International F&A Research & Advisory.
- Ward, R. W. (1982). Asymmetry in retail, wholesale and shipping point pricing for fresh vegetables. *American Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 62, 205-212; 205.
- WB & SIS. (2005). Turkey joint poverty assessment report No. 29619-TU). Ankara:
- Welsh, R. (1997). Vertical coordination, producer response, and the locus of control over agricultural production decisions. *Rural Sociology*, *62*(4), 491-507; 491.
- Wise, T. A. (2004). *The paradox of agricultural subsidies: Measurement issues, agricultural dumping, and policy reform* No. 34). Medford MA: Global Development and Environment Institute.
- Wise, T. A. (2005). *Identifying the real winners from U.S. agricultural policies*. Medford, MA: GDAE. Global Development and Environment Institute.
- Wise, T. A. (2005). Understanding the farm problem: Six common errors in presenting farm statistics No. 19. Medford MA: Global Development and Environment Institute.
- Wolff, R. D., & Resnick, S. A. (1987). *Economics: Marxian versus neoclassical*. Johns Hopkins University Press Baltimore, MD.
- Wooldridge, J. M. (2002). *Econometric analysis of cross section and panel data*. The MIT press.
- Yasar, M., Rejesus, R. M., & Mintemur, I. (2006). Plant-level dynamics and aggregate productivity growth in the Turkish meat-processing industry: Evidence from longitudinal data. *Agribusiness*, 22(1), 91-107; 91.



- Yen, S. T., Kan, K., & Su, S. J. (2002). Household demand for fats and oils: Two-step estimation of a censored demand system. *Applied Economics*, 34(14), 1799-1806.
- York, R., & Gossard, M. H. (2004). Cross-national meat and fish consumption: Exploring the effects of modernization and ecological context. *Ecological Economics*, 48(3), 293-302.

المنسارات